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Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 

In our opinion:  

› Kier Group plc’s Group financial statements and Company 
financial statements (the “financial statements”) give a true and 
fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Company’s affairs 
as at 30 June 2021 and of the Group’s loss and the Group’s 
cash flows for the year then ended; 

› the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in 
accordance with international accounting standards in conformity 
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; 

› the Company financial statements have been properly prepared in 
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 
101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law); and 

› the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

We have audited the financial statements, included within 
the Annual Report and Accounts 2021 (the “Annual Report”), 
which comprise: the Consolidated and Company balance sheets 
as at 30 June 2021; the Consolidated income statement, the 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the Consolidated 
and Company statement of changes in equity and the Consolidated 
cash flow statement for the year then ended; and the notes to the 
financial statements, which include a description of the significant 
accounting policies. 

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Risk Management 
and Audit Committee (“RMaC”). 

Separate opinion in relation to international financial reporting 
standards adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 as 
it applies in the European Union 

As explained in note 4 to the financial statements, the Group, in 
addition to applying international accounting standards in conformity 
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, has also applied 
international financial reporting standards adopted pursuant to 
Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union. 

In our opinion, the Group financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with international financial reporting 
standards adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002  
as it applies in the European Union. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the 
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 

We remained independent of the Group in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as 
applicable to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit 
services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided. 

Other than those disclosed in note 4 to the financial statements, we 
have provided no non-audit services to the Company or its controlled 
undertakings in the period under audit. 

Our audit approach 
Overview 

 

Audit scope 

› The Group is primarily UK based and we have conducted audit work across all three of the 
Group’s divisions and achieved coverage over 98% (2020: 91%) of Group revenues. 

 

Key audit matters 

› Contract accounting (Group) 
› Presentation of the Group’s financial performance (Group) 
› Impairment of goodwill (Group) 
› Carrying value of property development inventory (Group) 
› Covid-19 (Group) 
› Carrying value of investments in Kier Limited (Company) 

 

Materiality 

› Overall Group materiality: £7.7m (2020: £9.1m) based on a three year average of 5% of statutory 
results before tax from continuing operations. 

› Overall Company materiality: £6.9m (2020: £8.1m) based on 1% of total assets limited by the 
allocation of component materiality. 

› Performance materiality: £5.8m (Group) and £5.2m (Company). 

 

MATERIALITY

AUDIT SCOPE

KEY AUDIT
MATTERS
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The scope of our audit 

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) 
identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; 
and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, 
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit. 

In our 2020 audit opinion, we included a key audit matter in respect of going concern. This was not considered to be a key audit matter in 
our 2021 audit. The procedures performed, and conclusions reached, in respect of going concern are described in the “Conclusions relating 
to going concern” section of our report. Otherwise, the key audit matters below are consistent with last year. 

Key audit matter  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Contract accounting (Group) 
Refer to page 91 (Risk Management and 
Audit Committee report) and page 143 
(Accounting policy). 

The Group has significant long-term contracts 
in its Infrastructure Services and Construction 
businesses. The recognition of revenue in 
respect of construction contracts in accordance 
with IFRS 15 is based on the stage of 
completion of contract activity.  

Profit on contracts is a significant risk for our 
audit because of the uncertainty inherent in 
preparing suitable estimates of the forecast 
costs and revenue on contracts. An error in 
the contract forecast could result in a material 
variance in the amount of profit or loss 
recognised to date and therefore also in 
the current financial year. 

The Group operates in an industry in which 
contracts allow a route to recovery that may 
be disputed or become subject to contract 
resolution procedures. The settlement process 
can be time consuming and can result in an 
outcome that varies from the amount claimed. 
These contract issues may exist in the supply 
chain, or with customers. 

These estimates include the expected recovery 
of costs arising from the following: variations 
to the contract requested by the customer, 
compensation events, and claims made both 
by and against the Group for delays or other 
additional costs arising or projected to arise.  

The Group’s accounting policy is to recognise 
additional contractual amounts receivable 
from customers only when these amounts are 
considered highly probable of no significant 
reversal. Claims receivable from third parties 
(other than the Group’s customers) are 
recognised only when they are determined  
to be ‘virtually certain’ of recoverability. 

 We focused our work on those contracts with the greatest estimation uncertainty 
over the final contract values and therefore profit outcome. Our work included the 
following procedures: 

› We challenged management’s forecasts, in particular assessing the appropriateness 
of the key assumptions, which included the expected recovery of variations, claims 
and compensation events from clients, to determine the basis on which the 
associated revenue was considered to be ‘highly probable of no significant reversal’; 

› We also challenged those assumptions in respect of estimated recoveries from 
subcontractors, designers, and insurers included in the forecast, to determine 
whether these could be considered ‘virtually certain’ of recoverability, and 
obtained corroborating evidence to support positions taken; 

› We attended contract review meetings via conference calls, and inspected minutes 
of meetings that considered value cost reconciliations (‘VCRs’) in order to understand 
the controls operated by management; 

› We substantively tested a sample of costs incurred to date to check that these had 
been recorded accurately; 

› We confirmed that where incremental costs had been incurred in respect of  
Covid-19, that these costs had been appropriately considered in the end of life 
forecasts (‘ELFs’); 

› We performed a margin analysis on the end-of-life forecasts (ELFs) to assess the 
performance of the contract portfolios year on year; 

› We inspected correspondence and meeting minutes with customers concerning 
variations, claims and compensation events, and obtained third party assessments 
of these from legal or technical experts contracted by the Group, if applicable, to 
assess whether this information was consistent with the estimates made; 

› We discussed the status of certain third party claims with external solicitors and, 
where relevant, external experts, and assessed the objectivity and independence 
of these third parties; 

› We inspected correspondence with insurers relating to recognised insurance claims 
as well as assessments of these undertaken by the insurers and Group’s external 
solicitors, where applicable, to assess whether this information supported the 
position taken on the contract;  

› We also tested a sample of lower risk contracts including obtaining the latest 
certification from the customer and testing a sample of costs to come by agreeing 
the amounts to supporting evidence;  

› We considered significant write-offs of contract assets during the year and obtained 
evidence in respect of a sample of contracts which demonstrated that the write-offs 
were driven by events during the 2021 financial year; and 

› We considered the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements in relation 
to specific contracts and also the disclosures in respect of significant judgements 
and estimates. 

Overall based on these procedures, we are satisfied that the work in progress relating 
to the Group’s contracts is appropriately stated and that revenue and profits have been 
recorded appropriately. 

Kier Group plc Report and Accounts 2021 123



Financial Statements 
Independent auditors’ report to the members of Kier Group plc (continued) 

124 Kier Group plc Report and Accounts 2021  

Key audit matter  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Presentation of the Group’s financial 
performance (Group) 
Refer to page 91 (Risk Management and 
Audit Committee report) and page 144 
(Accounting policy). 

Consistent with the prior year, the Directors 
present the Group’s principal Alternative 
Performance Measure as ‘Adjusted Operating 
Profit’ so the Group’s APM is consistent with 
how management reviews the performance 
of the business. 

The Group’s adjusted profit from operations 
of £100.3 million is stated after charging: 

› £21.0 million of amortisation of 
acquired intangibles; 

› £31.6 million of restructuring and 
related charges; 

› £0.5 million of costs associated with the 
preparation for business divestment or 
closure; and 

› £3.5 million of other adjusting items. 

The determination of which items are treated 
as ‘adjusting’ is judgemental and needs to be 
consistent with how the Directors review the 
segmental performance of the business. Users 
of the financial statements could be misled if 
amounts are not classified and disclosed in 
a transparent manner and consistent with 
the way in which the Board is reviewing 
segmental performance. 

 We considered whether the presentation of adjusted operating profit is appropriate. 
In doing this we performed the following procedures: 

› We obtained the latest internal Board reporting to evaluate whether the nature and 
quantum of the adjustments presented, for the Group and in respect of the segments, 
was consistent with those highlighted and adjusted in the financial statements; 

› We reviewed the definition and classification of adjusting items in the Group’s 
Annual Report, including the sub-categorisation of these items. In particular: 

› We challenged whether it was appropriate to present certain costs within the 
Regional Southern Build business as restructuring and related charges, on 
the basis that they related to contract and tender positions. We accepted this 
judgement on the basis that the costs were a result of the ongoing strategic exit 
of the regional business, which had also been heavily impacted by Covid-19; and 

› In respect of the £11.9 million of professional adviser fees and other costs incurred 
implementing non-people initiatives, we challenged whether certain adviser fees 
should instead have been charged to equity, debt or the Living disposal. On the 
basis that these costs represented costs not directly attributable to any transaction 
we accepted that this treatment was appropriate. We were also satisfied that the 
costs were not charged to adjusted operating profit as they related to the Group’s 
significant strategic review activities. 

› We reviewed management’s disclosures and ensured that sufficient disclosure was 
provided to justify why individual items were treated as adjusting. 

Overall based on these procedures we were satisfied with the presentation of the 
Group’s profit before adjusting items, and that the reason for the use of this APM has 
been properly disclosed. 

We also ensured that there was appropriate balance in the Group’s Annual Report 
between references to the adjusted profit and the Group’s statutory loss for the year. 
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Key audit matter  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Impairment of goodwill (Group) 
Refer to page 91 (Risk Management and 
Audit Committee report) and page 144 
(Accounting policy). 

The Group has £536.7 million of goodwill on 
its balance sheet at 30 June 2021 of which 
£516.3 million related to the Infrastructure 
Services cash generating unit (‘CGU’) and 
£20.4m related to the Construction CGU. 

The audit of goodwill was a focus area given the 
value of the Group’s assets in comparison to its 
market capitalisation. 

We determined there to be a significant 
audit risk that the carrying value of goodwill 
allocated to Infrastructure Services may not be 
supportable when compared to its recoverable 
amount, given headroom of £117.7 million in 
the Directors’ impairment assessment. 

 In evaluating the Directors’ annual impairment assessment for goodwill in respect of 
Infrastructure Services, we performed the following procedures: 

› We assessed the allocation of goodwill and acquired intangibles to Cash Generating 
Units (CGUs) and considered the Directors’ conclusion that the significant majority of 
goodwill related to Infrastructure Services; 

› We evaluated whether the basis of allocation of corporate assets and central costs to 
the CGUs was reasonable; 

› We obtained the Board-approved three year cash flow forecasts which formed the 
basis of the model used in the Directors’ impairment calculation. We considered 
whether the planned growth rates and expected operating margins in the impairment 
model were consistent with the Board-approved cash flows; 

› We tested certain contracts in the Group’s pipeline to provide evidence of the 
associated revenue forecast in the cash flow model; 

› We challenged management’s forecasts and compared future cash flow performance 
to historic levels as part of our assessment as to whether the planned performance 
was considered achievable; 

› We challenged the assumption within the forecast that the business’s cash flows 
would be earned into perpetuity; 

› We tested the discount rate and long-term growth rate applied with the support of our 
internal valuation experts; and 

› We sensitised the short-term and long-term growth rates applied to revenue and 
operating profit and established the impact of reasonably possible changes in these 
assumptions; we then ensured that these sensitivities were appropriately disclosed 
in accordance with IAS 36, ‘Impairment of assets’. 

Based on the procedures performed, we were satisfied with the carrying value of 
Infrastructure Services goodwill, and with the associated disclosures included in the 
financial statements. 

Carrying value of property development 
inventory (Group) 
Refer to page 91 (Risk Management and 
Audit Committee report), page 144 
(Accounting policy). 

Inventory in the Property division is stated at 
the lower of cost and net realisable value 
(i.e. the forecast selling price less the  
remaining costs to build and sell). 

An assessment of the net realisable value of 
inventory is carried out at each balance sheet 
date and is dependent upon management’s 
estimate of forecast selling prices and 
build/development costs (by reference 
to current prices), which may require 
significant judgement. 

We considered there to be a significant risk in 
respect of £39.1 million of commercial property 
development on the Group’s balance sheet and 
a further £172.0 million of work in progress 
held in the Group’s joint ventures, given 
continued uncertain market conditions. 

 We obtained the Directors’ assessment of the recoverability of the property portfolio and 
performed the following procedures: 

› We discussed with management and evaluated the reasons for significant changes 
in cost and sales assumptions in the site appraisals compared to the previous year; 

› With the support of our internal real estate valuation experts we compared the 
valuations in the Directors’ assessment to the most recent external valuations of 
each site; and 

› We assessed the methodology and key assumptions in these valuations. 

Based on the evidence obtained we are satisfied with the carrying value of inventory at 
30 June 2021. 
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Key audit matter  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Covid-19 (Group) 
Whilst the Covid-19 pandemic continues to create uncertainty, including 
supply chain related pressures, its impact has been more limited than in 
the prior year with the construction sector continuing to operate during the 
most recent national lockdowns that took place in the first half of 2021. 
Notwithstanding this we have considered potential future impacts of the 
pandemic on the financial statements. Areas where there remains a risk 
of increased estimation uncertainty are described below: 

i.) The Directors have carefully considered the appropriateness of the 
going concern basis of preparation in the Group’s financial statements, 
including assessing the ongoing impact of Covid-19 during the 
forecast period; 

ii.) Covid-19 has continued to have an impact on the Group’s execution of 
long-term contracts although many of these impacts have now become 
business as usual and have been priced into customer contracts. To 
the extent that there are any incremental costs which are considered 
to be part of the cost of delivering a contract, these should be factored 
into the end of life forecast (‘ELF’) and not expensed to the Income 
Statement. Covid-19 has also had a significant impact on many of the 
Group’s private sector customers and in some cases has impacted the 
Group’s ability to recover costs of contract variations from customers 
that in normal circumstances would have been more easily recovered; 

iii.) The Group has £536.7 million of goodwill as at 30 June 2021. Given 
the uncertainty caused by the pandemic there is higher estimation 
uncertainty related to the key assumptions in management’s value 
in use calculation, such that reasonably possible changes in 
assumptions could materially reduce the value in use of the 
Infrastructure Services CGU, against which £516.3 million of 
the Group’s goodwill is allocated. 

iv.) A £138.0 million deferred tax asset is held on the Group’s Balance 
Sheet in respect of carried forward tax losses. There is a risk that 
in the event that taxable future profits fall below those forecast by 
management, there would be insufficient profits against which to 
utilise these losses. 

 In response to the key areas identified as being 
potentially impacted by Covid-19, we performed the 
following procedures: 

i.) Refer to the Conclusions relating to going concern 
sections below for details of how we considered 
the impact of Covid-19 in our audit procedures 
over going concern; 

ii.) Refer to our Key Audit Matter above for details of how 
we considered the impact of Covid-19 in our procedures 
over contract accounting; 

iii.) Refer to our Key Audit Matter above for details of how 
we considered the impact of Covid-19 in our procedures 
over impairment of goodwill and intangible assets; 

iv.) We reviewed the cash flow forecasts underpinning 
management’s assessment of the future taxable 
profits against which tax losses could be utilised. 
These forecasts were consistent with those used 
in the goodwill model and had been appropriately 
amended to reflect estimated future taxable profits. 
We were satisfied that, based on these forecasts 
and downside sensitivities applied to these forecasts, 
there are sufficient future taxable profits expected to be 
available to utilise these tax losses, and therefore that 
the recognition of the deferred tax asset is supportable.

Carrying value of investments in Kier Limited (parent) 
Refer to page 91 (Risk Management and Audit Committee report) and 
page 211 (Company notes to the financial statements). 

The Company holds investments in subsidiaries of £429.2 million, the 
largest of which is in Kier Limited of £412.2 million. 

We focused on this area due to the size of the investments’ balance in the 
context of the Group’s market capitalisation. The Directors’ assessment of 
the carrying value of the investment in Kier Limited was that no impairment 
was required. 

 We reviewed the Directors’ impairment assessment of the 
carrying value of the investment in Kier Limited. 

In respect of the investment in Kier Limited, we agreed the 
cash flows used in this assessment to the forecasts used 
in the assessment of impairment of goodwill and other 
intangible assets. Our work performed on those cash 
flows is set out in the Goodwill Key Audit Matter above. 

As a result of these procedures, we were satisfied with 
the Directors’ conclusion that no impairment was required 
against the carrying value of the investment in Kier Limited. 

How we tailored the audit scope 

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements as a 
whole, taking into account the structure of the Group and the Company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which 
they operate. 

The Group’s operations and reporting process are structured into three divisions represented by Infrastructure Services, Construction and 
Property. The Group audit partner, supported by other UK engagement leaders, led UK based teams responsible for the audit of each of 
these divisions. The three divisions include a number of reporting units in the Group’s consolidation, each of which is considered to be a 
financial component. 

The significant majority of the Group’s operations are concentrated in the UK and account for 98% of the Group’s revenue, with the 
remaining 2% generated from overseas businesses. We instructed a component team in Dubai to perform full scope audit procedures on 
the Group’s Middle East construction business. Our audit approach was designed to obtain coverage over 98% of the Group’s revenue 
which included UK and overseas operations. We are satisfied that we obtained appropriate audit coverage over the Group’s income 
statement, balance sheet and cash flows through our audit work on the UK and overseas operations. 
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Materiality 

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, together 
with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on 
the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in 
aggregate on the financial statements as a whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows: 

 Financial statements – Group Financial statements – Company 

Overall materiality £7.7m (2020: £9.1m). £6.9m (2020: £8.1m). 

How we determined it Three year average of 5% of statutory results before tax from 
continuing operations. 

1% of total assets limited by the allocation 
of component materiality. 

Rationale for 
benchmark applied 

We considered that the most appropriate benchmark on which 
to calculate materiality was the Group’s statutory result before 
tax from continuing operations. Given the volatility in earnings 
over the last three years, in particular due to the strategic 
changes in the business and the impact of Covid-19, we 
adopted a three year average of the Group’s statutory results. 

We believe that total assets is the primary 
measure for shareholders of the financial 
statements of the ultimate holding company 
of the Group.  

For each component in the scope of our Group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall Group materiality. The range of 
materiality allocated across components was between £0.4 million and £6.9 million. Certain components were audited to a local statutory 
audit materiality that was also less than our overall Group materiality. 

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected 
misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use performance materiality in determining the scope of our audit and the 
nature and extent of our testing of account balances, classes of transactions and disclosures, for example in determining sample sizes. 
Our performance materiality was 75% of overall materiality, amounting to £5.8 million for the Group financial statements and £5.2 million 
for the Company financial statements. 

In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors – the history of misstatements, risk assessment and 
aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls – and concluded that an amount in the middle of our normal range was appropriate. 

We agreed with the Risk Management and Audit Committee (“RMaC”) that we would report to them misstatements identified during 
our audit above £0.4 million (Group audit) (2020: £0.45 million) and £0.4 million (Company audit) (2020: £0.45 million) as well as 
misstatements below those amounts that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

Our evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting included: 

› Reviewing management’s going concern paper to ensure it was based upon the latest Board approved forecasts and that the cash flow 
assumptions were consistent with our understanding of the outlook for the Group’s businesses and the wider market; 

› Performing sensitivity analysis over management’s forecasts in order to determine whether under severe but plausible scenarios the 
Group’s peak debt could exceed its lending limits and whether management has mitigating actions available to it, and within its control, 
to prevent such a situation occurring; 

› Comparison of the prior year forecasts against current year actual performance to assess management’s ability to forecast accurately; 
› Obtaining and reviewing the renegotiated financing agreements between the Group and its lenders following the agreement to sell the 

Kier Living business in April 2021;  
› Reviewing management’s covenant calculations, covering the period from 30 June 2021 to 31 December 2022 ensuring that the 

covenant thresholds and definitions were consistent with the financing agreements; 
› Considering the forecasts and downside sensitivities prepared, including whether they appropriately reflected the ongoing risk of Covid-19 

on the Group’s operations; and 
› Inspecting lending limits and availability of finance, ensuring that the accounting for these arrangements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually 
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least 
twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation 
of the financial statements is appropriate. 

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the Group’s and the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
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In relation to the Directors’ reporting on how they have applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material to add or draw 
attention to in relation to the Directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether the Directors considered it appropriate to adopt 
the going concern basis of accounting. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of 
this report. 

Reporting on other information 

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ 
report thereon. The Directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form 
of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures 
to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities. 

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies Act 
2006 have been included. 

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions and matters 
as described below. 

Strategic report and Directors’ Report 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and Directors’ Report 
for the year ended 30 June 2021 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable 
legal requirements. 

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not 
identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors’ Report. 

Directors’ remuneration 

In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 2006. 

Corporate governance statement 

The Listing Rules require us to review the Directors’ statements in relation to going concern, longer-term viability and that part of the 
Corporate governance statement relating to the Company’s compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified 
for our review. Our additional responsibilities with respect to the Corporate governance statement as other information are described in the 
Reporting on other information section of this report. 

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the Corporate governance 
statement is materially consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained during the audit, and we have nothing material 
to add or draw attention to in relation to: 

› The Directors’ confirmation that they have carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks; 
› The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those principal risks, what procedures are in place to identify emerging risks and an 

explanation of how these are being managed or mitigated; 
› The Directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether they considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of 

accounting in preparing them, and their identification of any material uncertainties to the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue to 
do so over a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements; 

› The Directors’ explanation as to their assessment of the Group’s and Company’s prospects, the period this assessment covers and why 
the period is appropriate; and 

› The Directors’ statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that the Company will be able to continue in operation and 
meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of its assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary 
qualifications or assumptions. 
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Our review of the Directors’ statement regarding the longer-term viability of the Group was substantially less in scope than an audit and only 
consisted of making inquiries and considering the Directors’ process supporting their statement; checking that the statement is in alignment 
with the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code; and considering whether the statement is consistent with the financial 
statements and our knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit. 

In addition, based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the Corporate 
governance statement is materially consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained during the audit: 

› The Directors’ statement that they consider the Annual Report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable, and provides 
the information necessary for the members to assess the Group’s and Company’s position, performance, business model and strategy; 

› The section of the Annual Report that describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems; and 
› The section of the Annual Report describing the work of the Risk Management and Audit Committee (“RMaC”). 

We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility to report when the Directors’ statement relating to the Company’s compliance 
with the Code does not properly disclose a departure from a relevant provision of the Code specified under the Listing Rules for review by 
the auditors. 

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The Directors are also 
responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our 
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which 
our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below. 

Based on our understanding of the Group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations 
related to UK pensions, employment and tax legislation, data protection rules, the Health and Safety Executive legislation and equivalent 
local laws and regulations applicable to overseas operations. We considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material 
effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statements 
such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial 
statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to fraudulent financial reporting 
and management bias in long-term contracting accounting estimates. The Group engagement team shared this risk assessment with the 
component auditors so that they could include appropriate audit procedures in response to such risks in their work. Audit procedures 
performed by the Group engagement team and/or component auditors included, but were not limited to: 

› Discussions with management, Internal Audit and internal legal counsel, including consideration of known or suspected instances of  
non-compliance with laws and regulation and fraud; 

› Assessment of matters reported on the Group’s whistleblowing helpline and the results of management’s investigation of such matters; 
› Reading key correspondence with external legal advisers; 
› Review of external press releases; 
› Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in the estimates involved in accounting for long-term contracts; and 
› Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted with unusual account combinations, unusual words and 

unusual users. 
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There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance 
with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. 

Our audit testing might include testing complete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly using data auditing techniques. 
However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of items for testing, rather than testing complete populations. We will often seek to 
target particular items for testing based on their size or risk characteristics. In other cases, we will use audit sampling to enable us to draw 
a conclusion about the population from which the sample is selected. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report. 

Use of this report 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of 
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any 
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our 
prior consent in writing. 

Other required reporting 

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

› we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or 
› adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from 

branches not visited by us; or 
› certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 
› the Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited are not in agreement with the 

accounting records and returns. 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

Appointment 

Following the recommendation of the Risk Management and Audit Committee (“RMaC”), we were appointed by the Directors on 
24 September 2014 to audit the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 and subsequent financial periods. The period 
of total uninterrupted engagement is 7 years, covering the years ended 30 June 2015 to 30 June 2021. 

 

 

 

ANDREW PAYNTER  

Senior Statutory Auditor 

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London 

15 September 2021 
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 Notes 
2021

£m
20202

£m

Continuing operations  
Revenue 2 
Group and share of joint ventures 3 3,328.5 3,475.6
Less share of joint ventures 3 (67.5) (53.1)
Group revenue  3,261.0 3,422.5
Cost of sales  (2,976.9) (3,220.4)
Gross profit  284.1 202.1
Administrative expenses  (240.1) (391.7)
Share of post-tax results of joint ventures 16 (0.3) (6.6)
Profit on disposal of joint ventures and subsidiaries  – 0.6
Profit/(loss) from operations 3, 4 43.7 (195.6)
Finance income 7 3.7 6.7
Finance costs 7 (41.8) (36.4)
Profit/(loss) before tax 3 5.6 (225.3)
Taxation 10 17.4 53.4
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations 3 23.0 (171.9)

  
Discontinued operations  
Loss for the year from discontinued operations (attributable to equity holders of the parent) 23 (24.6) (101.4)
Loss for the year 3 (1.6) (273.3)

  
Attributable to:  
Owners of the parent  (0.3) (273.3)
Non-controlling interests  (1.3) –
  (1.6) (273.3)

  
Earnings/(loss) per share from continuing operations  
– Basic 12 11.6p (85.3)p
– Diluted 12 11.4p (85.3)p
  
Total earnings/(loss) per share   
– Basic 12 (0.1)p (135.5)p
– Diluted 12 (0.1)p (135.5)p

  
Supplementary information from continuing operations  
Adjusted1 operating profit 5 100.3 41.4
Adjusted1 profit before tax 5 65.4 16.9
Adjusted1 earnings per share  12 25.0p 12.2p
Adjusted1 diluted earnings per share 12 24.6p 12.2p
1 Reference to ‘adjusted’ excludes adjusting items, see notes 1 and 5. 
2 Earnings per share has been re-presented in the comparative information as a result of the equity raise which completed on 18 June 2021, see note 27. 
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 Notes 
2021  

£m 
2020

£m

Loss for the year  (1.6) (273.3)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement   
Share of joint venture fair value movements on cash flow hedging instruments 16 – (0.3)
Fair value (loss)/gain on cash flow hedging instruments 30 (16.6) 5.7
Fair value movements on cash flow hedging instruments recycled to the income statement 7 15.0 (2.3)
Deferred tax credit/(charge) on fair value movements on cash flow hedging instruments 10 0.3 (0.7)
Foreign exchange gains on long-term funding of foreign operations  – 1.0
Foreign exchange translation differences  (3.2) 0.1
Foreign exchange movements recycled to the income statement 7 0.1 3.3
Total items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement   (4.4) 6.8
Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement   
Re-measurement of retirement benefit assets and obligations 9  (29.8) (6.2)
Deferred tax on re-measurement of retirement benefit assets and obligations 10  4.8 6.4
Total items that will not be reclassified to the income statement   (25.0) 0.2
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year   (29.4) 7.0
Total comprehensive loss for the year   (31.0) (266.3)

Attributable to:   
Equity holders of the parent   (29.7) (266.3)
Non-controlling interests – continuing operations   (1.3) –
   (31.0) (266.3)

   
Total comprehensive loss attributable to equity shareholders arises from:   
Continuing operations  (5.1) (164.9)
Discontinued operations   (24.6) (101.4)
   (29.7) (266.3)
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 Notes 

Share 
capital 

£m  

Share 
premium  

£m 

Capital 
redemption 

reserve
 £m

Accumulated 
losses

 £m

Cash flow 
hedge

reserve 
£m

Translation
reserve

£m

Merger  
reserve 

£m 

Equity 
attributable 

to owners of 
 the parent  

£m 

 Non-
controlling

interests 
£m

Total
 equity 

£m

At 30 June 2019  1.6 684.3 2.7 (306.8) (1.2) 3.7 134.8 519.1 0.5 519.6
Impact of adopting  
IFRS 16  – – – (16.6) – – – (16.6) – (16.6)
At 1 July 2019  1.6 684.3 2.7 (323.4) (1.2) 3.7 134.8 502.5 0.5 503.0
Loss for the year  – – – (273.3) – – – (273.3) – (273.3)
Other comprehensive 
income  – – – 0.2 2.4 4.4 – 7.0 – 7.0
Dividends paid  – – – – – – – – (0.4) (0.4)
Share-based payments  28 – – – 5.4 – – – 5.4 – 5.4
Purchase of own shares  – – – (0.9) – – – (0.9) – (0.9)
At 30 June 2020  1.6 684.3 2.7 (592.0) 1.2 8.1 134.8 240.7 0.1 240.8
Loss for the year  – – – (0.3) – – – (0.3) (1.3) (1.6)
Other comprehensive 
losses  – – – (25.0) (1.3) (3.1) – (29.4) – (29.4)
Issue of own shares 27 2.9 – – – – – 215.8 218.7 – 218.7 
Share-based payments  28 – – – 7.0 – – – 7.0 – 7.0
Purchase of own shares 28 – – – (0.5) – – – (0.5) – (0.5)
At 30 June 2021  4.5 684.3 2.7 (610.8) (0.1) 5.0 350.6 436.2 (1.2) 435.0

The numbers in the table above are shown net of tax as applicable. 
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Notes 
2021  

£m 
2020

£m

Non-current assets   
Intangible assets 13 697.2 720.6
Property, plant and equipment 14 43.3 42.3
Right-of-use assets 24 96.5 100.9
Investment properties 15 49.6 49.8
Investments in and loans to joint ventures 16 98.9 105.6
Capitalised mobilisation costs 17 3.8 1.9
Deferred tax assets 18 138.0 111.0
Contract assets 19 30.7 28.8
Trade and other receivables 20 24.1 32.9
Retirement benefit assets 9 87.2 99.5
Other financial assets 30 11.4 30.0
Non-current assets  1,280.7 1,323.3
Current assets   
Inventories 21 54.7 60.0
Contract assets 19 335.7 249.7
Trade and other receivables 20 203.1 236.4
Corporation tax receivable  13.6 12.5
Other financial assets 30 2.0 –
Cash and cash equivalents 22 391.2 413.9
Current assets  1,000.3 972.5
Assets held for sale as part of a disposal group 23 – 196.7
Total assets  2,281.0 2,492.5

Current liabilities   
Borrowings 22 (38.2) (61.6)
Lease liabilities 24 (27.4) (33.1)
Trade and other payables 25 (1,093.1) (957.5)
Contract liabilities 19 (59.9) (108.7)
Provisions 26 (14.9) (20.8)
Current liabilities  (1,233.5) (1,181.7)
Liabilities held for sale as part of a disposal group 23 – (81.7)
Non-current liabilities   
Borrowings 22 (362.3) (689.8)
Lease liabilities 24 (136.4) (139.8)
Trade and other payables 25 (39.9) (46.5)
Retirement benefit obligations 9 (41.0) (60.7)
Provisions 26 (32.9) (51.5)
Non-current liabilities  (612.5) (988.3)
Total liabilities  (1,846.0) (2,251.7)
Net assets 3 435.0 240.8

Equity   
Share capital 27 4.5 1.6
Share premium  684.3 684.3
Capital redemption reserve  2.7 2.7
Accumulated losses  (610.8) (592.0)
Cash flow hedge reserve  (0.1) 1.2
Translation reserve  5.0 8.1
Merger reserve 27 350.6 134.8
Equity attributable to owners of the parent  436.2 240.7
Non-controlling interests  (1.2) 0.1
Total equity  435.0 240.8

The financial statements of Kier Group plc, company registration number 2708030, on pages 131 to 203 were approved by the Board of 
Directors on 15 September 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:  

ANDREW DAVIES  SIMON KESTERTON 

Chief Executive  Chief Financial Officer 
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1 £9.4m has been re-presented in the comparative information from financing activities to investing activities for loan repayment and return of equity from joint ventures. 
See note 1.

 Notes 
2021 

£m
20201 

£m

Cash flows from operating activities  
Profit/(loss) before tax – continuing operations  5.6 (225.3)
 – discontinued operations 5, 23 (24.6) (101.4)
Net finance cost 7 38.1 29.7
Share of post-tax trading results of joint ventures 16 0.3 0.2
Normal cash contributions to pension fund in excess of pension charge 9 0.7 0.2
Equity-settled share-based payments charge 28 7.0 5.4
Amortisation of intangible assets and mobilisation costs  13, 17 30.9 36.9
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of assets held for sale, intangible assets and 
investment properties  5, 13, 15 (5.1) 57.0
Research and development expenditure credit 10 (13.3) (10.2)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 6.4 7.6
Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets 24 33.7 46.0
Loss/(profit) on disposal of joint ventures and subsidiaries 33  12.1 (0.6)
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets  (0.2) 4.9
Operating cash inflows/(outflows) before movements in working capital and pension 
deficit contributions  91.6 (149.6)
Deficit contributions to pension funds 9 (37.0) (25.0)
Decrease in inventories 22 3.9 44.2
Decrease in receivables 22 43.0 108.1
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets 22 (95.3) 212.2
Increase/(decrease) in payables 22 100.7 (278.6)
Decrease in contract liabilities  (48.8) (20.5)
Decrease in provisions 22 (31.3) (4.0)
Cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities  26.8 (113.2)
Dividends received from joint ventures 16 6.3 28.9
Interest received 7 3.7 6.7
Income tax received 10 11.2 5.9
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities  48.0 (71.7)
Cash flows from investing activities  
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  2.5 1.6
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries and joint ventures, net of cash disposed 33 120.8 14.1
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 14 (3.3) (3.8)
Purchase of intangible assets 13 (3.1) (4.0)
Purchase of capitalised mobilisation costs 17 (3.5) (0.8)
Investment in joint ventures 16 (9.2) (14.2)
Loan repayment and return of equity from joint ventures1 16 9.3 9.4
Classification to assets held for resale  – (0.1)
Net cash from investing activities  113.5 2.2
Cash flows from financing activities  
Issue of shares net of associated transaction costs 27 224.8 –
Purchase of own shares 28 (0.5) (0.9)
Interest paid  (28.4) (34.9)
Principal elements of lease payments  24 (39.6) (40.4)
Drawdown of borrowings  – 274.7
Repayment of borrowings 22 (337.4) (30.3)
Settlement of derivative financial instruments  – (0.5)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  – (0.4)
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities  (181.1) 167.3
(Decrease)/increase in cash, cash equivalents and overdraft  (19.6) 97.8
Effect of change in foreign exchange rates  (3.1) 4.4
Opening cash, cash equivalents and overdraft   413.9 311.7
Closing cash, cash equivalents and overdraft 22 391.2 413.9

Supplementary information  
Adjusted cash flow from operating activities 5 98.9 (19.7)
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1 Significant accounting policies 

Kier Group plc (the Company) is a public limited company which 
is listed on the London Stock Exchange and incorporated and 
domiciled in the UK. The Company’s registered number is 2708030. 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year 
ended 30 June 2021 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries 
(together referred to as the Group) and the Group’s interest in 
joint arrangements. 

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the 
Directors on 15 September 2021. 

Statement of compliance 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
and approved by the Directors in accordance with International 
Accounting Standards, in conformity with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006, and International Financial Reporting 
Standards, adopted pursuant to regulation (ED) 1606/2000 as it 
applies in the European Union and effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2020. 

The Company has elected to prepare its parent company financial 
statements in accordance with the FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure 
Framework’. These are presented on pages 204 to 210. 

Basis of preparation 

The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling. 
They have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
investment properties, defined benefit pension plans and derivative 
financial instruments which are stated at their fair value, and the 
IFRS 2 share-based payments charge which is based on the fair 
value of the options granted. 

The following new amendments to standards are effective for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2021 onwards: 

› Amendments to IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ on the definition 
of a business 

› Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ and 
IAS 8 ‘Accounting policies’ on the definition of material 

› Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 (financial instruments 
standards) on interest rate benchmark reform 

› Amendments to IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ for COVID-19 related 
rent concessions 

None of the above amendments to standards has had a material 
effect on the Group’s financial statements. 

The following new standards and amendments to standards have 
been issued but were not yet effective and therefore have not been 
applied in these financial statements:  

› IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contracts’ 
› Amendments to IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’, 

IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ and IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ for interest 
rate benchmark reform (phase 2) 

› Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ on 
classification of liabilities 

› Narrow-scope amendments to IFRS 3, IAS 16, IAS 37 and 
annual improvements on IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IAS 41 and IFRS 16 
(published May 2020) 

› Narrow-scope amendments to IAS 1, Practice statement 2 and 
IAS 8 (published February 2021) 

› Amendments to IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’ on deferred tax related to 
assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction 

IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4, which currently permits a wide variety 
of practices in accounting for insurance contracts. IFRS 17 will 
fundamentally change the accounting by entities that issue 
insurance contracts. The new standard will first be applied by 

the Group in the accounting year ended 30 June 2024. Whilst the 
Group’s activities do not include the issuing of insurance contracts 
to parties outside of the Group, the Group does have its own captive 
insurance company, Tempsford Insurance Company Limited. The 
Directors are considering the potential impact of IFRS 17 on the 
financial statements of this subsidiary and on the Group’s 
consolidated figures. 

With the exception of IFRS 17 which is still being considered, no 
significant net impact from the adoption of the above amendments 
to standards is expected. The Group has chosen not to adopt any of 
the above standards or amendments earlier than required.  

Going concern 

The Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 
the Group’s financial statements.  

The Group delivered improved results in FY21 demonstrating 
the significant progress made on the operational and financial 
turnaround strategy announced in June 2019: to simplify and focus 
the Group, improve the Group’s cash generation and strengthen its 
balance sheet.  

The sale of Kier Living and the new share issue enabled the 
successful completion of the funding elements of the Group’s 
strategic plan. The transactions facilitated a reduction in the Group’s 
net debt, with a repayment of £189m of facilities prior to 30 June 
2021; they have provided the Group with more working capital, and 
with less associated volatility; and they have removed the capital 
requirement to support residential land acquisition and presence 
of unconsolidated debt in certain joint ventures.  

Along with the reduction in debt facilities in the year, the Group has 
also agreed and signed an extension to its Revolving Credit Facility 
(RCF) which was due to expire in July 2022. This has been extended 
to January 2025, with covenant requirements reset accordingly 
(see note 30). 

The Group performed well through the year ended 30 June 2021 
and produced results slightly above the Board’s expectations. 
Average net debt compared to the prior year has reduced slightly 
compared to FY20, and is expected to materially reduce going 
forward following the corporate actions noted above. The Group 
continues to win new business in its markets on terms and at rates 
which reflect the new bidding disciplines and risk management 
practices introduced under the Group’s Performance Excellence 
programme. The orderbook as at 30 June 2021 was generally in 
line with the position at 30 June 2020 at £7.7bn.  

Following the revised debt facility agreements, at 30 June 2021, the 
Group had £685.0m of unsecured committed facilities, £18.0m of 
uncommitted overdrafts and £79.1m of uncommitted supply chain 
financing facilities (see notes 25 and 30).  

Financial covenant certificates for September 2020, December 
2020, March 2021 and June 2021 have been prepared with no 
breaches noted. The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow 
forecasts for the period to 31 December 2022, which are included 
in the Group’s three-year strategic plan, on the basis of certain key 
assumptions and including a number of stressed but plausible 
downside scenarios.  

These scenarios included the consideration of risks which may 
arise to the Group’s available liquidity and its ongoing compliance 
with revised financial covenants within the Group’s principal 
debt facilities as a result of or in light of the following factors 
or circumstances:  

› The continued and ongoing impact of COVID-19, in respect of 
which a full shut-down of the construction sector akin to that 
of March 2020 was not considered plausible in light of the 
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experience of Government restrictions imposed during the first 
half of 2021;  

› Potential reductions in trading volumes;  
› Potential margin erosion;  
› Risks in respect of certain specific projects; and  
› The availability of supply-chain finance.  

The Board also considered the macroeconomic and political risks 
affecting the UK economy, including the availability of labour and 
increased supply chain costs. The Board noted that the Group’s 
forecasts are underpinned by a significant proportion of revenue that 
is either secured or considered probable, often as part of long-term 
framework agreements, and that the Group operates primarily 
in sectors such as health, education and utilities, which 
are considered likely to remain largely unaffected by 
macroeconomic factors.  

The Group is expected to continue to have available liquidity 
headroom under its finance facilities and operate within the revised 
financial covenants over the going concern period. The available 
headroom in a downside scenario has significantly increased 
compared to previous years. The Directors therefore believe the 
risk associated with going concern has reduced following the 
corporate actions taken in the financial year and in light of the 
Group’s execution of its strategic milestones, its most recent 
trading performance and latest forecasts, and the associated 
improved headroom over liquidity and covenant limits. 

As a result, the Directors are satisfied that the Group has 
adequate resources to meet its obligations as they fall due for 
a period of at least 12 months from the date of approving these 
financial statements and, for this reason, they continue to adopt 
the going concern basis in preparing these financial statements. 

FRC review of FY20 Annual Report and Accounts 

In May 2021, the Company received a letter from the Financial 
Reporting Council (FRC) requesting further information in three 
principal areas following a review of the Group’s FY20 Annual Report 
and Accounts. The FRC requested further information in relation to 
deferred taxation, the cash flow statement and the presentation of 
alternative performance measures in the Strategic report regarding 
free cash flow and movements in debt. 

Following provision of the information requested, the FRC closed its 
enquiry in July 2021. Disclosure observations made by the FRC were 
given full consideration and additional disclosures are included in 
the 2021 Annual Report and Accounts where material or relevant 
to do so. 

One observation made by the FRC was to highlight that in the 2020 
Annual Report and Accounts, loan repayments from joint ventures 
were incorrectly classified as a financing activity as opposed to an 
investing activity in the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement. 
This has been corrected in the 2021 Annual Report and Accounts, 
with prior year comparatives re-presented accordingly. Further detail 
on this is given below. 

The FRC’s review was based on the FY20 Annual Report and 
Accounts and did not benefit from detailed knowledge of the 
business or an understanding of the underlying transactions entered 
into. It was, however, conducted by FRC staff with an understanding 
of the relevant legal and accounting framework. The review carried 
out by the FRC provides no assurance that the Annual Report and 
Accounts were correct in all material respects; the FRC’s role is not 
to verify the information provided but to consider compliance with 
reporting requirements. 

2020 restatements 

Within the comparative information in the cash flow statement, loan 
repayment and return of equity from joint ventures of £9.4m have 
been re-presented from financing activities to investing activities. 
This was highlighted as part of the FRC enquiry and after a re-review 
of the guidance it was agreed that this should be amended. This 
change has no impact on the cash or net debt position and relates 
solely to classification within the cash flow statement. 

Earnings per share has been re-presented in the comparative 
information as a result of the equity raise which completed on 
18 June 2021, see notes 12 and 27. 

Comparative information presented on a segmental basis has been 
re-presented to show the new reporting units, see note 3. 

Basis of consolidation 

(a) Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial 
statements of the Company and subsidiaries controlled by the 
Company drawn up to 30 June 2021. Control exists when the 
Group has direct or indirect power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain economic benefits 
from its activities. Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date that control transfers to the 
Group until the date that control ceases. 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition 
method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which 
control is transferred to the Group. Control is the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities. In assessing control, the Group takes 
into consideration potential voting rights that currently are exercisable. 

If a business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date 
carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date; any 
gains or losses arising from such remeasurements are recognised 
in profit or loss. 

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as: 

› The fair value of the consideration transferred; plus  
› The recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the 

acquiree; plus 
› If the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value 

of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; less 
› The net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable 

assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

When the result is negative, a ‘bargain purchase’ gain is recognised 
immediately in the income statement.  

Provisional fair values allocated at a reporting date are finalised 
within 12 months of the acquisition date. 

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related 
to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts are 
generally recognised in the income statement. Costs related to 
the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of 
debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs in connection with 
a business combination are expensed as incurred. Any contingent 
consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent 
consideration are recognised in the income statement unless 
the contingent consideration is classified as equity, in which 
case settlement is accounted for within reserves. 
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1 Significant accounting policies continued 

Accounting policies of subsidiaries are adjusted where necessary 
to ensure consistency with those used by the Group. All intra-Group 
transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated 
on consolidation. 

(b) Joint arrangements 

A joint arrangement is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group 
undertakes an economic activity that is subject to joint control with 
third parties. 

The Group’s interests in joint ventures are accounted for using 
the equity method. Under this method the Group’s share of the 
profits less losses of joint ventures is included in the consolidated 
income statement and its interest in their net assets is included in 
investments in the consolidated balance sheet. Where the share 
of losses exceeds the Group’s interest in the entity and there is 
no obligation to fund these losses the carrying amount is reduced 
to nil, following which no further losses are recognised. Interest in 
the entity is the carrying amount of the investment together with 
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the net 
investment in the entity. 

From time to time the Group undertakes contracts jointly with other 
parties. These fall under the category of joint operations as defined 
by IFRS 11. In accordance with IFRS 11, the Group accounts for 
its own share of sales, profits, assets, liabilities and cash flows 
measured according to the terms of the agreements. 

Foreign currencies 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded at the 
exchange rates in effect when they take place. Resulting foreign 
currency denominated assets and liabilities are translated at 
the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange 
differences arising from foreign currency transactions are 
reflected in the income statement. 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s 
subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which each entity operates (the functional 
currency). The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
GBP, which is the Group’s presentation currency. 

The assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiary undertakings are 
translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. 
Trading profits or losses are translated at average rates prevailing 
during the accounting period. Differences on exchange arising 
from the retranslation of net investments in overseas subsidiary 
undertakings at the year-end rates are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. All other translation differences 
are reflected in the income statement. 

Revenue and profit recognition 

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, net of value added tax, rebates and discounts and 
after eliminating sales within the Group. It also includes the Group’s 
proportion of work carried out under jointly controlled operations. 

The general principles for revenue and profit recognition across the 
Group are as follows: 

› Provision is made for any unavoidable future net losses arising 
from contract obligations, as soon as they become apparent; 

› Additional consideration for contract modifications (variations) is 
only included in revenue (or the forecast contract out-turn) if the 
scope of the modification has been approved by the customer. 
If the scope of the modification has been approved but the parties 
have not yet determined the corresponding change in the contract 
price, an estimate of the change to the transaction price is made 

and included in calculating revenue to the extent that any increase 
in price is highly probable not to reverse; 

› Contract modifications are treated as separate contracts if 
the scope of the contract increases because of the addition 
of promised goods or services that are distinct, and the price of 
the contract increases by an amount of consideration that reflects 
the Group’s stand-alone selling prices of the additional promised 
goods or services and any appropriate adjustments to that price 
to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract; 

› Variable consideration amounts (gain-share amounts, KPI 
bonuses, milestone bonuses, compensation event claims, etc.) 
are included in revenue (or forecasts to completion) only to the 
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal of the 
amount in cumulative revenue recognised will not occur; 

› Refund liabilities (liquidated damages, pain-share amounts, KPI 
penalties, etc.) are accounted for as a reduction in revenue (or in 
forecasting contract out-turns) as soon as it is expected that the 
Group will be required to refund some or all of the consideration 
it has received from the customer; 

› Where revenue that has been recognised is subsequently 
determined not to be recoverable due to the inability of a 
customer to meet its obligations, these amounts are charged 
to administrative expenses as a credit loss; 

› Claims against third parties (such as insurance recoveries and 
claims for cost reimbursements) outside of normal supplier price 
adjustments are recognised only when the realisation of income 
is virtually certain. The associated income is accounted for as 
reduction in costs rather than revenue; and 

› Contract mobilisation is not considered to be a separate 
performance obligation in most situations, as the customer 
receives little or no benefit from mobilisation activities. Any 
consideration received from the customer in relation to the 
mobilisation phase of a contract is deferred and recognised 
as additional revenue relating to the performance obligations 
in the contract that benefit the customer. 

If the timing of payments agreed with the customer provides the 
Group or the customer with a significant benefit of financing the 
transfer of goods or services, the amount of consideration is 
adjusted for the effects of the time value of money. The Group 
does not make an adjustment for the time value of money in the 
following circumstances: 

› When the Group expects, at contract inception, that the period 
between the entity transferring a good or service and the 
customer paying for it will be one year or less; or 

› Where the timing of the payments is for commercial rather than 
financing reasons, e.g. construction contract retentions. 

Revenue and profit recognition policies applied to specific 
businesses are as follows: 

(a) Construction contracts 

Revenue is recognised on construction services over time as the 
benefit is transferred to the customer. The Group uses an input 
method to measure progress. The percentage of completion 
is measured using cost incurred to date as a proportion of the 
estimated full costs of completing the contract and is applied to 
the total expected contract revenue to determine the revenue to 
be recognised to date. 

The assessment of the final outcome of each contract is 
determined by regular review of the revenues and costs to 
complete that contract. Consistent contract review procedures  
are in place in respect of contract forecasting. 
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(b) Services 

Revenue and profit from services rendered, which include facilities 
management, highways maintenance, utilities maintenance, 
street cleaning and recycling, is recognised over time as the 
service is performed. 

Progress on capital works and infrastructure renewal projects in the 
highways and utilities businesses is measured using costs incurred 
as a percentage of the estimated full costs of completing the 
performance obligation. 

Where the contract includes bundled services, the transaction price 
is allocated to each performance obligation identified in the contract 
based on the relative stand-alone selling prices of each of the 
performance obligations. Revenue is then recognised independently 
when each of the performance obligations is satisfied. 

Any variable consideration (e.g. performance bonus) attributable 
to a single performance obligation is allocated entirely to that 
performance obligation. Where variable consideration is attributable 
to the entire contract and is not specific to part of the contract, the 
consideration is allocated based on the stand-alone selling prices 
of each of the performance obligations within the contract. 

Service contracts are reviewed monthly to assess their future 
operational performance and profitability. 

(c) Property development 

Revenue in respect of property developments is recorded on 
unconditional exchange of contracts on disposal of finished 
developments. Profit taken is subject to any amounts necessary to 
cover residual commitments relating to development performance.  

Where developments are sold in advance of construction being 
completed, revenue and profit are recognised at the point of sale, 
reflecting the transfer of control to the customer in its current stage 
of completion. Thereafter, revenue for construction services provided 
to the customer to complete the property is recognised over time in 
line with the percentage of completion, consistent with the Group’s 
accounting policy for recognition of revenue on construction 
contracts (see above). 

Where consideration is paid in advance of the development’s 
construction phase at a price less than market value, revenue is 
recognised on a discounted basis to reflect a financing component 
of the transaction. This revenue and forward funded interest 
unwinds as the construction takes place. 

(d) Private Finance Initiative (PFI) service concession agreements 

Revenue relating to construction or upgrade services under a 
service concession agreement is recognised based on the stage 
of completion of the work performed, consistent with the Group’s 
accounting policy on recognising revenue on construction contracts 
(see above). 

Operation or service revenue is recognised in the period in which 
the services were provided by the Group. When the Group provides 
more than one service in a service concession agreement, the 
consideration received is allocated by reference to the relative  
stand-alone selling prices of the services delivered. 

(e) Private housing and land sales 

This source of revenue relates to the Kier Living business that was 
disposed of in the year. The results for Kier Living are shown within 
discontinued operations (see note 23). 

Revenue from housing sales is recognised at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable on legal completion, being 
the point that control is deemed to pass to the customer. 

Profit is recognised on the sale of each housing plot by reference 
to the estimated cost of that plot based on an allocation from the 
expected overall cost out-turn for the development site. The principal 
estimation technique used by the Group in attributing profit on sites 
to a particular period is the preparation of forecasts of costs to 
complete on a site-by-site basis. Consistent review procedures 
are in place in respect of site forecasting. 

Revenue from land sales and land exchanges is recognised on the 
unconditional exchange of contracts. 

Where plots are sold part-way through construction (e.g. affordable 
housing plots acquired by a housing association), subsequent 
revenue is recognised over time based on the stage of completion 
reflecting the transfer of benefit to the customer. If it is not possible 
to establish an accurate allocation of cost from the overall site costs 
and therefore not possible to establish the stage of completion 
based on actual costs, external valuations are used to estimate 
the percentage of completion.  

Pre-contract and contract mobilisation costs 

Pre-contract costs to obtain a contract that would have been 
incurred irrespective of whether the contract was obtained are 
recognised as an expense when incurred, unless those costs are 
explicitly chargeable to the customer irrespective of whether the 
contract is obtained. 

Mobilisation costs incurred in respect of a specific contract that 
has been won or an anticipated contract that is expected to be 
won (e.g. when the Group has secured preferred bidder status) 
are carried forward in the balance sheet as capitalised mobilisation 
costs if: the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group that 
will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance 
obligations in the future; and the costs are expected to be recovered 
(i.e. the contract is expected to be sufficiently profitable to cover the 
mobilisation costs). 

The vast majority of contracts incurring significant mobilisation costs 
are contracts that exceed 12 months in duration. The Group’s policy 
is therefore to show its capitalised mobilisation costs as a non-
current asset, amortised over the expected contract duration. 

Warranties and rectification costs 

The Group does not offer extended insurance-type warranties 
at an additional cost to the customer (which would represent 
separate performance obligations). Standard industry assurance-
type warranties are provided and are accounted for as rectification 
cost provisions based on the estimated costs of making good 
any latent defects. 

Adjusting items  

IAS 1 permits an entity to present additional information for 
specific items to enable users to better assess the entity’s 
financial performance. The Directors have considered the 
requirements of applicable accounting standards, along with 
additional guidance around alternative performance measures 
(APMs) and believe it is appropriate to inform users regarding 
various items and disclose those items which are deemed one-off, 
material or non-recurring in size or nature, in alignment with the 
Group’s internal management reporting. As such, the Group is 
disclosing as supplementary information an ‘Adjusted Profit’ APM 
which is reconciled to statutory profit in the notes to the financial 
statements and is consistent with IFRS 8 segmental reporting. 
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1 Significant accounting policies continued 

Separate presentation of these items is intended to enhance 
understanding of the financial performance of the Group in the 
particular year under review and the extent to which results are 
influenced by material unusual and/or non-recurring items. The 
Directors review segmental results under an adjusted items 
basis to analyse the performance of operating segments.  

The Directors exercise judgement in determining the classification of 
certain items as adjusting using quantitative and qualitative factors. 
In assessing whether an item is an adjusting item, the Directors give 
consideration, both individually and collectively, as to an item’s size, 
the specific circumstances which have led to the item arising and if 
the item is likely to recur, or whether the matter forms part of a 
group of similar items.  

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets and certain financing 
costs are also included as adjusting items on the basis of being 
ongoing non-cash items generated from acquisition related activity. 

A full reconciliation from statutory numbers to adjusted profit 
measures has been presented in note 5.  

The Group presents revenue including from joint venture 
arrangements as an alternative performance measure. The 
Directors believe this is a useful measure as it provides visibility 
over the scale of the Group’s operations, particularly within its 
Property business where a significant proportion of developments 
are set up in joint ventures. 

The Group also presents adjusted cash flow from operations, 
free cash flow and net debt as alternative performance measures. 
The Directors consider that these provide useful information about 
the Group’s liquidity and debt profile. 

Finance income and costs 

Interest receivable and payable on bank balances is credited or 
charged to the income statement as incurred using the effective 
interest rate method. Interest receivable is presented within 
operating cash flows in the cash flow statement. 

Borrowing costs are capitalised where the Group constructs 
qualifying assets. All other borrowing costs are written off to 
the income statement as incurred. 

Borrowing costs incurred within the Group’s jointly controlled 
entities relating to the construction of assets in PFI and PPP 
projects are capitalised until the relevant assets are brought 
into operational use. 

Notional interest payable, representing the unwinding of the 
discount on long-term liabilities, is charged to finance costs. 

Taxation 

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is 
recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is 
recognised in equity. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on taxable income for 
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect 
of previous years. 

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method, providing 
for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used 
for taxation purposes. The deferred tax provision is based on the 
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount 
of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 
be realised or where other temporary differences are available. 

Goodwill and other intangible assets 

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the 
consideration over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the 
identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary. 

Goodwill is recognised as an asset and reviewed for impairment 
at least annually. Any impairment is recognised immediately in 
the income statement and is not subsequently reversed. Negative 
goodwill is recognised in the income statement immediately. On 
disposal of a subsidiary or jointly controlled entity, the attributable 
carrying amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the 
profit or loss on disposal.  

Other intangible assets which comprise contract rights and 
computer software are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses. Amortisation is charged to administrative 
expenses in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 
expected useful lives of the assets, which are principally as follows: 

Contract rights  Over the remaining contract life 

Computer software  3–10 years 

Internally generated intangible assets developed by the Group are 
recognised only if all of the following conditions are met: 

› An asset is created that can be identified; 
› It is probable that the asset created will generate future economic 

benefits; and 
› The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

Other research expenditure is written off in the period in which it 
is incurred. 

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation 

The cost of an acquired asset comprises the purchase price, any 
directly attributable costs and the estimated costs of dismantling 
and removing the item at the end of its life. Depreciation is based 
on historical or deemed cost, including expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items, less the estimated 
residual value, and the estimated economic lives of the assets 
concerned. Freehold land is not depreciated. Other tangible assets 
are depreciated to residual values in equal annual instalments over 
the period of their estimated economic lives, which are principally 
as follows: 

Freehold land and buildings 25–50 years 

Leasehold buildings and improvements Period of lease 

Plant and equipment (including vehicles) 3–12 years 

Leases 

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on 
a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value 
of the following lease payments: 

› Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any 
lease incentives receivable; 

› Variable lease payments that are based on an index or a 
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the 
commencement date; 

› Amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual 
value guarantees; 

› The exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably 
certain to exercise that option; and 
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› Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term 
reflects the Group exercising that option.  

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension 
options are also included in the measurement of the liability. 

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit 
in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is 
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental 
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee 
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset 
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic 
environment with similar terms, security and conditions. 

Most Group companies do not have any recent independent  
third-party financing to use as a starting point for the incremental 
borrowing rate. Therefore, the Group uses a build-up approach that 
starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk, lease 
term, country, currency and security. 

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable 
lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in 
the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease 
payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability 
is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset. 

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. 
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so 
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability for each period. 

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following: 

› The amount of the initial measurement of lease liability; 
› Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date 

less any lease incentives received; 
› Any initial direct costs; and 
› Any restoration costs. 

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the 
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the 
Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-
of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. 

The Group has elected to use the following recognition exemptions, 
as permitted by the standard: 

› Leases of low-value items – The Group has defined low-value 
items as assets that have a value when new of less than 
c£5,000. Low-value items comprise IT equipment and small 
items of plant. 

› Short-term leases – Leases with a lease term of less than 
12 months at inception.  

For leases in the above categories, a lease liability or right-of-use 
asset is not recognised. Instead, the Group recognises the related 
lease payments as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The 
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and 
non-lease components based on their relative standalone prices. 

Leased properties that meet the definition of investment properties 
are presented within ‘investment properties’ rather than ‘right-of-use 
assets’ on the balance sheet. 

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to 
its investment properties. Leases for which the Group is a lessor are 
classified as finance or operating leases. 

Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as 
a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head 
lease and the sub-lease as two separate contracts. The sub-lease is 
classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-
use asset arising from the head lease. 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred 
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. 

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised 
as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the 
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so 
as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net 
investment outstanding in respect of the leases. Finance lease 
income is calculated with reference to the gross carrying amount of 
the lease receivables, except for credit-impaired financial assets for 
which interest income is calculated with reference to their amortised 
cost (i.e. after a deduction of the loss allowance). 

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components, 
the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration under the 
contract to each component. 

Investment properties 

Investment properties, principally office buildings and land, are held 
for the purpose of earning rentals and/or for capital appreciation 
and are not occupied by the Group. Investment properties are 
measured using the fair value model. Gains and losses arising from 
a change in the fair value of investment properties are recognised 
in the income statement in the period in which they arise. 

Rental income in respect of investment properties is credited to 
‘other income’ within administrative expenses and is disclosed 
in note 15. Amounts recognised in the income statement in respect 
of investment properties are treated as adjusting items, as the 
investment properties have come about through vacating corporate 
offices following a restructure of the Group’s property portfolio. 

Mining assets 

Opencast expenditure incurred prior to the commencement of 
operating an opencast site is capitalised and the cost less the 
residual value is depreciated over the ‘coaling life’ of the site 
on a coal extraction basis. 

The cost of restoration is recognised as a provision as soon as 
the restoration liability arises. The amount provided represents the 
present value of the anticipated costs. Costs are charged against 
the provision as incurred and the unwinding of the discount is 
included within finance costs. A tangible asset is created for 
an amount equivalent to the initial provision and depreciated 
on a coal extraction basis over the life of the asset.  

Where there is a subsequent change to the estimated restoration 
costs or discount rate, the present value of the change is 
recognised as a change in the restoration provision with a 
corresponding change in the cost of the tangible asset until the 
asset is fully depreciated when the remaining adjustment is taken 
to the income statement. 
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1 Significant accounting policies continued 

Inventories 

Inventories, including land held for and in the course of 
development, are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where appropriate, 
labour and production overheads which have been incurred in 
bringing the inventories and work in progress to their present 
location and condition. Cost in certain circumstances also includes 
notional interest as explained in the accounting policy for finance 
income and costs. Net realisable value represents the estimated 
selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to 
be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. 

Inventories are valued on a first in, first out (FIFO) basis. 

Land inventory is recognised at the time a commitment to purchase 
the land is made, generally at exchange of unconditional contracts. 

Property inventory, which represents all development land and 
work in progress, is included at cost less any losses foreseen in 
completing and disposing of the development less any amounts 
received or receivable as progress payments or part disposals. 
Where a property is being developed, cost includes cost of 
acquisition and development to date, including directly attributable 
fees, expenses and finance charges net of rental or other income 
attributable to the development. Where development property is 
not being actively developed, net rental income and finance costs 
are taken to the income statement. 

Contract assets and liabilities 

When the Group transfers goods or services to a customer before 
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due, the 
amount of revenue associated with the transfer of goods or services 
is accrued and presented as a contract asset in the balance sheet 
(excluding any amounts presented as a receivable). A contract asset 
represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods 
or services that the Group has transferred to a customer. 

Contract assets are reduced by appropriate allowances for expected 
credit losses calculated using the simplified approach (as with 
trade receivables). 

If a customer pays consideration, or the Group has a right to an 
amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e. a receivable), 
before the Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the 
amount is presented as a contract liability on the balance sheet. 
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer 
goods or services to a customer for which the entity has 
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) 
from the customer. 

Assets held for sale 

Assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 

Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be 
recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing 
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is 
highly probable, and the assets are available for sale in their 
present condition. 

Share capital 

The ordinary share capital of the Company is recorded as the 
proceeds received, net of directly attributable incremental 
issue costs. 

Merger reserve 

Where equity raises are effected through a structure which is eligible 
for merger relief under section 612 of the Companies Act 2006, the 

Group transfers the excess of the net proceeds over the nominal 
value of the share capital issued to the merger reserve.  

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and where it is 
probable that an outflow will be required to settle the obligation 
and the amount can be reliably estimated. 

Contingent liabilities 

The Group discloses a contingent liability in circumstances where 
it has a possible obligation depending on whether some uncertain 
future event occurs, or has a present obligation but payment is not 
probable, or the amount cannot be measured reliably. 

Government grants 

Government grant income is recognised at the point that there is 
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions 
attached to it, and that the grant will be received.  

Employee benefits 

(a) Retirement benefit obligations 

For defined contribution pension schemes operated by the Group, 
amounts payable are charged to the income statement as they 
fall due. 

The Group accounts for defined benefit obligations in accordance 
with IAS 19. Obligations are measured at discounted present value 
while plan assets are measured at fair value. The operating and 
financing costs of such plans are recognised separately in the 
income statement; current service costs are spread systematically 
over the lives of employees and financing costs are recognised in 
full in the period in which they arise. Remeasurements of the net 
defined pension liability, including actuarial gains and losses, are 
recognised immediately in other comprehensive income. 

The net finance cost is calculated by applying the discount rate 
to the net balance of the defined benefit obligation and the fair 
value of plan assets. This cost is included in finance costs in the 
income statement. 

Where the calculations result in a surplus to the Group, the 
recognised asset is limited to the present value of any available 
future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions 
to the plan, that the Group has the unconditional right to realise. 

(b) Share-based payments 

Share-based payments granted but not vested are valued at the fair 
value of the shares at the date of grant. This affects the Sharesave, 
Conditional Share Award Plan and Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) 
schemes. The fair value of these schemes at the date of award is 
calculated using the Black-Scholes model apart from the total 
shareholder return element of the LTIP which is based on a 
Stochastic model. Awards that are subject to a post vesting 
holding period are valued using the Finnerty model.  

The cost to the Group of awards to employees under the 
LTIP scheme is spread on a straight-line basis over the relevant 
performance period. The scheme awards to senior employees 
a number of shares which will vest after three years if particular 
criteria are met. The cost of the scheme is based on the fair 
value of the shares at the date the options are granted.  

Shares purchased and held in trust in connection with the Group’s 
share schemes are deducted from retained earnings. No gain or 
loss is recognised within the income statement on the market 
value of these shares compared with the original cost. 
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Financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the 
Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. An assessment of  
whether a financial asset is impaired is made at least at each 
reporting date. The principal financial assets and liabilities of 
the Group are as follows: 

(a) Trade receivables and trade payables 

Given the varied activities of the Group it is not practicable to 
identify a common operating cycle. The Group has therefore 
allocated receivables and payables due within 12 months of 
the balance sheet date to current with the remainder included 
in non-current. 

A trade receivable is recognised when the Group has a right to 
consideration that is unconditional (subject only to the passage of 
time before payment is due). Trade receivables do not carry interest 
and are stated at their initial cost reduced by appropriate allowances 
for expected credit losses. 

The Group applies the simplified approach to measurement of 
expected credit losses in respect of trade receivables, which 
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial 
recognition of the receivables. 

Trade payables on normal terms are not interest-bearing and are 
stated at their nominal value. Trade payables on extended terms, 
particularly in respect of land purchases, are discounted and 
recorded at their present value. 

Amounts owing under supply chain finance arrangements are 
included within trade payables rather than bank debt. The purpose 
of supply chain finance is purely to grant subcontractors and 
suppliers access to credit and improve their cash flows. There 
have been no changes to the underlying terms of the supply 
chain finance arrangements.  

The designation in trade payables is due to the assignment of 
invoice rather than a novation, the Group acting as an agent with 
fees related to supply chain finance being borne by the supplier 
and the final payment date to the bank being set by the Group 
with interest accrued for any late payments. 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement comprise 
cash at bank and in hand, including bank deposits with original 
maturities of three months or less, net of bank overdrafts where 
legal right of set off exists.  

(c) Bank and other borrowings 

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are recorded at the fair 
value of the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance 
charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption 
and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accruals basis in 
the income statement using the effective interest method and are 
added to the carrying value of the instrument to the extent that 
they are not settled in the period in which they arise. 

(d) Private Finance Initiative (PFI) assets 

Under the terms of a PFI or similar project, where the risks and 
rewards of ownership remain largely with the purchaser of the 
associated services, the Group’s interest in the asset is classified 
as a financial asset and included at its amortised cost within 
investment in joint ventures. 

(e) Derivative financial instruments 

As permitted by IFRS 9, the Group has chosen to continue to apply 
the hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39. 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date that 
the contract is entered into and subsequently remeasured in future 
periods at their fair value. The method of recognising the resulting 
change in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated 
as a hedging instrument and whether the hedging relationship 
is effective. 

For cash flow hedges the effective part of the change in fair value 
of these derivatives is recognised directly in other comprehensive 
income. Any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the 
income statement. Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled 
to the income statement in the periods when the hedged items will 
affect profit or loss. The fair value of interest rate derivatives is the 
estimated amount that the Group would receive or pay to terminate 
the derivatives at the balance sheet date. 

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, the hedge 
accounting is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognised in equity remains there until the 
forecast transaction occurs. 

The Group enters into forward contracts in order to hedge against 
transactional foreign currency exposures. In cases where these 
derivative instruments are significant, hedge accounting is applied 
as described above. Where hedge accounting is not applied, 
changes in fair value of derivatives are recognised in the income 
statement. Fair values are based on quoted market prices at the 
balance sheet date. 

Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources 
of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year 
are as follows: 

(a) Revenue and profit recognition 

The estimation techniques used for revenue and profit recognition 
in respect of property development, construction contracts and 
services contracts require forecasts to be made of the outcome of 
long-term contracts which require assessments and judgements to 
be made on the recovery of pre-contract costs, changes in the scope 
of work, contract programmes, maintenance and defects liabilities 
and changes in costs. 

There are three contracts (2020: five contracts) that the Group 
considers require significant accounting estimates and, as at 
30 June 2021, the Group has included estimated recoveries 
from customers with a combined value of £12.3m (2020: £16.2m). 
These recoveries are recognised on the basis that they are 
considered highly probable not to reverse, however, there is clearly 
a range of factors affecting potential outcomes once these contracts 
are finalised and the Group estimates the values on these contracts 
could collectively range from an upside of £12.0m (2020: £13.5m) 
to a downside, including the risk of counterclaims being levied 
against the Group, of £14.2m (2020: £16.0m).  

Over 500 construction contracts (2020: over 500) were income 
generating during the year within the Group’s Construction and 
Infrastructure Services operating divisions. Of these, one (2020: 
one) individually had a material impact on operating profit. This 
contract is a significant ongoing rebuild project that is covered by 
a fixed insurance recovery, for which there are no balances with 
customers however there is risk associated with the future costs 
of rebuild. 
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1 Significant accounting policies continued 

The key judgements and estimates relating to determining the 
revenue and profit of material contracts are: 

› costs to complete; 
› achieving the planned build programme; 
› recoverability of claims and variations in accordance with  

IFRS 15; and 
› each contract is treated on its merits and subject to a regular 

review of the revenue and costs to complete that contract, 
determined by a combination of management judgement and 
external professional assistance, backed up by judgements 
papers for the contracts that have a material impact on the 
income statement. 

The level of estimation uncertainty in the Group’s construction 
businesses is reduced by the effect of its substantial portfolio 
and significant experience of the division’s management team. 
The level of estimation is further reduced by the combination of the 
modest scale and short contract durations of the Group’s projects. 
Nevertheless, the profit recognition in the Construction business is 
a key estimate, due to the inherent uncertainties in any construction 
project over revenues and costs.  

The level of estimation and uncertainty differs between the Group’s 
construction businesses, particularly between Regional Building, 
Major Projects – Building and Infrastructure. Regional Building 
operates around 400 sites (2020: 400) each year with an average 
project size of £11.6m (2020: £11.8m) and with average revenue in 
the year of £3.9m (2020: £4.0m). These projects typically operate 
under framework contracts where costs are known with a greater 
degree of certainty. Infrastructure manages around 30 sites with 
projects ranging from a relatively small number of higher value 
major Infrastructure civil engineering projects to a larger number 
of more modest minor signalling upgrades and replacements.  

The major infrastructure civil engineering projects typically include 
Design and Build, Construct only and Target Cost contracts. The 
nature and length of these contracts means there can be a greater 
level of estimation and uncertainty. The blended portfolio risk of 
the overall construction businesses is mitigated by the relative 
sizes of the Regional Building, Major Projects – Building and 
Infrastructure businesses. 

Construction revenue for the year is £1.8bn (2020: £1.8bn) with an 
associated adjusted operating profit margin of 3.2% (2020: 2.4%). 
The historic profit margins in the construction businesses typically 
range from 2.0% to 3.2%. A potential downside risk in margin 
would be 1.2% (2020: 0.6%). Given the short-term average duration 
(approximately 12 months) of the construction portfolio, the impact 
of such a decrease in margin across projects in delivery at the 
year end would be a decrease in operating profit of £21.2m 
(2020: £11.0m).  

(b) Lifecycle assets 

The Group has a number of ongoing contracts where lifecycle funds 
are established to meet contractual obligations. The key sensitivity 
in the calculation is the percentage of the funds build-up required 
for future maintenance. A reasonably likely change would be an 
increase or decrease of 10% in the percentage of funds build-up 
required. Such a change would result in a profit impact of 
approximately £1m in any one year. 

(c) Defined benefit pension scheme valuations 

In determining the valuation of defined benefit pension scheme 
assets and liabilities, a number of key assumptions have been 
made. The key assumptions, which are given below, are largely 
dependent on factors outside the control of the Group: 

› Expected return on plan assets; 
› Inflation rate; 
› Mortality; 
› Discount rate; and 
› Salary and pension increases. 

Details of the assumptions used and sensitivity to changes in these 
assumptions are included in note 9. 

(d) Goodwill 

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation 
of the value in use of cash generating units (CGUs) to which the 
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires 
an estimate to be made of the timing and amount of future cash 
flows expected to arise from the CGU and the application of a 
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the net present value. 
Cash flow forecasts for the next three years are based on the 
Group’s budgets and forecasts. Other key inputs in assessing 
each CGU are revenue growth, operating margin, discount rate 
and terminal growth rate. The assumptions are set out in note 13 
together with an assessment of the impact of reasonably 
possible sensitivities. 

In undertaking the assessment, the potential net impact of climate 
change on the forecasts has been considered. At present, it has 
been concluded that it will not be significant.  

(e) Joint ventures 

In accordance with IFRS 11 para 7, joint ventures are identified 
where the control of an arrangement is shared and decisions 
around activities require unanimous consent if the action 
significantly affects the investee’s return. The key judgement 
involved in determining joint control is that the board structure and 
the mechanisms, including deadlock mechanisms, in the reserved 
matters do not give any one party majority control over relevant 
activities, regardless of the economic split between partners. 

(f) Adjusting items 

Adjusting items are items of financial performance which 
the Group believes should be separately presented to assist in 
understanding the financial performance achieved by the Group in 
accordance with the accounting policy set out on pages 139 to 140. 
Determining whether an item is classified as an adjusting item 
requires judgement. 

Total adjusting items of £59.8m were charged to the income 
statement in respect of continuing operations for the year ended 
30 June 2021 (2020: £242.2m). A further amount of £24.8m 
(2020: £88.6m) was charged in respect of discontinued operations. 
The items that comprise this are set out in note 5 together with an 
explanation of their nature and consideration points as to why the 
Directors have treated these as adjusting items. 

(g) Property leases 

The Group continues to rationalise its property portfolio and 
has exited its leased corporate office in Foley Street, London. 
The property is now being sublet for the remaining period of the 
lease and the associated right-of-use asset is classified as an 
investment property. Given the length of the underlying leases 
and the uncertainty in the property market, in calculating the fair 
value of the right-of-use asset judgement has been exercised in 
the following areas: 

› Length of time to fully sublet the property – assumption is 
within 12 months; 

› Sub-rental amounts – assumption is based on management’s 
current best estimate of market rental values; and 

› Discount rate – assumption reflects the specific risks of the 
investment property.  
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(h) Taxation 

The Group is predominantly UK based and all entities are UK resident 
for tax purposes and therefore subject to UK tax regulations. 

Deferred tax liabilities are generally provided for in full and deferred 
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is judged probable 
that future taxable profit will arise against which the temporary 
differences will be utilised. In particular, the Group has exercised 
judgement in recognising a deferred tax asset of £108.6m 
(2020: £94.6m) in respect of tax losses.  

The critical judgements in assessing the recoverability of the 
deferred tax asset relate to the taxable profit forecasts. These 
forecasts are based on the same Board-approved information used 
to support the going concern and goodwill impairment assessments. 
The critical judgements related to these forecasts are the same as 
those described in the goodwill section of this note. In assessing 
the recoverability, the Group has considered various sensitivities 
regarding future profitability, those of which are also disclosed 
within the going concern section of this note. 

The basis for recognising this tax asset is set out in note 18 
together with the period in which it is expected to be utilised. 

(i) Land and property valuations 

The recoverability of property development work in progress is 
an area which requires significant judgement due to the ongoing 
volatility in property valuations due to COVID-19. An assessment of 
the net realisable value of inventory is carried out at each balance 
sheet date and is dependent upon the Group’s estimate of forecast 
selling prices and build/development costs (by reference to current 
prices), which may require significant judgement. Where applicable, 
third-party valuations are used to support the position as at the 
balance sheet date. In valuing work in progress at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value the Group has already recognised any 
expected downside, and any upside is contingent on the Group’s 
continued development of the projects as it is not in the business 
of selling partly developed sites. At 30 June 2021, the value of 
land and work in progress held for development was £39.1m 
(2020: £45.2m). 

2 Revenue 

Revenue is entirely derived from contracts with customers. 

Infrastructure Services 

The Group derives revenue from capital infrastructure projects as well 
as the maintenance of infrastructure assets across various sectors 
including highways, rail, water, gas and domestic fibre installation. 

Capital projects can range from the construction of power 
stations, roads, bridges and tunnels over a period of several years 
(e.g. Hinkley Point C, Mersey Gateway bridge, Crossrail and HS2), 
to small schemes completed in a matter of days. Revenue is 
recognised over time as the construction services are rendered 
to the customer. Each capital project is typically a single 
performance obligation. 

The Group also provides maintenance services for the UK road, 
rail and utilities infrastructure through both routine, preventative 
maintenance as well as reactive repairs. These services are 
generally delivered under framework contracts of between five 
to eight years, however, individual performance obligations 
under the framework are normally determined on an annual, 
monthly or ad hoc basis. Revenue is recognised over time  
as the maintenance services are rendered to the customer. 

Where multiple services are supplied under a single contract they 
are treated as separate performance obligations and revenue is 
recognised separately as each performance obligation is satisfied. 

Services are normally invoiced monthly in arrears under normal 
commercial credit terms. Under some contracts, amounts are 
held back as a retention for periods that can exceed 12 months. 
However, as the purpose of the retentions is to ensure that the 
performance obligations on the contract are carried out to a 
satisfactory standard, the Group does not deem there to be a 
significant financing component in the timing of the cash flows 
on these amounts. 

The Group’s obligation to make good faulty workmanship under 
standard industry warranty terms is recognised as a provision 
(see note 26). 

Construction 

The Group undertakes over 400 building projects each year, 
providing construction services in the private, education and health 
sectors and on public sector frameworks. Projects range from minor 
extensions costing less than £0.5m to the construction of major 
strategic assets costing hundreds of millions of pounds. The 
construction of a building, including any associated design work, 
is normally accounted for as a single performance obligation as 
the services provided are normally highly interrelated. Revenue is 
recognised over time as the performance obligation is satisfied. 

Invoices are typically raised monthly, based on valuations of the 
work completed, and have normal commercial payment terms. It is 
common in the construction industry for an amount to be held back 
as a retention for periods that can exceed 12 months. However, 
as the purpose of the retentions is to ensure that the performance 
obligations on the contract are carried out to a satisfactory standard, 
the Group does not deem there to be a significant financing 
component in the timing of the cash flows on these amounts. 
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2 Revenue continued 

Whilst the bulk of consideration associated with construction 
contracts is fixed, variable consideration elements can exist 
(milestone bonuses, gain share, event claims, etc.). The Group 
only recognises revenue for these amounts if they are highly 
probable not to reverse. 

Liquidated and ascertained damages (LADs) clauses are 
often present in construction contracts. Where it is anticipated that 
a LADs clause will be triggered (e.g. through overrunning works), 
revenue is constrained to reflect the expected amount of 
the deduction. 

Modifications to the scope of construction work are agreed in 
principle with the customer before additional work is carried out. 
However, the price is not always determined until the final account 
stage. In these circumstances the Group treats the revenue 
associated with the modification as variable consideration and 
only recognises amounts that are highly probable not to reverse.  

The Group’s obligation to repair building faults under standard 
industry warranty terms is recognised as a provision (see note 26). 

For the Group’s construction activities in the Middle East, in some 
circumstances, customers pay upfront amounts to protect the 
Group against payment default. Payments on account are not 
normally made more than 12 months in advance of the 
service delivery. 

The Group also provides maintenance services to local authorities 
and private landlords with large housing portfolios. Revenue for 
maintenance services is recognised over time as the services are 
rendered. Services are either invoiced monthly or shortly after 
completion of individual performance obligations. Normal 
commercial payment terms apply. 

The Group also provides facilities management and maintenance 
services for commercial property owners, and waste and recycling 
collection services for local authority and commercial customers. 

Facilities management and maintenance services revenue is 
recognised over time as the services are rendered. Invoices for 
services rendered are typically raised monthly. Typically, normal 
commercial payment terms apply, with the exception of the PFI 
lifecycle contracts, as noted below. 

The Group has a number of long-term PFI lifecycle contracts 
to maintain properties over periods of 25-30 years. A fund is 
established at the start of the contract and amounts are drawn 
down by the Group as maintenance work is performed. The Group is 
also entitled to share in any surplus left in the fund at the end of the 
contract. Revenue is recognised over time to reflect the rendering of 
the service including an assessment of the appropriate proportion of 
the likely surplus in the fund, subject to being highly probable not to 
reverse. As the surplus amount will not be paid until the end of the 
contracts, the contract asset associated with the surplus recognised 
to date is shown as a non-current asset in the balance sheet. The 
surplus is payable at the end of the contract to ensure that the 
property is maintained to a satisfactory standard over the full term 
of the contract and to promote efficiencies. As such the Group 
does not deem there to be a significant financing component. 

Environmental services contracts with local authorities, for domestic 
waste and recyclate collections and operation of household waste 
and recycling centre, have a typical duration of between 7 and 10 
years. Contracts with commercial customers are typically for 
12 months. Revenue from environmental services contracts is 
recognised over time as the services are performed. Invoices 
are raised monthly in arrears and normal commercial payment 
terms apply. 

Property 

The Group undertakes property development on its own sites as well 
as a service for customers.  

Revenue in respect of property developments is recorded on 
unconditional exchange of contracts. In most cases payment is 
received on legal completion. 

Where developments are sold in advance of construction being 
completed, revenue and profit are recognised at the point of sale, 
reflecting the transfer of control to the customer in its current stage 
of completion. Thereafter, revenue for construction services provided 
to the customer to complete the property development is recognised 
over time as the construction services are rendered. Construction 
services are normally invoiced monthly based on valuations under 
normal commercial payment terms. 

Occasionally the Group will sell land that it has previously acquired 
for potential commercial property or housing developments. 
Revenue from land sales and land exchanges is recognised 
on the unconditional exchange of contracts. 
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Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations 

The following table includes revenue expected to be recognised in the future related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or 
partially unsatisfied) at the reporting date.  

At 30 June 2021 

At 30 June 20201 

1 Prior year comparative information re-presented to show the new reporting segments, see note 3. 

The above transaction prices only include variable consideration if it is highly probable not to reverse and exclude any estimate of revenue 
from framework contracts for which a firm commitment or order has not been received at the reporting date. 

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 and does not disclose information about remaining performance 
obligations that have original expected durations of one year or less. 

3 Segmental reporting 

As part of the Group’s continued focus on restructuring and streamlining operations, and in line with the Group’s strategy to simplify 
the Group’s portfolio, a review of the Facilities Management, Housing Maintenance, Design and Business Services, and Environmental 
Services businesses was conducted during the year to 30 June 2021. Following internal restructuring driven by the potential synergy 
benefits available, these businesses now report into the Construction Leadership Team. As part of this process, the information that is 
used to manage the Construction business, and what is being reported to the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker, has been realigned 
to include these businesses.  

The Directors have therefore concluded that, from 1 July 2020, the results of the Facilities Management, Housing Maintenance, Design 
and Business Services, and Environmental Services businesses should be reported within the Construction segment for external reporting 
purposes, still named Construction. The Other segment now only consists of the Property division and has been renamed Property. The prior 
year segmental analysis has been restated to reflect these changes. ‘Corporate’ includes unrecovered overheads and the charge for defined 
benefit pension schemes. 

The change in reporting structure has had no impact on the Group’s previously reported cash generating units (CGUs). The carrying value of 
the Group’s goodwill as at 1 July 2020 to each of the Group’s new CGUs is as follows: 

 £m

Infrastructure Services 516.3
Construction 20.4
Property –
 536.7

Segment information is based on the information provided to the Chief Executive, together with the Board, who is the Chief Operating 
Decision Maker. The segments are strategic business units with separate management and have different core customers and offer 
different services. The segments are discussed in the Operational Review on pages 16 to 21. 

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies 
on pages 136 to 145. The Group evaluates segmental information on the basis of profit or loss from operations before adjusting items 
(see note 5), interest and tax expense. The segmental results that are reported to the Chief Executive include items directly attributable 
to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. 

  

 
2022 

£m 
2023

£m

2024
onwards

£m

Infrastructure Services 617.2 565.7 681.2
Construction 847.4 286.5 152.2
Property 13.1 – –
Total transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations 1,477.7 852.2 833.4

 
2021 

£m 
2022

£m

2023
onwards

£m

Infrastructure Services 489.4 430.4 991.0
Construction 632.9 114.7 106.4
Property 55.9 5.9 –
Total transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations 1,178.2 551.0 1,097.4
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3 Segmental reporting continued 

Year to 30 June 2021 

Continuing operations 

Infrastructure 
Services 

£m
Construction

£m
Property  

£m 
Corporate  

£m 
Group 

£m

Revenue1   
Group and share of joint ventures 1,421.6 1,769.1 133.6 4.2 3,328.5
Less share of joint ventures – (1.5) (66.0) – (67.5)
Group revenue 1,421.6 1,767.6 67.6 4.2 3,261.0

   
Timing of revenue1   
Products and services transferred at a point in time 5.2 9.2 59.0 – 73.4
Products and services transferred over time 1,416.4 1,759.9 74.6 4.2 3,255.1
Group and share of joint ventures 1,421.6 1,769.1 133.6 4.2 3,328.5

   
Loss for the year   
Operating profit/(loss) before adjusting items5 65.3 56.7 5.7 (27.4) 100.3
Adjusting items5 (23.9) (16.0) (3.4) (13.3) (56.6)
Profit/(loss) from operations 41.4 40.7 2.3 (40.7) 43.7
Net finance costs2 – (3.9) (10.8) (23.4) (38.1)
Profit/(loss) before tax from continuing operations 41.4 36.8 (8.5) (64.1) 5.6

Taxation   17.4
Profit for the year from continuing operations   23.0
Loss for the year from discontinued operations    (24.6)
Loss for the year   (1.6)

   
Balance sheet   
Operating assets3 945.3 459.6 167.0 304.5 1,876.4
Operating liabilities3 (457.0) (749.0) (24.0) (215.5) (1,445.5)
Net operating assets/(liabilities)3 488.3 (289.4) 143.0 89.0 430.9
Cash, cash equivalents and borrowings 346.7 480.7 (126.4) (710.3) (9.3)
Net financial assets – – – 13.4 13.4
Net assets/(liabilities)  835.0 191.3 16.6 (607.9) 435.0
   
Other information   
Inter-segmental revenue 20.1 0.3 – 46.7 67.1
Capital expenditure on property, plant, equipment and 
intangible assets 1.7 0.5 – 4.2 6.4
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (1.2) (0.8) – (4.4) (6.4)
Amortisation of computer software (0.4) (1.3) – (6.6) (8.3)
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Year to 30 June 20204 

Continuing operations 

Infrastructure 
Services 

£m
Construction

£m
Property  

£m 
Corporate 

£m
Group 

£m

Revenue1  
Group and share of joint ventures 1,506.2 1,834.7 123.8 10.9 3,475.6
Less share of joint ventures – (7.4) (45.7) – (53.1)
Group revenue 1,506.2 1,827.3 78.1 10.9 3,422.5

  
Timing of revenue1  
Products and services transferred at a point in time 3.9 8.5 44.5 – 56.9
Products and services transferred over time 1,502.3 1,826.2 79.3 10.9 3,418.7
Group and share of joint ventures 1,506.2 1,834.7 123.8 10.9 3,475.6

  
Loss for the year  
Operating profit/(loss) before adjusting items5 31.3 43.6 (3.2) (30.3) 41.4
Adjusting items5 (21.9) (95.9) (18.5) (100.7) (237.0)
Profit/(loss) from operations 9.4 (52.3) (21.7) (131.0) (195.6)
Net finance costs2 (1.5) (8.4) (3.8) (16.0) (29.7)
Profit/(loss) before tax from continuing operations 7.9 (60.7) (25.5) (147.0) (225.3)

Taxation  53.4
Loss for the year from continuing operations  (171.9)
Loss for the year from discontinued operations   (101.4)
Loss for the year  (273.3)

  
Balance sheet  
Operating assets3 828.2 500.6 186.1 337.0 1,851.9
Operating liabilities3 (385.2) (696.9) (24.4) (312.1) (1,418.6)
Net operating assets/(liabilities)3 443.0 (196.3) 161.7 24.9 433.3
Cash, cash equivalents and borrowings 346.1 370.6 (145.5) (908.7) (337.5)
Net financial assets – – – 30.0 30.0
Net assets/(liabilities) excluding net assets held for sale 789.1 174.3 16.2 (853.8) 125.8
Net assets held for sale  115.0
Net assets  240.8
  
Other information  
Inter-segmental revenue 16.4 0.2 – 43.6 60.2
Capital expenditure on property, plant, equipment and 
intangible assets 1.2 3.7 – 2.9 7.8
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (1.0) (0.8) – (5.8) (7.6)
Amortisation of computer software (0.3) – – (10.7) (11.0)
1 Revenue is stated after the exclusion of inter-segmental revenue. Over 90% of the Group’s revenue is derived from UK-based customers. 12% of the Group’s revenue 

was received from National Highways (2020: 17%). 
2 Interest was (charged)/credited to the divisions at a notional rate of 4.0%.  
3 Net operating assets/(liabilities) represent assets excluding cash, cash equivalents, bank overdrafts, borrowings, financial assets and liabilities, assets and liabilities 

classified as held for sale and interest-bearing inter-company loans. 
4 Prior year comparative information re-presented to show the new reporting segments. 
5 See notes 1 and 5 for adjusting items. 
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4 Profit/(loss) from operations 

Profit/(loss) from operations is stated after charging/(crediting): 

 Notes 
2021  

£m 
2020 

£m

Auditors’ remuneration:   
Fees payable for the audit of the parent company and consolidated financial statements  1.8 1.9
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for other services1:   

Audit of the Company’s subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation  1.9 2.0
Audit related assurance services  0.5 0.3
Other assurance services2  – 0.7

Amortisation of intangible assets 13 29.3 34.7
Impairment reversal of intangible assets 13 (2.4) –
Loss on disposal of computer software 13 0.5 5.0
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 6.4 7.6
(Profit)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  (1.0) 0.1
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 14 – 5.4
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 24 33.7 35.8
Impairment of right-of-use assets 24 – 10.2
Fair value adjustment to investment properties 15 0.3 0.6
Amortisation of capitalised mobilisation cost 17 1.6 1.5
Impairment of capitalised mobilisation cost 17 – 0.7
Expenses relating to short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 24 86.1 71.4
Net Research and Development Expenditure Credit receivable3  (12.0) (9.4)
Net loss from operations related to mining   0.4 2.3
1 The auditors’ remuneration relates to amounts paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC). A summary of other services provided by PwC during the year is provided on 

page 92. Included in the 2021 audit fees are additional fees of £0.9m for prior year work (2020: £1.3m).  
2 In addition to £0.5m of audit related assurance services, £0.8m of non-audit services related to the disposal of Kier Living were incurred and are included in the results 

from discontinued operations, and a further £0.7m of costs associated with the equity raise have been capitalised against the merger reserve, as set out in note 27. 
3 Includes £13.3m of receipts (2020: £10.2m) and £1.3m of fees payable to consultants (2020: £0.8m). 

5 Adjusting items 
The Group’s policy in respect of adjusting items is described in note 1. These items are explained in detail below: 

 Operating profit/(loss) Profit/(loss) before tax 

 
2021

£m
2020 

£m 
2021 

£m 
2020

£m

Reported profit/(loss) from continuing operations 43.7 (195.6) 5.6 (225.3)
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 21.0 23.7 21.0 23.7
Costs associated with previous acquisitions – 5.0 – 5.0
Restructuring and related charges 31.6 156.1 31.6 156.1
Preparation for business divestment or closure 0.5 33.6 0.5 33.6
Other 3.5 18.6 6.7 23.8
Adjusted profit from continuing operations 100.3 41.4 65.4 16.9
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(a) Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 

Notes 
2021

£m
2020

£m

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 13 (21.0) (23.7)

(b) Costs associated with previous acquisitions 

 2021
£m

2020
£m

Integration costs relating to the McNicholas acquisition1  – (8.5)
McNicholas acquired contract settlement2  – 3.5
Total charge before tax  – (5.0)
1 Costs incurred in the prior year to integrate the McNicholas acquisition into the Utilities business including significant double-running of people and lease costs. These 

were considered to be adjusting items on the basis of their size, the fact that they related to a major acquisition and that these were non-recurring costs. These are no 
longer material for separate disclosure. 

2 Revenue received in settlement of a contract acquired with McNicholas. 

(c) Restructuring and related charges 

The Group has incurred significant restructuring charges relating to costs of multi-year organisational change associated with the Group’s 
cost saving programmes and the Group’s strategic review programme announced following the appointment of Andrew Davies as CEO in 
2019. These are treated as adjusting items on the basis of their size and the fact that they relate to significant changes to the Group’s 
activities, property portfolio and workforce.  

Notes 
2021

£m
2020

£m

Restructure of Regional Southern Build business1  (13.6) (61.5)
Redundancy costs2 8 (5.4) (29.5)
Professional adviser fees and other costs incurred implementing non-people initiatives3  (11.9) (34.2)
Impairments and other costs relating to leased properties4  (0.7) (14.4)
Costs in preparation for outsourcing arrangements5  – (11.1)
Property impairment6  – (5.4)
Total charge before tax  (31.6) (156.1)
1 The Group has continued its strategic restructuring of its Regional Southern Build business, which has included the closure of offices, a down-sizing of personnel and the 

withdrawal/early settlement of certain contract positions. As a result of these ongoing restructuring activities a net cost of £13.6m has been charged in the current year. 
This relates predominantly to charges in respect of the recoverability of assets and increased project costs due to settlements and delays, which have been directly 
impacted by this restructuring programme. This represents an extension of the prior year charges, which similarly included costs relating to the restructuring of 
management, closure of offices and closure of certain sectors, and the impact that COVID-19 had on market conditions.  

2 Costs in respect of roles made redundant as a result of the ongoing implementation of cost saving programmes and from strategic decisions taken to reduce headcount 
in a number of the Group’s principal operating divisions following the continued implementation of the strategic review. 

3 The Group incurred various costs in respect of the restructuring activities during the year. In particular, £8.3m of adviser fees relating to the equity raise and debt 
refinancing were expensed to the income statement on the basis that they were not directly attributable to either transaction. In addition to the fees charged to 
adjusting items, £22.7m has been charged to equity and £2.6m offset against debt. The remaining adjusting costs were incurred implementing non-people initiatives. 

4 The Group has incurred impairment and other charges on a corporate office lease of £0.7m (2020: £16.8m), which is being exited as part of the cost saving 
programme. These further charges are as a result of the delayed subletting of the property. In the prior year another corporate office lease that was previously 
impaired was brought back into use by the Group, which resulted in a net credit to adjusting items of £2.4m.  

5 In the prior year the Group outsourced its Fleet and IT services, incurring £8.3m of costs. This included one-off set up costs and dual-running costs. 
6 As part of its restructuring programme the Group closed its head office in the prior year, which is now held as an investment property. As a result, an impairment charge 

of £5.4m was recognised. 
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5 Adjusting items continued 

(d) Costs incurred in preparation for business divestment or closure 

The Group has incurred various charges driven by the change in strategic direction of the Group and the decision to exit certain divisions 
deemed non-core to its ongoing operations. Most of these charges are non-cash and are treated as adjusting items on the basis that they 
relate to a major restructuring of the Group following the strategic review that took place in 2019. 

 
2021 

£m 
2020

£m

Business closure and sales costs1  (3.5) (32.0)
Fair value reversal of assets held for sale   3.0 –
Impairment of ERP computer software2  – (4.7)
Reversal of impairment of ERP computer software2  – 3.1
Total charge before tax  (0.5) (33.6)
1 Following the announcement of the Group’s intention to exit parts of the Group, a number of charges have been recognised. These primarily consist of the Group’s share 

of net losses on disposal of two sites within the Property division (£2.2m). The prior year charge includes costs of £14.8m in Property, £1.6m in Facilities Management 
and £2.1m in Kier Business Services in relation to closure activities as well as adviser fees of £7.8m.  

2 In the prior year a cost of £4.7m was written-off due to software functionality which was no longer to be utilised within the Group. Software previously impaired is instead 
being utilised and so this element of impairment was reversed. 

(e) Other adjusting items 

Other adjusting items are analysed below: 

Notes 
2021 

£m 
2020

£m

Net financing costs1  (3.2) (5.2)
Legal compliance2  (3.0) (7.6)
GMP Pension charge  9 (0.5) –
Central charges and other items3  – (8.9)
Procurement charge4  – (2.1)
Total charge before tax  (6.7) (23.8)
1 Net financing costs relate to IFRS 16 interest charges on vacated properties (£2.4m) and the write off of unamortised debt arrangement fees following the current year 

refinancing (£0.8m). The prior year charge included the discount unwinding of acquired intangible assets and the recycling of foreign exchange from the translation 
reserve in respect of the Caribbean operations.  

2 The Group has incurred £3.0m (2020: £4.2m) of costs in complying with new fire compliance regulations. The remaining charge in the prior year related to incidents that 
occurred out of period but were notified to the Group within the year and so were treated as adjusting items. 

3 In the prior year central charges and other items included a number of write offs that were recognised following a detailed review of certain carrying values. These were 
not considered to be part of the underlying performance of the business and so were highlighted as adjusting items. 

4 The procurement charge in the prior year related to the write off of certain aged receivables, driven by a management review of contractual terms.  

(f) Taxation 

Adjusting items in respect of taxation are analysed below:  

  2021 
£m 

2020
£m

Deferred tax credit as a result of the change in tax rate1  25.5 –
Tax impact of adjusting items2   12.2 45.5
Other tax charges3  (6.0) –
Total tax credit  31.7 45.5
1 The change in tax rate from 19% to 25% has led to a significant deferred tax credit in the income statement. This is a one-off event that is out of the Group’s control and 

so is considered to be an adjusting item. 
2 The tax impact of the adjusting items charged to continuing operations has also been included as an adjusting item. 
3 Other tax charges primarily consist of the write off of losses in legal entities which have ceased to trade or are going to be wound up and therefore can no longer be 

used within the Group. 

  

Kier Group plc Report and Accounts 2021152



Financial statem
ents

 

  Kier Group plc Report and Accounts 2021  153 

(g) Discontinued operations 

The Group disposed of Kier Living in May 2021. Adjusting items within discontinued operations in relation to this disposal are 
analysed below: 

Notes 
2021

£m
2020

£m

Loss on disposal of Kier Living 33 (12.1) –
Fair value adjustment of Kier Living   – (51.6)
Closure costs relating to non-core businesses1  (1.0) (29.0)
Charges in relation to the Eastern region2  (6.5) –
Other disposal related costs3  (5.2) –
Rationalisation costs  – (2.6)
Inventory write-downs  – (5.4)
Total charge before tax  (24.8) (88.6)
Tax on adjusting items (discontinued)  0.5 –
Total charge after tax  (24.3) (88.6)
1 Costs incurred in respect of Living’s decision to exit the affordable housing market as well as the Welsh and Northern regions. During the year some additional cost was 

recognised in respect of the Welsh region in preparing the business for disposal. 
2 In preparing the Kier Living business for disposal, the Group identified £6.5m of historic costs within a Kier Living joint venture that had built up in prior periods within 

work in progress and that were considered irrecoverable. These were written off in arriving at the loss from discontinued operations in the year. 
3 Other disposal related costs include management incentives and impairment charges as a result of the disposal of Kier Living. 

(h) Adjusted cash flow 

 
 2021

£m
2020

£m

Reported cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities  26.8 (113.2)
Cash outflow from operating activities (adjusting items)   72.1 93.5
Adjusted cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities   98.9 (19.7)

6 COVID-19 

The Group has continued to deal with the impacts of COVID-19 throughout the period. In the prior year, the Group took a number of decisive 
actions as an immediate response to the pandemic in order for the Group to continue to trade. In the current year, some of these measures 
are now considered business as usual, such as social distancing requirements, and many have been priced into customer contracts. In 
addition, the restrictions on the industry in the current year have been less severe than in FY20 and the Group has continued to trade 
through the periods of lockdown. 

As a result, the net impact on the income statement for the year is not material (2020: costs of £45.3m). 

The Group has been eligible to receive Government grants in the form of the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS), a scheme put in 
place to help businesses through the ongoing COVID-19 situation. No claims were made in the current year. See note 8. 

In the prior year, the Group took advantage of the ability to defer certain HMRC payments. The majority of these have been repaid in the 
current financial year. See note 25. 
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7 Finance income and costs  

1 Includes £2.3m (2020: £5.6m) receivable from discontinued operations. The Group disposed of Kier Living in May 2021. No further amounts will be received. 
2 The forward funding interest costs of £8.8m in the year to 30 June 2021 reflect an alignment of the accounting treatment across all forward funding development 

contracts. The charge of £8.8m includes £3.9m that represents a cumulative catch up of interest costs that would have been recognised in previous reporting periods 
if the Group had always applied this accounting treatment to all applicable contracts. An offsetting credit is included within revenue, with a corresponding impact on the 
Group’s operating profit. There is no impact on the statutory profit for the year from continuing operations. 

3 Unwind of discount in respect of acquired intangible assets. 
4 Foreign exchange gains/(losses) arise from movements in cross-currency swaps which hedge the currency risk on foreign denominated borrowings, see note 30. 

  

 
2021  

£m 
2020 

£m

Finance income  
Interest receivable on bank deposits – 0.3
Interest receivable on loans to related parties1 3.7 6.4
 3.7 6.7

Finance costs  
Bank interest (26.0) (23.6)
Forward funding interest2 (8.8) (1.3)
Interest payable on leases  (6.7) (7.2)
Discount unwind3 (1.1) (1.7)
Net interest on net defined benefit obligation 0.9 0.7
Recycling of translation reserve (0.1) (3.3)
Foreign exchange gains/(losses) on foreign denominated borrowings4 15.0 (2.3)
Fair value (losses)/gains on cash flow hedges recycled from other comprehensive income (15.0) 2.3
 (41.8) (36.4)
  
Net finance costs (38.1) (29.7)
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8 Information relating to Directors and employees 

 Notes 
2021 

No.
2020 

No.

Monthly average number of people employed during the year including Executive Directors by 
geographical location was:  
United Kingdom  10,742 13,584
Rest of world  968 1,585
  11,710 15,169

  
Monthly average number of people employed during the year including Executive Directors by 
segment was:  
Infrastructure Services   5,847 6,687
Construction  4,879 7,186
Property  58 69
Corporate  518 644
Discontinued operations  408 583
  11,710 15,169

  
  £m £m

Group staff costs by geographical location are as follows:  
United Kingdom  589.6 686.5
Rest of world  11.5 20.6
  601.1 707.1

  
Group staff costs by segment are as follows:  
Infrastructure Services   292.9 311.6
Construction  233.0 304.9
Property  7.0 7.8
Corporate  40.7 50.1
Discontinued operations  27.5 32.7
  601.1 707.1

  
Comprising:  
Wages and salaries  520.7 618.6
Social security costs  49.4 56.1
Defined benefit pension scheme net credit to the income statement 9 (0.2) (0.5)
Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes  9 24.2 27.5
Share-based payments charge 28 7.0 5.4
  601.1 707.1

The amounts disclosed above are in relation to the entirety of the Group’s Directors and employees, including those employed by the parts 
of the business classified as discontinued operations.  

Information relating to Directors’ emoluments, pension entitlements, share options and LTIP interests appears in the Directors’ 
remuneration report on pages 98 to 117. Redundancy costs incurred during the year of £5.4m (2020: £29.5m) have been classed as 
an adjusting item, see note 5, and are included in the disclosures above.  

The Group was eligible to receive Government grants in the form of the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS), a scheme put in place 
to help businesses through the ongoing COVID-19 situation. Under the CJRS, grant income may be claimed in respect of certain costs to 
the Group of furloughed employees. In FY20, the Group claimed £9.0m through this scheme. No claims were made in the current year. 
The CJRS income reflects the costs incurred that are eligible to be included in CJRS grant claims to the extent the Group considers there 
to be reasonable certainty that the grant will be received. The income was allocated across cost of sales and administrative expenses in 
the income statement to reduce the associated costs. 
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9 Retirement benefit obligations 

The Group operates a number of pension schemes for eligible employees as described below. 

For the defined benefit schemes, the assets of all schemes are held in trust separate from the assets of the Group. The Trustees are 
responsible for investing the assets and delegate day-to-day decisions to independent professional investment managers. The schemes 
are established under UK trust law and have a corporate trustee that is required to run the schemes in accordance with the schemes’ 
Trust Deed and Rules and to comply with all relevant legislation. Responsibility for the governance of the schemes lies with the Trustees. 

The Group has agreed deficit recovery plans with the trustees of each of its defined benefit schemes which constitute minimum funding 
requirements for the purposes of IFRIC 14. These minimum funding requirements do not give rise to any additional liabilities on the Group’s 
balance sheet as the Group has determined that it has a right to benefit from any surplus created by overpaid contributions, through either 
a reduction in future contributions or refunds of the surpluses on winding up of the schemes. Details of the contributions agreed for each 
of the schemes are provided in the individual scheme information sections below.  

The pension obligations of the Group are valued separately for accounting and funding purposes. The accounting valuations under IAS 19 
require ‘best estimate’ assumptions to be used whereas the funding valuations use more prudent assumptions. A further difference arises 
from the differing dates of the valuations. The accounting pension deficit or surplus is calculated at the balance sheet date (30 June) each 
year, whereas the actuarial valuations are carried out on a triennial basis at 31 March, or in the case of one scheme, 31 December. The 
differing bases and timings of the valuations can result in materially different pension deficit amounts. The date of the latest triennial 
funding valuation for each scheme is noted in the individual scheme information sections below. 

On 26 October 2018, the High Court ruled in the Lloyds Banking Group case that pension schemes must equalise Guaranteed Minimum 
Pensions (GMP) between male and female members. As a result of this ruling, a past service cost in respect of GMP equalisation was 
charged to the income statement in the year ended 30 June 2019. A further ruling by the High Court on 20 November 2020, required 
that schemes would also need to equalise the GMP of any ex-members that had transferred their pension out of the scheme since  
17 May 1990. As a result of this further ruling, the Group has made an additional allowance for GMP equalisation and included a 
past service charge of £0.5m in the year which has been treated as an adjusting item, due to its one-off nature. 

The Group incurred fees totalling £4.1m (2020: £4.0m) in respect of the running and administration of the defined benefit schemes. 

Kier Group scheme 

This is the principal scheme and includes a defined benefit section and a defined contribution section. The defined benefit section of the 
scheme was closed to new entrants on 1 January 2002; existing members continued to accrue benefits for service until the scheme was 
closed to future accrual on 28 February 2015. 

The most recent triennial valuation of the Kier Group scheme was carried out by the trustees’ independent actuaries as at 31 March 2019. 
At the valuation date the pension scheme’s assets were less than the technical provisions and therefore the scheme was in deficit.  

The past service deficit contributions paid during the year totalled £13.9m (2020: £12.4m), including an additional payment of £0.5m made 
in respect of the proceeds received from the sale of Kier Living. On 18 September 2020, the Group agreed a revised deficit recovery plan 
with the scheme’s trustees. Under the new agreement, the previously agreed one-off lump sum payment that was due to be paid in the year 
ended 30 June 2021 was no longer payable. Based on the agreed payment plan, the Group expects to make the following contributions 
over the next five years: 

 
2022 

£m
2023 

£m
2024  

£m 
2025 

£m 
2026

£m

Deficit contributions 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5

In addition to the above contributions, the trustees and the Group have agreed that additional deficit contributions will be payable in certain 
circumstances, including in the event of the Group meeting certain financial targets. The Group has also agreed to meet the scheme’s 
expenses including the Pension Protection Fund levy. 

As at 30 June 2021, the scheme had 2,263 deferred members (2020: 2,441), and 2,855 retirees (2020: 2,836). 

The IAS 19 accounting valuation of the Kier Group scheme at 30 June 2021 indicated that the scheme’s assets exceeded its liabilities. 
The Group has recognised the surplus as a retirement benefit pension asset on its balance sheet under IAS 19 and IFRIC 14, as the Group 
has determined that it has a right to benefit from any surplus, through either reduced contributions or a refund of the surplus on winding up 
of the scheme. 
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Other defined benefit schemes 

Acquired with the May Gurney Group 

The May Gurney defined benefit scheme was acquired with May Gurney in the year ended 30 June 2014 and is closed to future accrual. 
The most recent triennial valuation of the May Gurney scheme was carried out by the trustees’ independent actuaries as at 31 March 2019. 
At the valuation date the pension scheme’s assets were less than the technical provisions and therefore the scheme was in deficit. 

The deficit contributions paid in the year ended 30 June 2021 amounted to £4.9m (2020: £2.0m), including an additional payment of 
£2.0m made in respect of the proceeds received from the sale of Kier Living. On 18 September 2020, the Group agreed a revised deficit 
recovery plan with the trustees of the May Gurney scheme. Under the new agreement, the previously agreed one-off lump sum payment that 
was due to be paid in the year ended 30 June 2021 was no longer payable. Based on the revised payment plan, the Group expects to make 
the following contributions over the next five years: 

 
2022 

£m
2023 

£m
2024  

£m 
2025

£m
2026

£m

Deficit contributions 1.9 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.8

In addition to the above contributions, the trustees and the Group have agreed that additional deficit contributions will be payable in certain 
circumstances, including in the event of the Group meeting certain financial targets. The Group has also agreed to meet the scheme’s 
expenses including the Pension Protection Fund levy. 

As at 30 June 2021, the scheme had 285 deferred members (2020: 296) and 287 retirees (2020: 288). 

Acquired with the Mouchel Group 

The Group acquired defined benefit pension schemes with the Mouchel Group. The Mouchel figures comprise four individual pension 
schemes, Mouchel Superannuation Fund, Mouchel Staff Pension Scheme, Mouchel Business Services Limited Pension Scheme (Final 
Salary Section) and EM Highways Prudential Platinum Scheme, which have been grouped together because they were purchased as part 
of the Mouchel Group. The composition of these schemes has not changed since the prior year.  

These schemes were closed to new entrants in 2001 and were closed to future accrual between 2010 and 2017, with the exception of the 
EM Highways Prudential Platinum Scheme which remains open to future accrual. 

The EM Highways Prudential Platinum Scheme is a multi-employer scheme, however, Kier’s share is separately identifiable. Therefore, the 
charge for the period is determined by reference to the change in valuation of this separate section. The EM Highways scheme was formally 
valued by independent actuaries as at 31 December 2018. At the valuation date the assets of the pension scheme were greater than the 
technical provisions and therefore the scheme had a funding surplus. The trustees therefore agreed a new schedule of contributions with 
Kier in January 2020 that no longer required contributions to the past deficit. 

The most recent triennial valuations of the remaining Mouchel schemes were carried out by the trustees’ independent actuaries as at 
31 March 2019. At the valuation date the assets of each of the pension schemes were less than the respective technical provisions 
and therefore the schemes were in deficit.  

The aggregate contributions payable in the year ended 30 June 2021 to the Mouchel schemes amounted to £17.0m (2020: £9.4m) 
which included regular contributions of £9.6m (2020: £9.2m) to fund the past service deficit and additional deficit payments totalling 
£7.2m across the Mouchel schemes made in respect of the proceeds received from the sale of Kier Living. On 18 September 2020, the 
Group agreed revised deficit recovery plans with the trustees of the Mouchel Superannuation Fund, Mouchel Staff Pension Scheme and 
Mouchel Business Services Limited Pension Scheme (Final Salary Section). Under the new agreements, the previously agreed one-off lump 
sum payments that were due to be paid in the year ended 30 June 2021 were no longer payable. Based on the revised payment plans the 
Group expects to make the following combined contributions over the next five years: 

 
2022 

£m
2023 

£m
2024  

£m 
2025

£m
2026

£m

Deficit contributions 7.0 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5

In addition to the above contributions, the trustees and the Group have agreed that additional deficit contributions will be payable in certain 
circumstances, including in the event of the Group meeting certain financial targets. The Group has also agreed to meet the schemes’ 
expenses including the Pension Protection Fund levy. 

As at 30 June 2021, the Mouchel schemes had a total of 18 active members (2020: 18), 1,684 deferred members (2020: 1,766), and 
1,622 retirees (2020: 1,583).  
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9 Retirement benefit obligations continued 

The IAS 19 accounting valuation at 30 June 2021 of the Mouchel Business Services Limited Pension Scheme (Final Salary Section) and 
EM Highways Prudential Platinum Scheme indicated that the assets of each of these schemes exceeded their respective scheme liabilities. 
The Group has recognised these surpluses as retirement benefit assets on its balance sheet under IAS 19 and IFRIC 14, as the Group has 
determined that it has a right to benefit from any surplus, through either reduced contributions or a refund of the surpluses on winding up of 
the schemes. 

Acquired with the McNicholas Group 

The McNicholas defined benefit pension scheme was acquired with the McNicholas Group in the year ended 30 June 2018. The scheme is 
closed to new entrants and no benefits have accrued since 30 April 2012. 

The most recent triennial valuation of the McNicholas scheme was carried out by the trustees’ independent actuaries as at 31 March 2020. 

The deficit contributions payable in the year ended 30 June 2021 amounted to £1.2m (2020: £1.2m). In June 2021, the Group agreed 
a revised deficit recovery plan with the trustees of the McNicholas scheme. Based on this payment plan the Group expects to make the 
following contributions over the next five years: 

 
2022 

£m
2023 

£m
2024  

£m 
2025 

£m 
2026

£m

Deficit contributions 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2 0.3

In addition to the above contributions, all of the scheme’s expenses including the Pension Protection Fund levy are met by the Group. 

As at 30 June 2021, the scheme had a total of 57 deferred members (2020: 57) and 79 retirees (2020: 79). 

Other defined contribution schemes 

Contributions are also made to a number of other defined contribution arrangements. The Group paid contributions to these arrangements 
of £24.2m (2020: £27.5m) during the year. 

The Group makes contributions to local Government defined benefit pension schemes in respect of certain employees who have transferred 
to the Group under TUPE transfer arrangements. The Group is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities in the 
schemes on a consistent and reasonable basis and consequently the pension costs for these schemes are treated as if they were 
defined contribution schemes. 

IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ disclosures 

The Group recognises any actuarial gains or losses through the statement of comprehensive income as required under IAS 19. 

The weighted average duration of the schemes’ liabilities is 18 years (2020: 19 years). 

The principal assumptions used by the independent qualified actuaries are shown below. This set of assumptions was used to value all of 
the defined benefit schemes, and has been based on the weighted average duration of the schemes’ liabilities. 

 2021  
% 

2020 
%

Discount rate 1.90 1.60
Inflation rate (Retail Price Index (RPI)) 3.15 2.85
Inflation rate (Consumer Price Index (CPI)) 2.60 1.95
Rate of general increases in pensionable salaries 3.15 2.85
Rate of increase in pensions payments liable for Limited Price Indexation:  
– RPI subject to a minimum of 0% and a maximum of 5% 3.05 2.80
– RPI subject to a minimum of 0% and a maximum of 2.5% 2.15 2.05
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The mortality assumptions used were as follows: 

 
2021 
years

2020 
years

Life expectancy for a male/female currently aged 60 
– Kier Group scheme 27.4 / 29.1 27.4 / 29.0
– May Gurney scheme 27.2 / 29.9 27.2 / 29.8
– Mouchel schemes (weighted average of the four schemes) 27.4 / 29.5 27.3 / 29.3
– McNicholas scheme 26.8 / 29.4 26.5 / 28.6
Life expectancy for a male/female member aged 60, in 20 years’ time 
– Kier Group scheme 28.7 / 30.6 28.7 / 30.5 
– May Gurney scheme 28.8 / 30.8 28.7 / 30.8
– Mouchel schemes (weighted average of the four schemes) 28.5 / 30.3 28.4 / 30.3
– McNicholas scheme 28.3 / 30.8 28.0 / 30.2

The assets, liabilities and net pension liabilities for the defined benefit arrangements are shown below. The assets are invested with 
professional investment managers and are measured based on quoted market valuations at the balance sheet date, except for land and 
property investments that are not held in unitised funds, which are valued based on the latest available professional valuation in accordance 
with RICS standards. 

 2021 2020 

 

Kier 
Group  

£m 

May 
Gurney 

£m 
Mouchel

£m
McNicholas 

£m
Total 

£m

Kier
Group 

£m

May 
Gurney 

£m 
Mouchel 

£m 
McNicholas 

£m
Total 

£m

Equities 415.8 9.0 60.4 – 485.2 426.4 14.6 77.7 – 518.7
Corporate bonds 795.8 4.8 90.0 5.8 896.4 815.9 5.3 92.8 19.9 933.9
Cash 20.4 16.3 83.5 0.3 120.5 16.0 12.4 90.4 0.4 119.2
Land and property – – 3.0 0.1 3.1 – – 2.9 0.1 3.0
Absolute return 41.2 10.6 24.4 – 76.2 42.2 10.4 23.6 – 76.2
Annuity policies – 1.1 – – 1.1 – 1.1 – – 1.1
Multi-asset – 6.9 38.5 20.1 65.5 – 6.0 31.8 7.1 44.9
Liability-driven investments – 36.4 225.5 – 261.9 – 33.7 207.2 – 240.9
Total market value of assets 1,273.2 85.1 525.3 26.3 1,909.9 1,300.5 83.5 526.4 27.5 1,937.9
Present value of liabilities (1,194.6) (86.4) (549.8) (32.9) (1,863.7) (1,210.7) (88.7) (564.5) (35.2) (1,899.1)
Surplus/(deficit) 78.6 (1.3) (24.5) (6.6) 46.2 89.8 (5.2) (38.1) (7.7) 38.8
Related deferred tax 
(liability)/asset (19.7) 0.1 5.4 1.6 (12.6) (17.1) 1.0 7.2 1.5 (7.4)
Net pension asset/(liability) 58.9 (1.2) (19.1) (5.0) 33.6 72.7 (4.2) (30.9) (6.2) 31.4
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9 Retirement benefit obligations continued  

Amounts recognised in the financial statements in respect of these defined benefit schemes are as follows: 

 2021 2020 

 

Kier 
Group  

£m 

May  
Gurney 

£m 
Mouchel

£m
McNicholas 

£m
Total 

£m

Kier
Group 

£m

May  
Gurney 

£m 
Mouchel 

£m 
McNicholas 

£m
Total 

£m

(Charged)/credited to operating 
profit in the income statement     

Current service cost – – (0.2) – (0.2) – – (0.2) – (0.2)

Past service cost (0.4) – (0.1) – (0.5) – – – – –
Net interest on net defined benefit 
obligation 1.5 – (0.5) (0.1) 0.9 1.0 0.1 (0.3) (0.1) 0.7
Pension income/(expense) 
recognised in the income 
statement 1.1 – (0.8) (0.1) 0.2 1.0 0.1 (0.5) (0.1) 0.5

Remeasurement in 
comprehensive loss     
Actual return (less)/greater than 
that recognised in net interest (14.3) (1.8) (10.5) – (26.6) 134.4 6.6 34.3 2.3 177.6
Actuarial (losses)/gains due to 
changes in financial assumptions (24.9) (0.4) 0.6 0.9 (23.8) (118.5) (9.2) (58.1) (3.8) (189.6)
Actuarial gains /(losses) due to 
changes in demographic 
assumptions 1.3 0.1 1.0 (1.0) 1.4 (3.9) (2.4) (27.5) (0.6) (34.4)
Actuarial gains/(losses) due to 
liability experience 11.7 1.1 6.3 0.1 19.2 25.0 (3.7) 18.9 – 40.2

Total amount recognised in full (26.2) (1.0) (2.6) – (29.8) 37.0 (8.7) (32.4) (2.1) (6.2)
Changes in the fair value of 
scheme assets     

Fair value at 1 July 1,300.5 83.5 526.4 27.5 1,937.9 1,189.8 81.0 492.6 26.0 1,789.4

Interest income on scheme assets 20.5 1.4 8.4 0.4 30.7 26.8 1.8 11.2 0.6 40.4
Remeasurement (losses)/gains on 
scheme assets (14.3) (1.8) (10.5) – (26.6) 134.4 6.6 34.3 2.3 177.6

Contributions by the employer 13.9 4.9 17.0 1.2 37.0 12.4 2.0 9.4 1.2 25.0

Net benefits paid out (47.4) (2.9) (16.0) (2.8) (69.1) (62.9) (7.9) (21.1) (2.6) (94.5)

Fair value at 30 June 1,273.2 85.1 525.3 26.3 1,909.9 1,300.5 83.5 526.4 27.5 1,937.9
Changes in the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation     

Fair value at 1 July (1,210.7) (88.7) (564.5) (35.2) (1,899.1) (1,150.4) (79.6) (507.2) (32.7) (1,769.9)

Current service cost – – (0.2) – (0.2) – – (0.2) – (0.2)
Interest expense on scheme (19.0) (1.4) (8.9) (0.5) (29.8) (25.8) (1.7) (11.5) (0.7) (39.7)

Past service cost (0.4) – (0.1) – (0.5) – – – – –
Actuarial (losses)/gains due to 
changes in financial assumptions (24.9) (0.4) 0.6 0.9 (23.8) (118.5) (9.2) (58.1) (3.8) (189.6)
Actuarial gains/(losses) due to 
changes in demographic 
assumptions 1.3 0.1 1.0 (1.0) 1.4 (3.9) (2.4) (27.5) (0.6) (34.4)
Actuarial gains/(losses) due to 
liability experience 11.7 1.1 6.3 0.1 19.2 25.0 (3.7) 18.9 – 40.2

Net benefits paid out 47.4 2.9 16.0 2.8 69.1 62.9 7.9 21.1 2.6 94.5

Fair value at 30 June (1,194.6) (86.4) (549.8) (32.9) (1,863.7) (1,210.7) (88.7) (564.5) (35.2) (1,899.1)
Amounts included in the balance 
sheet     

Fair value of scheme assets 1,273.2 85.1 525.3 26.3 1,909.9 1,300.5 83.5 526.4 27.5 1,937.9
Net present value of the defined 
benefit obligation (1,194.6) (86.4) (549.8) (32.9) (1,863.7) (1,210.7) (88.7) (564.5) (35.2) (1,899.1)

Net surplus/(deficit) 78.6 (1.3) (24.5) (6.6) 46.2 89.8 (5.2) (38.1) (7.7) 38.8
Related deferred tax (19.7) 0.1 5.4 1.6 (12.6) (17.1) 1.0 7.2 1.5 (7.4)

Net pension asset/(liability) 58.9 (1.2) (19.1) (5.0) 33.6 72.7 (4.2) (30.9) (6.2) 31.4
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The net surplus/(deficit) above is split between retirement benefit assets and obligations in the statement of financial position as follows: 

 2021 2020 

 
Kier 

Group  
£m 

May  
Gurney 

£m 
Mouchel

£m
McNicholas 

£m
Total 

£m

Kier
Group 

£m

May  
Gurney 

£m 
Mouchel 

£m 
McNicholas 

£m
Total 

£m

Retirement benefit assets 78.6 – 8.6 – 87.2 89.8 – 9.7 – 99.5
Retirement benefit obligation – (1.3) (33.1) (6.6) (41.0) – (5.2) (47.8) (7.7) (60.7)
Net surplus/(deficit) 78.6 (1.3) (24.5) (6.6) 46.2 89.8 (5.2) (38.1) (7.7) 38.8

The movements in the net retirement benefit surplus/(deficit) are summarised as follows: 

 2021 2020 

 

Kier 
Group  

£m 

May  
Gurney 

£m 
Mouchel

£m
McNicholas 

£m
Total 

£m

Kier
Group 

£m

May  
Gurney 

£m 
Mouchel 

£m 
McNicholas 

£m
Total 

£m

Opening net surplus/(deficit) 89.8 (5.2) (38.1) (7.7) 38.8 39.4 1.4 (14.6) (6.7) 19.5
Current service cost – – (0.2) – (0.2) – – (0.2) – (0.2)
Past service cost  (0.4) – (0.1) – (0.5) – – – – –
Net interest on net defined 
benefit obligation 1.5 – (0.5) (0.1) 0.9 1.0 0.1 (0.3) (0.1) 0.7
Contributions by the employer 13.9 4.9 17.0 1.2 37.0 12.4 2.0 9.4 1.2 25.0
Actual return (less)/greater 
than that recognised in net 
interest (14.3) (1.8) (10.5) – (26.6) 134.4 6.6 34.3 2.3 177.6
Actuarial (losses)/gains due to 
changes in financial 
assumptions (24.9) (0.4) 0.6 0.9 (23.8) (118.5) (9.2) (58.1) (3.8) (189.6)
Actuarial gains/(losses) due to 
changes in demographic 
assumptions 1.3 0.1 1.0 (1.0) 1.4 (3.9) (2.4) (27.5) (0.6) (34.4)
Actuarial gains/(losses) due to 
liability experience 11.7 1.1 6.3 0.1 19.2 25.0 (3.7) 18.9 – 40.2
Closing net surplus/(deficit) 78.6 (1.3) (24.5) (6.6) 46.2 89.8 (5.2) (38.1) (7.7) 38.8

History of experience gains and losses for defined benefit schemes in aggregate: 

 2021
£m

2020 
£m

2019  
£m 

2018 
£m

2017 
£m

Fair value of scheme assets 1,909.9 1,937.9 1,789.4 1,681.2 1,636.8
Net present value of the defined benefit obligation (1,863.7) (1,899.1) (1,769.9) (1,673.3) (1,721.4)
Net surplus/(deficit) 46.2 38.8 19.5 7.9 (84.6)
Related deferred tax (liability)/asset (12.6) (7.4) (3.3) (1.3) 14.4
Net pension asset/(liability) 33.6 31.4 16.2 6.6 (70.2)

Difference between expected and actual return on scheme assets (26.6) 177.6 113.9 19.2 71.9
Experience gains/(losses) on scheme liabilities 19.2 40.2 (5.6) (0.7) 0.1

Risk exposure 

As IAS 19 actual assumptions are driven by market conditions, there is a risk that significant changes in financial market conditions could 
lead to volatility in the defined benefit obligation disclosed in the balance sheet from year to year. In addition, the asset position may also 
be volatile as it will be influenced by changes in market conditions. However, the risk of significant changes to the overall balance sheet 
position has been mitigated to an extent due to the asset hedging strategies in place for the schemes as described below. 

The following schemes: Kier Group Pension Scheme, May Gurney Pension Scheme, Mouchel Business Services Limited Pension Scheme 
(Final Salary Section), Mouchel Superannuation Fund and Mouchel Staff Pension Scheme (the ‘Schemes’), have aligned their investments 
so that the liability hedging instruments are managed by BMO including cash, physical gilts, gilt repurchase agreements as well as interest 
and inflation swaps. In combination, the liability hedging assets are designed to hedge each Scheme’s sensitivity to changes in interest rate 
and inflation by 100% of the value of the technical provisions liabilities. 

The Kier Group Pension Scheme uses a combination of GBP hedged share classes and a currency hedging strategy in place with SSGA to 
hedge its currency risk. As at 31 March 2021 (the scheme’s year-end date), SSGA was used to hedge 100% exposure to two global property 
and one hedge fund allocation, all denominated in US dollars. The only unhedged currency exposure the scheme has relates to an equity 
derivative structure which matures in September 2021, denominated in US dollars (the unhedged currency exposure relates to the value 
of the derivatives which have a small maximum value relative to the size of the scheme). 
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9 Retirement benefit obligations continued  

The remainder of the Schemes primarily use GBP hedged share classes to manage their currency exposure. The unhedged currency 
exposures mainly relate to a global property allocation denominated in US dollars and an equity derivative structure which matures in 
September 2021, denominated in US dollars (the unhedged currency exposure has a small value relative to the size of the Schemes). 

Pension sensitivity 

The following tables show the change in the net surplus or deficit arising from a change in the significant actuarial assumptions used to 
determine the retirement benefit obligations: 

Kier Group scheme: 2021  2020 

 +0.25%/+1 year
£m

-0.25%/-1 year
£m  

+0.25%/+1 year 
£m 

-0.25%/-1 year
£m

Discount rate (+/-0.25%) 48.0 (51.0)  49.5 (52.6)
Inflation rate (+/-0.25%) (36.2) 38.1  (41.7) 36.8
Members assumed to be one year older/younger in age (+/-1 year) 45.2 (45.8)  45.3 (39.8)
    

May Gurney defined benefit scheme: 2021  2020 

 +0.25%/+1 year
£m

-0.25%/-1 year
£m  

+0.25%/+1 year 
£m 

-0.25%/-1 year
£m

Discount rate (+/-0.25%) 3.8 (4.0)  4.0 (4.2)
Inflation rate (+/-0.25%) (2.9) 2.4  (2.8) 2.6
Members assumed to be one year older/younger in age (+/-1 year) 3.3 (3.4)  3.5 (3.5)
    

Mouchel defined benefit schemes: 2021  2020 

 +0.25%/+1 year
£m

-0.25%/-1 year
£m  

+0.25%/+1 year 
£m 

-0.25%/-1 year
£m

Discount rate (+/-0.25%) 23.6 (25.1)  25.0 (26.7)
Inflation rate (+/-0.25%) (18.6) 15.5  (17.5) 16.8
Members assumed to be one year older/younger in age (+/-1 year) 20.0 (20.2)  20.8 (21.1)
    

McNicholas defined benefit scheme: 2021  2020 

 +0.25%/+1 year
£m

-0.25%/-1 year
£m  

+0.25%/+1 year 
£m 

-0.25%/-1 year
£m

Discount rate (+/-0.25%) 1.4 (1.5)  1.5 (1.6)
Inflation rate (+/-0.25%) (0.4) 0.4  (0.5) 0.6
Members assumed to be one year older/younger in age (+/-1 year) 1.6 (1.6)  1.5 (1.5)

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on reasonably possible changes in the respective assumptions occurring at 
the end of the reporting period and may not be representative of the actual change, which is based on a change in a key assumption while 
holding all other assumptions constant. When calculating the sensitivity to the assumption, the same method used to calculate the liability 
recognised in the balance sheet has been applied. The inflation sensitivities shown above include the impact of both RPI and CPI inflation. 
The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analyses did not change compared with the previous year. 
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10 Taxation  

Taxation in respect of continuing operations is analysed below. Taxation that is relevant to discontinued operations is considered 
within note 23. 

(a) Recognised in the income statement 

 2021
£m

2020
£m

Current tax expense credit 
UK corporation tax 4.2 2.8
Adjustments in respect of prior years 1.0 (2.0)
Total current tax 5.2 0.8
Deferred tax credit 
Origination and reversal of temporary differences – (49.7)
Adjustments in respect of prior years 2.9 (3.6)
Rate change effect on deferred tax (25.5) (0.9)
Total deferred tax (22.6) (54.2)
Total tax credit in the income statement (17.4) (53.4)

Reconciliation of effective tax rate 
Profit/(loss) before tax 5.6 (225.3)
Tax on joint ventures included above (1.4) (1.4)
Profit/(loss) before tax including joint ventures 4.2 (226.7)
Income tax at UK corporation tax rate of 19.0% (2020: 19.0%) 0.8 (43.1)
Non-deductible expenses and unusable tax losses 0.8 3.2
Income not taxable (0.9) –
Group relief not paid for with asset held for sale companies – (10.2)
Effect of change in UK corporation tax rate (25.5) (0.9)
Share-based payment deduction – 1.0
Utilisation of tax losses 3.1 0.8
Adjustments in respect of prior years 2.9 (5.6)
Total tax (including joint ventures) (18.8) (54.8)
Tax on joint ventures 1.4 1.4
Group tax credit from continuing operations (17.4) (53.4)

Kier Group and its subsidiaries are based predominantly in the UK and are subject to UK corporation tax. However, the Group does operate 
and pay taxes in jurisdictions where the tax rate is higher than the UK’s statutory rate. The Group does not have an aggressive tax policy and 
since 1 July 2012 Kier has not entered into any tax avoidance schemes which were or should have been notified under the Disclosure of Tax 
Avoidance Scheme (DOTAS) rules. 

The Group tax credit before tax on joint ventures of £18.8m (2020: £54.8m) shown in the table above equates to an effective tax rate 
of 447.6% (2020: 24.2%) on profit before tax including joint ventures of £4.2m (2020: £226.7m loss). This effective rate is different from 
the standard rate of corporation tax of 19.0% (2020: 19.0%) due to items shown in the table above. The non-deductible expenses included 
before adjusting items mainly relate to depreciation on non-qualifying assets, entertaining and legal and professional fees not eligible for 
tax relief. 
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10 Taxation continued 

In accordance with UK tax legislation, capital gains arising on disposal of certain investments, including some of the joint ventures disposed 
of during the year, are not subject to tax. 

Tax relief on expenses not recognised in the income statement includes the impact of the tax deduction received in respect of the cost of 
shares exercised under the Group’s employee Save As You Earn scheme and Long-Term Incentive Plan. 

The Group provides for future liabilities in respect of uncertain tax positions where additional tax may become payable in future periods 
and such provisions are based on management’s assessment of exposure. At the balance sheet date, a deferred tax liability of £2.0m 
(2020: £2.0m) has been recognised in respect of uncertain tax positions. 

The net charge of £3.9m (2020: £5.6m credit) in respect of prior years’ results arise from differences between the estimates of taxation 
included in the previous years’ financial statements and the actual tax liabilities calculated in the tax returns submitted to and agreed 
by HMRC. 

(b) Recognised in the cash flow statement 

The cash flow statement shows cash received of £11.2m during the year (2020: £5.9m). 

(c) Recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 

 2021 
£m 

2020
£m

Deferred tax (credit)/charge (including effect of change in tax rate)   
Fair value movements on cash flow hedging instruments (0.3) 0.7
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes (4.8) (6.4)
Total tax credit in the statement of comprehensive income (5.1) (5.7)

The deferred tax movements on the defined benefit pension scheme comprised £5.9m credit (2020: £1.1m) on current year actuarial 
movements and £1.1m charge (2020: £5.3m credit) in respect of the movements in tax rates at which deferred tax is being recognised. 

(d) Factors that may affect future tax charges 

The deferred tax balance as at the year end has mainly been recognised at 25.0% (2020: 19%), which is the enacted corporation tax rate 
effective from 1 April 2023. The deferred tax which is expected to be reversed before at a rate of 19% has been calculated as £8.4m and 
has been reflected in the closing deferred tax balance. 

Further disclosures in respect of the recoverability of the deferred tax asset have been included in note 18. 

(e) Tax losses 

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of £659.9m (2020: £667.9m) available for offset against future profits. 
A deferred tax asset has been recognised on £452.3m (2020: £497.8m) of these losses. 

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams against 
which these losses could be offset. Under present tax legislation, these losses may be carried forward indefinitely. 

(f) RDEC 

The Research and Development Expenditure Credit (RDEC) of £13.3m was included in operating profit during the year (2020: £10.2m). 
Included in the corporation tax asset at 30 June 2021 were RDEC receivables of £12.4m (2020: £13.6m). 
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11 Dividends 

The Group’s focus on cash generation and reducing net debt has required a suspension in dividend payments. No interim or final dividends 
have been declared during the year (2020: £nil).  

The parent company of the Group, Kier Group plc, is a non-trading holding company which derives its distributable reserves in part from 
dividends received from its subsidiaries. In determining the level of dividend payable in any year, in addition to the stated policy, the Board 
considers a number of other factors, including the following: 

› the level of distributable reserves in the parent company, Kier Group plc; 
› the level of distributable reserves in Kier Group plc’s subsidiaries that are available to be distributed to Kier Group plc; 
› the availability of cash resources; 
› the Group’s borrowing covenants; 
› future cash commitments and investment plans to support the long-term growth of the Group; and 
› potential strategic opportunities under consideration. 

The Board reviews the level of distributable reserves in the parent company at least twice a year ahead of announcing proposed interim and 
final dividends.  

Distributable reserves can be significantly impacted by movements in pension liabilities. The reserves of Kier Group plc are not directly 
affected by these movements as the pension surpluses and liabilities are on the balance sheets of a certain number of the Company’s 
subsidiaries. However, movements in the pension liabilities do have an effect on the level of distributable reserves in Kier Group plc’s 
subsidiaries that are available to be paid up to the parent. Actuarial gains only increase the distributable reserves to the extent that 
they represent reversals of previous actuarial losses, otherwise they are treated as unrealised and are not distributable.  
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12 Earnings/(losses) per share 

A reconciliation of loss and earnings per share, as reported in the income statement, to profit and earnings per share before adjusting 
items is set out below. The disclosure is made to illustrate the impact of adjusting items. 

 2021  20203 

Earnings/(losses) 
Basic

£m
Diluted 

£m  
Basic 

£m 
Diluted

£m

Continuing operations    
Profit/(loss) (after tax and minority interests), being net losses attributable to 
equity holders of the parent 24.3 24.3  (171.9) (171.9)
Impact of adjusting items net of tax1:    
Amortisation of intangible assets – net of tax credit of £4.0m (2020: £4.5m) 17.0 17.0  19.2 19.2
Acquisition discount unwind – net of tax credit of £nil (2020: £0.3m)2 – –  1.2 1.2
Other adjusting items – net of tax credit of £27.7m (2020: £40.7m credit) 11.1 11.1  176.2 176.2
Earnings from continuing operations before adjusting items 52.4 52.4  24.7 24.7
Discontinued operations    
Losses (after tax and non-controlling interests), being net loss attributable to 
equity holders of the parent (0.3) (0.3)  (12.8) (12.8)
Adjusting items from discontinued operations (24.3) (24.3)  (88.6) (88.6)
Loss from discontinued operations (24.6) (24.6)  (101.4) (101.4)
    
 Million Million  Million Million

Weighted average number of shares used for earnings per share 210.3 212.3  201.6 201.6

   
 2021  2020 

Earnings/(losses) per share 
Basic
pence

Diluted 
pence  

Basic 
pence 

Diluted
pence

Continuing operations    
Profit/(loss) (after tax and minority interests), being net losses attributable to 
equity holders of the parent 11.6 11.4  (85.3) (85.3)
Impact of adjusting items net of tax1:    
Amortisation of intangible assets 8.1 8.0  9.5 9.5
Acquisition discount unwind2 – –  0.6 0.6
Other adjusting items  5.3 5.2  87.4 87.4
Earnings from continuing operations before adjusting items 25.0 24.6  12.2 12.2
Discontinued operations    
Losses (after tax and minority interests), being net losses attributable to equity 
holders of the parent (0.1) (0.1)  (6.3) (6.3)
Adjusting items from discontinued operations (11.6) (11.4)  (43.9) (43.9)
Loss from discontinued operations (11.7) (11.5)  (50.2) (50.2)
    
Total (losses)/earnings per share    
Statutory (0.1) (0.1)  (135.5) (135.5)
Before adjusting items1 24.9 24.5  5.9 5.9
1 See note 5 for reference to adjusting items. 
2 Unwind of discount in respect of deferred consideration. 
3 Earnings per share has been re-presented in the comparative information as a result of the equity raise which completed on 18 June 2021, see note 27. 

Options granted to employees under the Sharesave, CSAP and LTIP schemes are considered to be potential ordinary shares. They have 
been included in the determination of diluted earnings per share if the required performance obligations would have been met based on 
the Group’s performance up to the reporting date, and to the extent to which they are dilutive. The options have not been included in the 
determination of basic earnings per share. Details relating to the share option schemes are set out in note 28. 
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13 Intangible assets 

 
Goodwill

£m

Intangible 
contract rights 

£m 

Computer
software1

£m 
Total

£m

Cost  
At 1 July 2019 544.7 259.4 155.0 959.1
Additions – – 4.0 4.0
Disposals – – (20.1) (20.1)
Transfers to property, plant and equipment – – (8.7) (8.7)
Transfers to assets held for sale (5.9) – (4.8) (10.7)
At 30 June 2020 538.8 259.4 125.4 923.6

Additions – – 3.1 3.1
Disposals – – (1.1) (1.1)
Transfers from property, plant and equipment – – 0.9 0.9
At 30 June 2021 538.8 259.4 128.3 926.5

  
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  
At 1 July 2019 (8.0) (111.0) (73.4) (192.4)
Charge for the year – (23.7) (11.0) (34.7)
Disposals – – 15.1 15.1
Transfers to assets held for sale 5.9 – 3.1 9.0
At 30 June 2020 (2.1) (134.7) (66.2) (203.0)
Charge for the year – (21.0) (8.3) (29.3)
Impairment reversal2 – – 2.4 2.4
Disposals – – 0.6 0.6
At 30 June 2021 (2.1) (155.7) (71.5) (229.3)

  
Net book value  
At 30 June 2021 536.7 103.7 56.8 697.2
At 30 June 2020 536.7 124.7 59.2 720.6
1 Computer software mainly relates to the Group’s ERP implementation which was completed in FY19 and is being amortised.  
2 Impairment relating to a prior year disposal has been reversed during the year. 

Goodwill largely relates to the Infrastructure Services cash generating unit (CGU) and has been built up through acquisitions, primarily 
MRBL Limited (Mouchel Group) (£299.2m), May Gurney Integrated Services PLC (£194.7m) and McNicholas Construction Holdings 
Limited (£42.8m). These balances have been subject to an annual impairment review based upon the projected profits of each CGU.  

The intangible contract rights were recognised on the acquisition of: 

› North Tyneside Council – Cost £7.2m (2020: £7.2m). Net book value £nil (2020: £nil).  
› Stewart Milne – Cost £1.0m (2020: £1.0m). Net book value £0.1m (2020: £0.1m). 
› May Gurney Integrated Services plc – Cost £106.8m (2020: £106.8m). Net book value £45.4m (2020: £53.1m). 
› MRBL Limited (Mouchel Group) – Cost £127.1m (2020: £127.1m). Net book value £56.7m (2020: £68.1m).  
› McNicholas Construction (Holdings) Limited – Cost £12.1m (2020: £12.1m). Net book value £0.2m (2020: £1.9m). 
› Kier Education Services Limited – Cost £2.8m (2020: £2.8m). Net book value £nil (2020: £nil). 
› Certain business and assets of Babcock Civil Infrastructure Limited – Cost £1.6m (2020: £1.6m). Net book value £1.3m (2020: £1.4m). 
› Solum Regeneration LLP joint venture – Cost £0.4m (2020: £0.4m). Net book value £nil (2020: £nil). 
› Watford Health Campus LLP joint venture – Cost £0.4m (2020: £0.4m). Net book value £nil (2020: £0.1m). 

Contract rights on May Gurney and Mouchel are amortised on a straight-line basis over the expected total contract duration. All other 
contract rights are amortised on a straight-line basis over the remaining contract life. 
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13 Intangible assets continued 

Carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible contract rights by CGU 

 2021 2020 

 
Goodwill

£m

Intangible 
contract

rights
£m

Total
£m

Goodwill 
£m 

Intangible 
contract 

rights 
£m 

Total
£m

Infrastructure Services 516.3 102.2 618.5 516.3 123.0 639.3
Construction 20.4 1.5 21.9 20.4 1.6 22.0
Property – – – – 0.1 0.1
 536.7 103.7 640.4 536.7 124.7 661.4

For impairment testing purposes, the goodwill has been allocated to the above three CGUs, being the lowest level at which management 
monitors goodwill. Following a change in reporting structure, the Group has reviewed the carrying value of goodwill to these CGUs as 
disclosed in note 3. The recoverable amount of the goodwill and intangibles has been determined based on value in use calculations, 
which use cash flow projections based on the Group’s forecasts approved by management, covering a three-year period. 

Goodwill allocated to the Construction CGU is not significant in comparison to the Group’s total goodwill. 

The resulting cash flows are discounted to present value, with the discount rate used in the value in use calculations based on the Group’s 
weighted average cost of capital, adjusted as necessary to reflect the risk associated with the assets being tested.  

The cost of equity is calculated using observable market data from the Group’s competitors. This data is used to calculate an average 
unlevered beta value after excluding any outliers. The average beta is then applied to the UK’s equity risk premium and a risk free rate added.  

The cost of debt is calculated by taking the weighted average interest rate of the Group’s debt and adjusting for the tax rate.  

The cost of equity and cost of debt are then combined using the Group’s debt/equity split. Finally, a risk premium specific to the Group is 
added to calculate the weighted average cost of capital. Pre-tax discount rates have been applied to the cash flows for each CGU that are 
derived from the Group’s weighted average cost of capital of 9.1% (2020: 9.7%). 

The key assumptions in the value in use calculations are the forecast revenues and operating margins, the discount rates applied to future 
cash flows and the terminal growth rate assumptions applied. 

Infrastructure Services CGU 

Forecast revenue growth rates and operating profit margins are based on historical experience, adjusted for the impact of expected 
changes to contract portfolio and profitability. A 2% revenue growth rate has been used from year four onwards in line with long-term inflation 
expectations for the UK. Based on the value in use calculation, these assumptions detailed below derived a recoverable amount for the 
Infrastructure Services CGU that is £117.0m (2020: £32.6m) above the carrying value of CGU assets. 

The Infrastructure Services CGU impairment review is sensitive to changes in the following key assumptions: discount rate, revenue growth 
rate, operating margin and perpetual growth rates. Management considers that a reasonably possible change in any single assumption 
could give rise to an impairment of the carrying value of goodwill and intangibles.  

Forecast revenue growth rates from FY22 to FY24 range from 2.3% to 31.8% (2020: FY21 to FY23 range from 6.2% to 25.1%) which 
includes, in particular, the impact of the Group’s HS2 contract. A reduction of 5.1% (2020: 1.6%) to the average growth rate would be 
required for headroom to be eliminated. A 0.5% reduction in growth rate in each year would reduce headroom by £12.0m (2020: £10.5m). 

A terminal revenue growth rate of 2.0% (2020: 1.5%) has been applied into perpetuity. This would need to reduce by 1.5% (2020: 0.5%) to 
eliminate headroom. A 0.5% reduction would reduce headroom by £42.8m (2020: £32.6m). 

Forecast operating margins from FY22 to FY24 are 4.4% each year (2020: FY21 to FY23 range from 3.7% to 4.1%). A reduction of 2.3% 
(2020: 0.6%) in operating margin would be required to eliminate headroom. A 0.5% reduction in margins would result in a reduction in 
headroom of £25.0m (2020: £25.3m). 

A fixed operating margin of 4.4%, consistent with the margin in FY24, has been applied into perpetuity. A reduction of 0.7% (2020: 0.2%) in 
margin would be required to eliminate headroom. A 0.5% reduction in operating margin would reduce headroom by £87.3m (2020: result in 
an impairment of £50.8m). 

The pre-tax discount rate used is 11.2% (2020: 11.7%). An increase in discount rate of 1.3% (2020: 0.4%) would eliminate headroom. 
A 0.5% increase in discount rate would reduce headroom by £49.8m (2020: result in an impairment of £8.1m). 
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14 Property, plant and equipment 

 

Land and 
buildings

£m

Plant and 
equipment 

£m 

Mining
asset3

£m 
Total

£m

Cost  
At 30 June 2019 62.2 80.1 4.8 147.1
Impact of adopting IFRS 162 (4.2) (35.2) – (39.4)
At 1 July 2019 58.0 44.9 4.8 107.7
Additions 1.6 2.2 – 3.8
Disposals (0.7) (20.2) – (20.9)
Transfers1 (22.9) 10.9 – (12.0)
Currency realignment – 0.2 – 0.2
At 30 June 2020 36.0 38.0 4.8 78.8
Additions – 3.3 – 3.3
Disposals (4.1) (9.5) – (13.6)
Transfers1 0.4 10.6 – 11.0
Currency realignment – (0.7) – (0.7)
At 30 June 2021 32.3 41.7 4.8 78.8

  
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  
At 30 June 2019 (18.9) (66.1) (4.8) (89.8)
Impact of adopting IFRS 162 1.1 33.4 – 34.5
At 1 July 2019 (17.8) (32.7) (4.8) (55.3)
Charge for the year  (1.0) (6.6) – (7.6)
Impairment (5.4) – – (5.4)
Disposals 0.4 19.0 – 19.4
Transfers1 12.7 (0.3) – 12.4
At 30 June 2020 (11.1) (20.6) (4.8) (36.5)
Charge for the year  (0.6) (5.8) – (6.4)
Disposals 2.9 9.2 – 12.1
Transfers1 (0.4) (4.8) – (5.2)
Currency realignment – 0.5 – 0.5
At 30 June 2021 (9.2) (21.5) (4.8) (35.5)

  
Net book value  
At 30 June 2021 23.1 20.2 – 43.3
At 30 June 2020 24.9 17.4 – 42.3
1 Includes transfers between asset classes, assets held for sale and intangible assets as follows:  

› Net book value of intangible assets transferred from plant and equipment was £0.9m (2020: £8.7m to plant and equipment).  

› Net book value of land and buildings transferred from assets held for sale was £2.0m (2020: £nil). 

› Net book value of plant and equipment transferred from assets held for sale was £4.7m (2020: £nil). 

› Net book value of land and buildings transferred to investment properties was £nil (2020: £8.3m). 

› Net book value of land and buildings transferred to plant and equipment was £2.0m (2020: £1.9m). 

2 The net book value of plant and equipment as at 30 June 2019 included an amount of £4.9m in respect of assets held under finance leases. These assets were 
reclassified as right-of-use assets on transition to IFRS 16. 

3 The mining asset represents the stripping activity at the UK Mining operations site. The asset has been depreciated over the expected useful life of the coal that 
becomes more accessible as a result of the stripping activity.   
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15 Investment properties  

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount 

 
Owned assets 

£m 

Right-of-use 
assets 

£m 
Total

£m

At 1 July 2019 – – –
Transferred from owner-occupied property, plant and equipment 8.3 – 8.3
Transferred from right-of-use assets – 42.1 42.1
Fair value loss recognised in administrative expenses – (0.6) (0.6)
At 30 June 2020 8.3 41.5 49.8
Additions – 0.1 0.1
Fair value loss recognised in administrative expenses – (0.3) (0.3)
At 30 June 2021 8.3 41.3 49.6

Investment properties comprise office buildings that were formerly utilised by the Group that have been vacated and are now leased out (or 
intended to be leased out) to third parties under operating leases. The investment properties include a property held as a right-of-use asset, 
as well as a property owned by the Group. The investment properties are carried at fair value. Changes in fair values are presented in the 
profit or loss within administrative expenses.  

(b) Amounts recognised in the income statement 

Year to 30 June 2021: 

 
Owned assets 

£m 

Right-of-use 
assets 

£m 
Total

£m

Rental income from operating leases – 0.8 0.8
Direct operating expenses for property that generated rental income – (1.2) (1.2)
Direct operating expenses for property that did not generate rental income (0.6) – (0.6)
Fair value adjustment – (0.3) (0.3)
Total loss recognised in the income statement (0.6) (0.7) (1.3)

Year to 30 June 2020: 

 
Owned assets 

£m 

Right-of-use 
assets 

£m 
Total

£m

Rental income from operating leases – 0.4 0.4
Direct operating expenses for property that generated rental income – (0.8) (0.8)
Direct operating expenses for property that did not generate rental income – – –
Fair value adjustment – (0.6) (0.6)
Total loss recognised in the income statement – (1.0) (1.0)

The losses relating to investment properties are included in adjusting items (see note 5). 

(c) Leasing arrangements 

The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating leases with rentals payable either monthly or quarterly. Lease payments 
for some contracts include provisions for RPI increases. One contract entitles the Group to an element of variable lease rentals (in addition 
to the based rent payments) based on a share of the tenant’s revenue in carrying out their business of providing serviced offices and hot 
desking space at the premises. Although the Group is exposed to changes in the residual value at the end of the current leases, the Group 
intends to enter into new operating leases and therefore will not immediately realise any reduction in residual value at the end of these 
leases. One of the leases includes a tenant option to renew the lease for a further 10 years. Expectations about the future residual 
values are reflected in the fair value of the properties. 

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases of investment properties are as follows: 

 
2021  

£m 
2020

£m

Less than one year 1.5 1.3
One to two years 1.5 1.3
Two to three years 1.7 1.3
Three to four years 1.5 1.3
Four to five years 1.4 1.1
Over five years 2.3 3.4
Total 9.9 9.7
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(d) Measurement of fair values 

The fair value of the owned investment property was determined as at 30 June 2020 by external, independent property valuers, having 
appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and category of the property being valued. The 
valuation has been updated by the Group as at 30 June 2021, with consideration of market changes in the past 12 months. The fair 
values of the right-of-use investment properties have been determined by the Group without the use of an independent valuer. The fair 
value measurements for all of the investment properties have been categorised as Level 3 fair values (as defined in note 30), based  
on the inputs to the valuation techniques used. 

The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of investment property, as well as the significant 
unobservable inputs used. 

Investment property Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs  

Inter-relationship between key 
unobservable inputs and fair 
value measurement 

Owned assets Market approach: The fair value 
has been determined by adopting 
an investment approach and 
assuming continued use as offices.  

The external valuation is performed every 
two years. The last valuation was carried 
out as at 30 June 2020, using the 
following inputs: 

› Expected market rental growth of 0%; 
› Occupancy rate average of 95%; 
› Void periods of 24 months to  

36 months; and 
› Rent free periods of 12 months on  

a 5-year lease. 

In years where no valuation is performed, 
the fair value is reviewed taking into 
consideration any changes in market 
conditions and any offers received 
on the property and adjustments 
made accordingly. 

The estimated fair value would 
increase/(decrease) if: 

› Expected market rental growth 
were higher/(lower); 

› The occupancy rate was 
higher/(lower); 

› Void periods were 
shorter/(longer); or 

› Rent free periods were 
shorter/(longer). 

Right-of-use assets Income approach using discounted 
cash flows: The valuation model 
considers the present value of net 
cash flows to be generated from the 
property, taking into account the 
expected rental growth rate, void 
periods, occupancy rate, lease 
incentive costs such as rent-free 
periods and other costs not paid by 
tenants. The expected net cash flows 
are discounted using risk-adjusted 
discount rates.  

› Expected market rental growth 
(2021: 1%; 2020: 1%); 

› Occupancy rate (2021: average of 97%; 
2020: average of 96%); 

› Rent-free/void periods (2021: 6 months 
at the end of each tenancy; 2020: 
6 months); and 

› Risk-adjusted discount rate  
(2021: 4.2%; 2020 4.2%). 

The estimated fair value would 
increase/(decrease) if: 

› Expected market rental growth 
were higher/(lower); 

› The occupancy rate was 
higher/(lower); 

› Rent-free/void periods were 
shorter/(longer); or 

› The risk-adjusted discount rate 
was lower/(higher). 
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16 Investments in and loans to joint ventures 

(a) Movements in year 

 
2021 

£m 
2020

£m

Investments in joint ventures  

At 1 July 105.6 246.3

Additions 9.2 14.2

Loan repayments (7.7) (2.1)

Disposals – (12.3)

Transferred to assets held for sale – (103.8)

Share of:  

Operating loss (0.1) (7.5)

Finance costs (1.6) (0.5)

Taxation 1.4 1.4

Post-tax results of joint ventures – continuing operations (0.3) (6.6)

Post-tax results of joint ventures – discontinued operations – 6.4

Dividends received (6.3) (28.9)

Return of equity (1.6) (7.3)

Items recognised directly in other comprehensive income/(losses):  

Fair value movements in cash flow hedging instruments1 – (0.3)

At 30 June 98.9 105.6
1 None of the fair value movements in cash flow hedging instruments or deferred tax on fair value movements in cash flow hedging instruments have been recycled to the 

income statement in the current or prior year. 

(b) Analysis of investments in and loans to joint ventures 

 
2021  

£m 
2020

£m

Non-current assets  

Investment properties  42.5 54.0

Other non-current assets 0.6 –

Non-current assets 43.1 54.0

Current assets  

Cash and trade receivables 157.9 174.7

Current assets 157.9 174.7

Total assets 201.0 228.7

Current liabilities  
Trade and other payables (17.7) (17.8)

Current liabilities (17.7) (17.8)

Non-current liabilities  

Borrowings (83.7) (101.2)

Deferred tax liabilities (0.1) (0.6)

Other non-current liabilities (0.6) (3.5)

Non-current liabilities (84.4) (105.3)

Total liabilities (102.1) (123.1)

At 30 June 98.9 105.6
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(c) Interests in joint ventures 

Set out below are the joint ventures of the Group as at 30 June 2021 which, in the opinion of the Directors, are material to the Group. See 
note 34 for the full list of joint ventures. All of the entities are private entities and therefore do not have a quoted fair value. The country of 
incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business. All are measured under the equity method. 

Name of entity 

Place of business/ 
country of 
incorporation  

% of ownership 
interest/ voting rights 

2021

% of ownership 
interest/ voting rights 

2020 Nature of relationship  

Carrying 
amount

 2021
£m

Carrying 
amount 

2020 
£m

Kier Trade City1 England and Wales 90% / 50% 90% / 50% Property division  11.1 18.2
Solum Regeneration2 England and Wales 50% / 50% 50% / 50% Property division  31.7 33.2
Kier Cornwall Street3 England and Wales 90% / 50% 90% / 50% Property division  12.5 13.9
Kier (Newcastle)4 England and Wales 75% / 50% 75% / 50% Property division  8.2 7.4
Kier (Southampton)5 England and Wales 75% / 50% 75% / 50% Property division  10.8 8.5
Watford Health Campus6 England and Wales 50% / 50% 50% / 50% Property division  9.2 10.1
Kier Richmond7 England and Wales 90% / 50% 90% / 50% Property division  7.7 7.1
Immaterial joint ventures    7.7 7.2
    98.9 105.6
1 Kier Trade City consists of Kier Trade City Holdco 1 LLP, Kier Trade City Holdco 2 LLP and Kier Trade City LLP.  
2 Solum Regeneration consists of Solum Regeneration Bishops LLP, Solum Regeneration (Epsom) Limited Partnership, Solum Regeneration (Guildford) LLP, Solum 

Regeneration (Haywards) LLP, Solum Regeneration (Kingswood) LLP, Solum Regeneration (Maidstone) LLP, Solum Regeneration (Redhill) LLP, Solum Regeneration 
(Surbiton) LLP, Solum Regeneration (Twickenham) LLP, Solum Regeneration (Walthamstow) LLP, Solum Regeneration Epsom (GP Subsidiary) Limited, Solum 
Regeneration Epsom (GP) Limited, Solum Regeneration Epsom (Residential) LLP, Solum Regeneration Holding 1 LLP and Solum Regeneration Holding 2 LLP. 

3 Kier Cornwall Street consists of Kier Cornwall Street Holdings 1 LLP, Kier Cornwall Street Holdings 2 LLP and Kier Cornwall Street LLP.  
4 Kier (Newcastle) consists of Kier (Newcastle) Investment Limited, Kier (Newcastle) Operation Limited and Magnetic Limited.  
5 Kier (Southampton) consists of Kier (Southampton) Development Limited, Kier (Southampton) Investment Limited and Kier (Southampton) Operations Limited. 
6 Watford Health Campus consists of Watford Health Campus Limited, Watford Health Campus Partnership LLP, Watford Riverwell (Family Housing) LLP and Watford 

Woodlands LLP. 
7 Kier Richmond consists of Kier Richmond Holdings Limited and Kier Richmond Limited.  

(d) Borrowing facilities and guarantees to joint ventures 

The Group has provided guarantees to support borrowing facilities of joint ventures as follows: 

 2021 2020 

 
Borrowing 

facility
£m

Guarantees
£m

Drawn
at 30 June

£m

Borrowing  
facility 

£m 
Guarantees

£m

Drawn
at 30 June

£m

Kier Trade City LLP 27.4 6.5 21.6 36.4 5.7 11.9
50 Bothwell Street LLP – – – 16.5 16.5 16.5
Solum Regeneration (Twickenham) LLP – – – 38.2 9.5 31.1
 27.4 6.5 21.6 91.1 31.7 59.5

Other than as disclosed above the liabilities of the joint ventures are without recourse to the Group. Details of the Group’s interests in joint 
ventures are given in note 34. 
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16 Investments in and loans to joint ventures continued 

(e) Summarised financial information for joint ventures 

The tables below provide summarised financial information for those joint ventures that are material to the Group. The information disclosed 
reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the relevant joint ventures and not the Group’s share of those amounts. They 
have been amended to reflect adjustments made by the entity when using the equity method, including fair value adjustments and 
modifications for differences in accounting policy.  

 Kier Trade City  Solum Regeneration  Kier Cornwall Street  Kier (Newcastle) 

Summarised balance sheet 
2021

£m
2020

£m
2021

£m
2020

£m
2021 

£m 
2020 

£m  
2021

£m
2020

£m

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents – 2.3 1.0 2.9 3.2 4.3  0.4 0.7

Other current assets 35.3 30.0 65.8 112.0 37.6 37.3  3.1 3.0

Current assets 35.3 32.3 66.8 114.9 40.8 41.6  3.5 3.7

Non-current assets – – – – – –  25.1 25.2

Current liabilities    

Other current liabilities (1.4) (0.1) (3.4) (17.0) (1.9) (1.2)  (5.2) (1.6)

Total current liabilities (1.4) (0.1) (3.4) (17.0) (1.9) (1.2)  (5.2) (1.6)

Non-current liabilities    

Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables) (21.6) (12.0) – (31.6) (25.0) (25.0)  (12.4) (17.0)

Other non-current liabilities – – – – – –  (0.1) (0.4)

Total non-current liabilities (21.6) (12.0) – (31.6) (25.0) (25.0)  (12.5) (17.4)

Net assets 12.3 20.2 63.4 66.3 13.9 15.4  10.9 9.9
 

Reconciliation to carrying amounts:    

Net assets at 1 July 20.2 14.6 66.3 76.5 15.4 15.9  9.9 9.3

Capital introduced – 5.5 4.9 3.6 – –  1.3 –

Profit/(loss) for the year 5.3 2.6 (7.5) (6.8) (1.5) (0.2)  (0.3) 0.6

Other comprehensive expense – – – – – (0.3)  – –

Loan repayments (8.5) – – – – –  – –

Dividends paid (4.7) (2.5) (0.3) (7.0) – –  – –

Net assets at 30 June 12.3 20.2 63.4 66.3 13.9 15.4  10.9 9.9

    

Group’s share (%) 90% 90% 50% 50% 90% 90%  75% 75%

Investment in joint venture 11.1 18.2 31.7 33.2 12.5 13.9  8.2 7.4

   

Summarised income statement    

Revenue 20.8 16.5 49.5 12.6 0.8 2.1  1.3 2.0

Finance costs – – – – (1.4) (0.2)  – (0.4)

Taxation – – – – – –  – 0.6

    

Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations 5.3 2.6 (7.5) (6.8) (1.5) (0.2)  (0.3) 0.6

    

Profit/(loss) for the year 5.3 2.6 (7.5) (6.8) (1.5) (0.2)  (0.3) 0.6

Other comprehensive expense – – – – – (0.3)  – –

Total comprehensive income/(expense) 5.3 2.6 (7.5) (6.8) (1.5) (0.5)  (0.3) 0.6

    

Dividends received from joint ventures 4.2 2.3 0.1 3.5 – –  – –
  

Kier Group plc Report and Accounts 2021174



Financial statem
ents

 

  Kier Group plc Report and Accounts 2021  175 

 Kier (Southampton)  
Watford Health 

Campus  Kier Richmond 

Summarised balance sheet 
2021

£m
2020

£m
2021 

£m 
2020 

£m  
2021

£m
2020

£m

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 1.1 1.8 0.6 1.7  – 0.1

Other current assets 3.2 3.8 35.8 33.8  19.4 18.6

Current assets 4.3 5.6 36.4 35.5  19.4 18.7

Non-current assets 31.5 31.5 – –  – –

Current liabilities    

Other current liabilities (3.5) (1.1) (9.0) (6.4)  – –

Total current liabilities (3.5) (1.1) (9.0) (6.4)  – –

Non-current liabilities    

Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables) (17.8) (20.9) (9.0) (9.0)  (10.8) (10.8)

Other non-current liabilities – (3.7) – –  – –

Total non-current liabilities (17.8) (24.6) (9.0) (9.0)  (10.8) (10.8)

Net assets 14.5 11.4 18.4 20.1  8.6 7.9
 

Reconciliation to carrying amounts:    
Net assets at 1 July 11.4 14.9 20.1 20.5  7.9 11.3
Capital introduced 2.9 – 0.8 5.3  – –
Profit/(loss) for the year 0.2 (3.5) 1.6 3.3  0.7 (3.4)
Return of equity – – (3.4) –  – –
Dividends paid – – (0.7) (9.0)  – –
Net assets at 30 June 14.5 11.4 18.4 20.1  8.6 7.9
 

Group’s share (%) 75% 75% 50% 50%  90% 90%
Investment in joint venture 10.8 8.5 9.2 10.1  7.7 7.1
         

Summarised income statement    
Revenue 1.5 2.6 18.6 21.5  1.1 1.1
Depreciation and amortisation (0.1) – – –  – –
Finance costs (0.5) – – –  – –
Taxation 0.5 0.9 – –  (0.1) –
    
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations 0.2 (3.5) 1.6 3.3  0.7 (3.4)
    
Profit/(loss) for the year 0.2 (3.5) 1.6 3.3  0.7 (3.4)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) 0.2 (3.5) 1.6 3.3  0.7 (3.4)
    
Dividends received from joint ventures – – 0.4 4.5  – –
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16 Investments in and loans to joint ventures continued 

(f) Individually immaterial joint ventures 

In addition to the interests in joint ventures disclosed above, the Group also has interests in a number of individually immaterial joint 
ventures that are accounted for using the equity method. 

 
2021 

£m 
2020

£m

Aggregate carrying amount of individually immaterial joint ventures 7.7 7.2
Dividends received from individually immaterial joint ventures 1.6 2.5
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of:  
Loss from continuing operations (1.3) (1.8)
Total comprehensive expense (1.3) (1.8)

17 Capitalised mobilisation costs 

 
2021 

£m 
2020

£m

At 1 July  1.9 3.3
Additions 3.5 0.8
Amortisation (1.6) (1.5)
Impairment – (0.7)
At 30 June  3.8 1.9
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18 Deferred tax  

The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current and prior 
reporting year: 

 

Intangible 
assets

£m

Property,
plant and

equipment
£m

Short-term
temporary

differences
£m

Retirement 
benefit 

obligations 
£m 

Tax
losses

£m
Total

£m

At 1 July 2019 (24.6) 19.0 (2.7) (3.3) 59.3 47.7
Credited/(charged) to income statement – continuing 1.2 12.8 15.4 (10.5) 35.3 54.2
Reserves – – 3.4 – – 3.4
(Charged)/credited directly to comprehensive income – – (0.7) 6.4 – 5.7
At 30 June 2020 (23.4) 31.8 15.4 (7.4) 94.6 111.0
(Charged)/credited to income statement – continuing (0.2) 4.8 13.6 (10.0) 14.4 22.6
Credited to income statement – discontinued – – – – 0.4 0.4
Acquisitions and disposals – (0.3) – – (0.8) (1.1)
Credited directly to comprehensive income – – 0.3 4.8 – 5.1
At 30 June 2021 (23.6) 36.3 29.3 (12.6) 108.6 138.0

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributed to temporary differences relating to the following: 

 Assets  Liabilities  Total 

 
2021

£m
2020

£m
2021

£m
2020 

£m  
2021

£m
2020

£m

Property, plant and equipment 36.3 31.8 – –  36.3 31.8
Intangible assets – – (23.6) (23.4)  (23.6) (23.4)
Retirement benefit obligations – – (12.6) (7.4)  (12.6) (7.4)
Other short-term timing differences 29.3 15.4 – –  29.3 15.4
Tax losses 108.6 94.6 – –  108.6 94.6
Total 174.2 141.8 (36.2) (30.8)  138.0 111.0
Set-off tax  (36.2) (30.8) 36.2 30.8  – –
Net tax assets 138.0 111.0 – –  138.0 111.0

When considering the recoverability of net deferred tax assets, the taxable profit forecasts are based on the same Board-approved 
information used to support the going concern and goodwill impairment assessments. More information on these forecasts and the 
methodology applied are included in notes 1 and 13. 

The following evidence has been considered when assessing whether these forecasts are achievable and realistic: 

› Significant progress has been made in the year on the operational and financial turnaround strategy announced in June 2019, with the 
business trading slightly ahead of Board expectations in 2021; 

› The Group has substantially completed its restructuring activities, with a significant reduction in adjusting items in the year; and 
› The Group’s core businesses are well-placed to benefit from the announced and committed UK Government spending plans to invest in 

infrastructure, decarbonisation and spending to support post COVID-19 recovery.  

When considering the length of time over which the losses are expected to be utilised, the Group has taken into account that generally only 
50% of profits in each year can be offset by brought forward losses. 

Based on these forecasts, the Group is expected to utilise its deferred tax asset over a period of approximately 12 years. 
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19 Contract assets and liabilities 

(a) Current contract assets 

1 The 2021 movement includes an amount of £8.5m in respect of downward revisions of estimated variable income relating to the Regional Southern Build business, 
following a full review of its projects in the year, see note 5.  

Current contract assets have increased by £86.0m in the year due to the timing of invoicing (there is a corresponding reduction in trade 
receivables of £31.7m), a return to normal levels following a significant reduction in the prior year balance due to faster payments from 
public bodies in response to COVID-19 and the effect of new contracts (the most significant being HS2). 

(b) Non-current contract assets 

(c) Current contract liabilities 

Current contract liabilities have decreased as a result of a reduction in up-front payments (in part due to the reversal of the COVID-19 public 
body payment response in the prior year) and a number of overseas construction contracts (where up-front payments are commonplace) 
completed or nearing completion, resulting in an unwind of previous advances.  

 
2021 

£m 
2020

£m

At 1 July 249.7 466.0
Revenue adjustments recognised in the period for performance obligations satisfied in previous periods due to 
changes in the transaction price arising from changes in estimates of variable revenue1 (9.0) (13.3)
Transferred to receivables (223.8) (398.5)
Transferred to assets held for sale – (12.8)
Balance remaining in relation to contract assets at the start of the year 16.9 41.4
Increase related to services provided in the year 318.8 208.3
At 30 June 335.7 249.7

 
2021 

£m 
2020

£m

At 1 July 28.8 25.2
Increase related to services provided in the year 1.9 3.6
At 30 June 30.7 28.8

 
2021 

£m 
2020

£m

At 1 July (108.7) (134.0)
Revenue recognised in the year that was included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the year 105.2 87.7
Contract liabilities repaid 1.4 –
Balances removed due to transfers to liabilities held for sale – 2.7
Balance remaining in relation to contract liabilities at the start of the year (2.1) (43.6)
Increase due to cash received or invoices raised in the year for performance obligations not recognised 
in revenue (57.8) (65.1)
At 30 June (59.9) (108.7)
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20 Trade and other receivables  

 
2021

£m
2020

£m

Current: 
Trade receivables 50.7 82.4
Construction contract retentions 84.8 80.9
Amounts receivable from joint ventures 1.7 12.9
Other receivables 3.5 25.0
Prepayments  42.9 23.9
Accrued income 8.0 11.0
Other taxation and social security 11.5 0.3
 203.1 236.4

Non-current: 
Construction contract retentions 24.1 32.9
 24.1 32.9

21 Inventories 

As at 30 June 2021, £2.8m of provisions are held against inventory relating to land and work in progress for development (2020: £9.4m).  

22 Net cash/(debt) 

 
2021 

£m
2020

£m

Cash and cash equivalents – bank balances and cash in hand 391.2 413.9
Borrowings due within one year (38.2) (61.6)
Borrowings due after one year (362.3) (689.8)
Impact of cross-currency hedging 12.3 27.2
Net cash/(debt) 3.0 (310.3)

Average month-end net debt was £431.9m (2020: £435.6m). Net debt excludes lease liabilities.  

Cash and cash equivalents are subject to Group-wide cash pooling arrangements. On a gross basis, cash and cash equivalents were 
£1,411.7m (2020: £1,897.5m) and overdrafts were £1,020.5m (2020: £1,483.6m).  

Cash and cash equivalents include £75.1m (2020: £63.4m) being the Group’s share of cash and cash equivalents held by joint operations 
and £43.2m (2020: £43.5m) of bank balances that are not part of the Group-wide cash pooling arrangement. 

Information on borrowings is detailed in note 30. 

  

 
2021

£m
2020

£m

Raw materials and consumables 14.9 14.1
Land and work in progress held for development 39.1 45.2
Other work in progress 0.7 0.7
 54.7 60.0
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22 Net cash/(debt) continued 

(a) Reconciliation of working capital between the consolidated balance sheet and consolidated cash flow statement 

 2021 2020 

 
Inventories 

£m 

Trade and 
other 

receivables 
£m 

Contract 
assets

£m

Trade and 
other 

payables 
£m

Provisions
£m

Inventories
£m

Trade and 
other 

receivables
£m

Contract 
assets 

£m 

Trade and 
other 

payables 
£m

Provisions
£m

1 July balance sheet 60.0 269.3 278.5 (1,004.0) (72.3) 217.9 401.9 491.2 (1,350.5) (90.3)
30 June balance sheet 54.7 227.2 366.4 (1,133.0) (47.8) 60.0 269.3 278.5 (1,004.0) (72.3)
Movement per balance 
sheet (5.3) (42.1) 87.9 (129.0) 24.5 (157.9) (132.6) (212.7) 346.5 18.0
Transfers to and from 
assets held for sale 1.4 (1.0) (1.4) (0.5) – 113.7 22.2 0.5 (65.0) (11.1)
Forward funding interest – – 8.8 – – – – – – –
Disposal of subsidiary – – – 15.4 6.5 – – – 1.2 –
Discount unwind1 – – – 0.8 0.3 – – – (0.9) 1.5
Unpaid adviser fees in 
respect of the equity 
raise2 – – – 6.1 –  
Other – 0.1 – 6.5 – – 2.3 – (3.2) (4.4)
Movement per cash flow 
statement (3.9) (43.0) 95.3 (100.7) 31.3 (44.2) (108.1) (212.2) 278.6 4.0
1 Discount unwind primarily relates to onerous loss-making contracts and deferred consideration. 
2 Unpaid adviser fees of £6.1m in respect of the equity raise have been reclassed from trade payables to issue of shares net of transaction costs on the cash flow 

statement. 

(b) Reconciliation of movements in net borrowings 

 

Cash and cash 
equivalents

£m

Borrowings 
due within 

one year
£m

Borrowings 
due after  
one year 

£m 

Impact of 
cross-currency 

hedging 
£m 

Total
£m

Net borrowings as at 1 July 2019 311.7 (30.3) (473.6) 25.0 (167.2)
Cash flows 97.8 30.3 (274.7) – (146.6)
Transfers – (61.6) 61.6 – –
Foreign exchange movements 4.4 – (3.1) 2.2 3.5
Net borrowings as at 30 June 2020 413.9 (61.6) (689.8) 27.2 (310.3)
Cash flows (19.6) 61.6 275.8 – 317.8
Transfers – (38.2) 38.2 – –
Foreign exchange movements (3.1) – 13.5 (14.9) (4.5)
Net borrowings as at 30 June 2021 391.2 (38.2) (362.3) 12.3 3.0

(c) Free cash flow 

Notes 
2021 

£m 
20201

£m

Net debt at 1 July 22 (310.3) (167.2)
Net cash/(debt) at 30 June 22 3.0 (310.3)
Decrease/(increase) in net debt  313.3 (143.1)
Adjusted for:   
Payments in respect of adjusting items 5 72.1 93.5
Pension deficit payments 9 37.0 25.0
Acquisitions and disposals 33 (120.8) (14.1)
Equity raise 27 (224.8) –
Discontinued operations 23 11.4 41.5
Other items  4.4 (11.1)
Free cash flow  92.6 (8.3)
1 £7.7m has been reallocated from other items to payments in respect of adjusting items in the comparatives in order to align with other notes. There has been no 

change to the free cash flow number. 
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23 Assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

(a) Assets held for sale 

The Group’s investment in its subsidiary Kier Living was classified as held for sale at 30 June 2020. The disposal was completed on 28 
May 2021. See note 33 for further details. 

The assets and liabilities of Pure Recycling Warwick Limited were presented as held for sale at 30 June 2020. As at 30 June 2021, 
management do not believe the classification criteria has been met and have therefore ceased classifying the asset as held for sale, 
resulting in a £3.0m credit to adjusting items in the income statement. 

 
2021

£m
2020

£m

Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale 
Investments in and loans to joint ventures – 52.2
Inventories – 114.7
Trade and other receivables – 22.2
Other assets – 7.6
Total – 196.7
 
Liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale 
Trade and other payables – (59.9)
Other liabilities – (21.8)
Total – (81.7)

(b) Results of discontinued operations  

Kier Living 

Results for Kier Living for the period up to disposal are classified as discontinued.  

 
2021

£m
2020

£m

Results of discontinued operations 
Revenue 98.3 79.9
Share of post-tax results of joint ventures 12.2 7.8
Operating costs (105.2) (93.1)
Operating profit/(loss) 5.3 (5.4)
Finance costs1 (5.1) (7.3)
Profit/(loss) before tax and adjusting items 0.2 (12.7)
Tax (0.5) (0.1)
Loss for the year before adjusting items (0.3) (12.8)
Adjusting items net of tax (note 5)2 (24.3) (88.6)
Loss from discontinued operations after tax (24.6) (101.4)
1 Includes interest payable to the continuing Group of £2.3m (2020: £5.6m).  
2 Includes £nil (2020: £1.4m) of share of post-tax results of joint ventures. 

1 The cash flows include intercompany transactions, primarily the Group repaying Kier Living’s overdraft of £72.7m prior to its disposal. 

  

 
2021

£m
2020

£m

Cash flows from discontinued operations 

Operating cash outflows (24.9) (60.9)
Investing cash inflows  8.4 20.9
Financing cash inflows/(outflows)1 74.6 (11.0)
Total cash flows including intercompany transactions 58.1 (51.0)
Intercompany cash flows (69.5) 9.5
Total cash flows (11.4) (41.5)
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24 Leases 

(a) Group as a lessee 

The Group has lease contracts for various properties, and items of plant, machinery, vehicles and other equipment used in its operations 
and for administration of the Group’s business. Leases of properties have durations of between one and 44 years. Leases of plant and 
machinery and other equipment generally have lease terms between one and three years, while motor vehicles generally have lease terms 
between three and six years. 

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not 
impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as 
security for borrowing purposes. 

A number of property leases contain extension or termination options. In these circumstances, the Group makes a judgement about the 
period for which it is reasonably certain to lease the property.  

The Group’s accounting policies for leases are set out in note 1. 

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. 
The expense included in the income statements relating to these leases was £86.1m (2020: £71.4m). The assets leased under short-term 
leases are predominantly small items of plant and equipment and therefore are also of low value. The utilisation of these assets varies 
depending on the nature and levels of the Group’s activities. 

(b) Right-of-use assets 

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised in respect of the Group’s leases and the movements during 
the year: 

 

Land and 
buildings

£m

Motor 
vehicles 

£m 

Plant and 
equipment 

£m 
Total

£m

At 1 July 2019 136.4 27.9 12.0 176.3
Additions 4.9 6.3 9.3 20.5
Depreciation (13.5) (14.4) (7.9) (35.8)
Reversal of impairment1 3.5 – – 3.5
Impairment2 (13.7) – – (13.7)
Transferred to investment properties2 (42.1) – – (42.1)
Disposals (5.8) – (2.0) (7.8)
At 30 June 2020 69.7 19.8 11.4 100.9
Additions 5.7 14.0 14.8 34.5
Depreciation (9.8) (14.1) (9.8) (33.7)
Disposals (1.0) (0.1) (4.1) (5.2)
At 30 June 2021 64.6 19.6 12.3 96.5
1 In FY19, the Group provided for an onerous lease contract in respect of a property in Cavendish Place, London, as the property was unoccupied with little prospect of 

being sublet. On transition to IFRS 16 on 1 July 2019, the onerous lease provision was reclassified as an impairment of the associated right-of-use asset. In FY20 the 
Directors made the decision to reoccupy Cavendish Place and vacate the Group’s office in Foley Street, London. This resulted in a reversal of the impairment amount 
relating to Cavendish Place. 

2 In FY20, the Group vacated its Foley Street property which resulted in an impairment of the associated right-of-use asset in the year. As the property was no longer 
occupied by the Group and was being held for the purpose of earning rentals, the asset was reclassified as an investment property in FY20. 
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(c) Lease liabilities 

 
2021

£m
2020

£m

Current 27.4 33.1
Non-current 136.4 139.8
 163.8 172.9

The maturity profile of the contractual cash flows associated with the lease liabilities is presented in note 30. 

The interest expense in respect of lease liabilities is included within finance costs in the income statement and is disclosed in note 7. 

(d) Amounts recognised in the cash flow statement 

 
2021

£m
2020

£m

Principal elements of lease payments 39.6 40.4
Interest paid 6.7 7.2
Total cash outflow for leases1 46.3 47.6
1 Excluding cash flows relating to short-term and low-value assets for which the recognition exemption has been taken. 

25 Trade and other payables 

 
2021

£m
2020

£m

Current: 
Trade payables1 330.3 255.8
Sub-contract retentions 39.1 35.0
Other taxation and social security2 144.2 131.4
Other payables 47.3 57.5
Accruals  531.8 477.1
Deferred income 0.4 0.7
 1,093.1 957.5

Non-current: 
Trade payables 14.1 14.2
Sub-contract retentions 25.8 32.3
 39.9 46.5
1 Included within the trade payables balance is £79.1m (2020: £125.5m) relating to payments due to suppliers who are on bank-supported supply chain finance 

arrangements. 
2 As at 30 June 2021, there was total tax deferred under the Government’s COVID-19 support schemes of £18.8m (2020: £79.8m). This comprises £18.8m payable by 

28 January 2022 (2020: £25.1m) of VAT deferred in accordance with HMRC guidance, and £nil (2020: £54.7m) of a Time to Pay agreement with HMRC. VAT payable 
to HMRC was £120.9m (2020: £69.5m), an increase from the prior year as a result of implementing the new VAT regulations for the Domestic Reverse Charge.
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26 Provisions 

 

Insurance  
claims 

£m 

Restoration of 
mining sites

£m

HSE
regulatory

£m

Onerous 
contracts

£m

Redundancy, 
site closure & 
dilapidations 

£m 

Warranty, 
rectification  

and other 
contractual 
obligations 

£m 
Total

£m

At 1 July 2019 19.7 3.4 1.4 35.9 8.2 21.7 90.3
Transition to IFRS 16 – – – (4.4) – – (4.4)
Transferred to asset held for sale – – – – – (9.7) (9.7)
Transferred to trade payables – – – (13.9) – – (13.9)
Charged/(credited) to income statement 3.6  0.8 1.8 (4.5) 29.5 34.7 65.9
Utilised – (1.8) – (11.2) (31.8) (12.4) (57.2)
Unwinding of discount – – – 1.3 – – 1.3
At 30 June 2020 23.3 2.4 3.2 3.2 5.9 34.3 72.3
Transfers between provision classes – – – 3.7 (1.0) (2.7) –
Transfers to payables – – – – – (10.1) (10.1)
(Credited)/charged to income statement (1.5) 0.3 (0.7) (0.9) 1.6 0.7 (0.5)
Utilised – (1.9) – (0.8) (2.6) (8.4) (13.7)
Unwinding of discount – – – 0.3 –  – 0.3
Currency realignment – – – – (0.5) – (0.5)
At 30 June 2021 21.8 0.8 2.5 5.5 3.4 13.8 47.8

Insurance provisions are held in the Group’s insurance captive in respect of legal and other disputes in various Group companies.  

Mining provisions of £0.8m (2020: £2.4m) represent the cost of restoration of opencast mining sites. 

HSE regulatory provisions are in respect of potential fines arising from changes to safety, health and environmental legislation 
and regulation. 

Onerous contracts provisions are for loss-making contracts that the Group is legally obligated to complete. 

Redundancy and dilapidations provisions are in respect of redundancy costs and office closures. Site closure provisions relate to adoption 
costs payable to local authorities on completion of development sites. 

Warranty and rectification provisions are for potential claims against work completed by the Group, and other contractual obligations are 
primarily end of service costs associated with the Group’s overseas workforce. 

It is anticipated that the amounts provided will be utilised as follows: 

 
2021 

£m 
2020

£m

Due within one year 14.9 20.8
Due after one year 32.9 51.5
 47.8 72.3

Due to the nature of the provision for insurance claims, the timing of any potential future outflows in respect of these liabilities is uncertain 
and as such they are classified as due after one year. 

Future outflows in respect of other provisions are expected to occur over the next 10 years. 
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27 Share capital and reserves  

Share capital 

The share capital of the Company comprises: 

 2021  2020 

 Number  £m  Number  £m

Authorised, issued and fully paid ordinary shares of 1 pence each 446,165,699 4.5  162,115,870 1.6

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at 
meetings of the Company. 

Firm Placing and Placing and Open Offer 

On 18 June 2021 the Group issued new share capital by way of: 

› a Firm Placing of 141,851,386 Firm Placing Shares;  
› a Placing and Open Offer of 141,851,386 Open Offer Shares; and  
› Director Subscriptions of 347,057 Subscription Shares.  

All of the above shares were issued at £0.85 per share. The total new shares of 284,049,829 generated proceeds of £207.8m after 
deducting costs of £33.6m, of which £22.7m were deducted from equity. Of these costs, £6.1m remain unpaid as at 30 June 2021. 

Kier Group plc was transferred 100 fixed rate redeemable preference shares in its subsidiary company, Kite (Jersey) Limited, which were 
subsequently redeemed for cash. Following the receipt of the cash proceeds of the capital raise through this cashbox structure, the Group 
obtained merger relief for the new shares issued by Kier Group plc. The excess of the net proceeds received over the nominal value of the 
new shares has been transferred to the merger reserve. 

Cash flow hedge reserve 

This reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of the cash flow hedging instruments related to 
hedged transactions that have not yet occurred, net of any related deferred tax. 

Translation reserve 

This reserve comprises the cumulative difference on exchange arising from the retranslation of net investments in overseas subsidiary 
undertakings. In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 1, this reserve was set to nil at 1 July 2004. 

Merger reserve 

The brought forward merger reserve of £134.8m arose on the shares issued at a premium to acquire May Gurney on 8 July 2013. The 
movement in the year of £215.8m relates to the issue of new share capital as described above.  

28 Share-based payments 

The Group operates a number of share-based payment schemes for eligible employees as described below. 

On 18 June 2021, the Group issued new share capital at a discount to market value, by way of a Firm Placing, a Placing and Open Offer, 
and Director Subscriptions. The number of options and option prices for participants in the Group’s share-based payments schemes were 
adjusted for the effect of the Open Offer but not the Firm Placing or Director Subscriptions that existing shareholders were unable to 
participate in. 

Sharesave Scheme 

Options over the Company’s ordinary shares at 30 June 2021 were as follows: 

Date of grant 

Sharesave
Scheme

1 November
2017

Sharesave
Scheme

1 November
2018

Sharesave 
Scheme 

13 November 
2019 

Sharesave
Scheme

15 February
2021 Total

Number of awards outstanding at 30 June 2021  
Directors – – – – –
Employees1 1,739 191,932 5,353,164 9,879,199 15,426,034
  1,739 191,932 5,353,164 9,879,199 15,426,034
Exercise price (pence)1 826.4 647.2 86.4 56.5
1 Where the options were granted before the rights issue that completed on 20 December 2018 and/or the share issue that completed on 18 June 2021, the numbers 

of options and the exercise prices have been adjusted to take account of the dilution resulting from the new shares. 

Options to acquire shares in the capital of Kier Group plc have been granted to eligible employees who enter into a Sharesave (SAYE) 
contract. The number of options granted to each participating employee are the number of shares which have an aggregate option price 
not exceeding the projected proceeds of the employee’s Sharesave contract. Participation in the Kier Sharesave Scheme is offered to 
all employees of the Group who have been employed for a continuous period determined by the Board. Under the Sharesave contract, 
participating employees save a regular sum each month for three years up to a maximum of £500 per month.  

8,634,038 options were granted in the year (2020: 7,199,823) under the Sharesave Scheme, which will all be equity settled.  

No Sharesave Scheme options were exercised during the year (2020: none). 
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28 Share-based payments continued 

Conditional Share Award Plan 

Awards over the Company’s ordinary shares at 30 June 2021 were as follows: 

Date of grant 

CSAP  
award 

23 October 
2017 

CSAP  
award 

22 October 
2018 Total

Number of awards outstanding at 30 June 2021   
Directors – – –
Employees1 4,387 654,402 658,789
 4,387 654,402 658,789
Exercise price (pence) nil nil 
1 The numbers of options have been adjusted to take account of the dilution resulting from the rights issue that completed on 20 December 2018 and the share issue 

that completed on 18 June 2021. 

In 2017, the Group established a Conditional Share Award Plan (‘CSAP’) under which senior employees receive awards of shares subject 
only to service conditions, i.e. the requirement for participants to remain in employment with the Group over the vesting period. Participants 
are entitled to receive dividend equivalents on these awards. Awards under the CSAP are all equity settled.  

No new awards were granted under the CSAP in the year (2020: nil). 

515,093 awards vested under the CSAP in the year (2020: none). In accordance with the rules of the scheme, a further 72,562 shares 
were provided to recipients of the vesting CSAP shares, equivalent to the dividends that would have been received during the vesting period 
(2020: no dividend equivalent shares). 

Long-Term Incentive Plan 

Awards over the Company’s ordinary shares at 30 June 2021 were as follows: 

Date of grant 

LTIP 
award 

28 Oct
2019

LTIP  
award 

16 March 
2020 

LTIP  
award 

18 December 
2020  Total

Number of awards outstanding at 30 June 2021   
Directors1 2,040,447 – 2,095,166 4,135,613
Employees1 9,906,091 602,577 17,200,856 27,709,524
 11,946,538 602,577 19,296,022 31,845,137
Exercise price (pence) nil nil nil 
1 Where the options were granted before the rights issue that completed on 20 December 2018 and/or the share issue that completed on 18 June 2021, the number of 

options has been adjusted to take account of the dilution resulting from the new shares. 

The Group has established a Long-Term Incentive Plan (‘LTIP’) under which Directors and senior employees can receive awards of shares. 
Awards made under the scheme are normally able to vest following the third anniversary of the date of the grant. Vesting may be in full or in 
part (with the balance of the award lapsing) and is subject to the Group achieving specific performance targets. Participants are entitled to 
receive dividend equivalents on these awards. Awards under the LTIP are all equity settled. The awards made to Directors are subject to a 
two-year post vesting holding period and malus and clawback provisions. 

No LTIP awards were exercised during the year (2020: nil).  

17,856,246 options were granted in the year (2020: 13,741,092) under the LTIP. 

Shares held in trusts 

The CSAP and LTIP awards, which are taken as shares, are intended to be satisfied from shares held by the Kier Group 1999 Employee 
Benefit Trust and May Gurney Group Trustees Ltd Employee Share Ownership Trust or the issue of new shares. The shares held by the 
trusts are accounted for as a deduction from equity within retained earnings. The movements in the number and historical cost value of 
shares held by the trusts are as follows: 

 2021  2020 

 
Number

of shares
Value 

£m  
Number 

of shares 
Value

£m

At 1 July 306,317 2.3  306,317 2.3
Acquired during the year 990,303 0.5  – –
Issued in satisfaction of share scheme awards (515,093) (0.2)  – –
Issued in satisfaction of dividend equivalents for share scheme awards (72,562) –  – –
At 30 June 708,965 2.6  306,317 2.3
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The market value of these shares at 30 June 2021 was £0.9m (2020: £0.3m).  

The shares acquired by the trusts in the year are reflected in the statement of changes in equity as a purchase of own shares of £0.5m. 

Further description of the above share schemes and the terms and conditions of each scheme are included in the Directors’ remuneration 
report on pages 98 to 117. 

Fair value of share-based payments 

The fair value per option granted has been calculated using the Black-Scholes model for all options apart from the total shareholder return 
(TSR) element of the LTIP which is based on a Stochastic model. For awards made to the Directors which are subject to a two-year holding 
period post vesting, the Finnerty model is used. The following assumptions were used in calculating the fair values: 

Sharesave Scheme 

Date of grant 
1 November

2018
1 November 

2018 
13 November

2019
15 February

2021

Share price at grant (pence) 1055.0 924.0 86.5 77.5
Exercise price (pence) – at grant 983.0 770.0 101.0 66.0
Exercise price (pence) – adjusted for rights/share issues 826.3 647.2 86.4 56.5
Option life (years) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Expected volatility 24.9% 28.1% 68.5% 80.2%
Dividend yield 6.4% 7.3% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rate 0.6% 0.8% 0.5% 0.0%
Value per option (pence) – at grant 113.1 137.0 37.0 44.6
Value per option (pence) – adjusted for rights/share issues 95.1 115.2 31.7 38.1

Conditional Share Award Plan 

Date of grant 
23 October

2017
22 October

 2018

Share price at grant (pence) 1,063.0 886.0
Exercise price (pence) nil nil
Option life (years) 3.0 3.0
Value per option (pence) – at grant 1,063.0 886.0
Value per option (pence) – adjusted for rights/share issues 1,044.6 744.8
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28 Share-based payments continued 

Long-Term Incentive Plan 

Date of grant 
28 October

2019

28 October
2019

(Directors)
16 March 

2020 
18 December 

2020 

18 December 
2020

(Directors)

Share price at grant (pence) 116 116 80 81.0 81.0
Exercise price (pence) nil nil nil nil nil
Option life (years) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Holding period (years) n/a 2.0 n/a n/a 2.0
Expected volatility 74.7% 85.5% 74.7% 90.7% 92.4%
Risk-free interest rate 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.0% 0.0%
Value per option (pence) – at grant   
– TSR element (25%) 76.0 66.0 52.0 58.4 50.6
– EPS/AOP (50%) and Net Debt:EBITDA (25%) elements 116.0 101.0 80.0 81.0 70.1
Value per option (pence) – adjusted for rights/share issues   
– TSR element 65.0 56.5 44.5 50.0 43.3
– EPS/AOP and Net Debt:EBITDA elements 99.2 86.4 68.4 69.2 59.9

The value per option represents the fair value of the option less any consideration payable. 

The fair value of the TSR element incorporates an assessment of the number of shares that will vest, as the performance conditions are 
market conditions under IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payments’. 

The performance conditions linked to adjusted EPS, adjusted operating profit (‘AOP’) and the net debt to earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation ratio (Net Debt:EBITDA) are non-market conditions under IFRS 2. Therefore, the fair value of these elements 
do not include an assessment of the number of shares that will vest. Instead, the amount charged is based on the fair values factored by 
a ‘true-up’ for the number of awards that are expected to vest. 

The expected volatility is based on historical volatility over the period of time commensurate with the expected award term immediately prior 
to the date of grant. The risk-free rate of return is the yield on UK Government securities over a term consistent with the expected option life. 

An amount of £7.0m relating to share-based payments has been recognised in the income statement as employee costs (2020: £5.4m). 
Included in other payables is an amount of £1.0m (2020: £0.3m) relating to provisions for employer’s national insurance in respect of 
share-based payments expected to vest in the future. 

Summary of movements in the number of options 

A reconciliation of option movements is shown below: 

 2021  2020 

 
Number

of options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price  
Number 

of options 

Weighted
average
exercise

price

Outstanding at 1 July 20,446,809 46.9p  5,149,398 323.0p
Granted 26,490,284 21.5p  20,940,915 34.7p
Lapsed or forfeited (5,429,098) 70.6p  (5,643,504) 253.6p
Exercised (515,093) –  – –
Adjustment for share issue 6,937,058 –  – –
Outstanding at 30 June 47,929,960 23.9p  20,446,809 46.9p

Exercisable at 30 June 6,126 234.6p  – –

The options outstanding at 30 June 2021 have a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.08 years (2020: 2.26 years). 
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29 Guarantees, contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

The Company has given guarantees and entered into counter-indemnities in respect of bonds relating to certain of the Group’s own 
contracts. The Company has also given guarantees in respect of certain contractual obligations of its subsidiaries and joint ventures, 
which were entered into in the normal course of business, as well as certain of the Group’s other obligations (for example, in respect of 
the Group’s finance facilities and its pension schemes). Financial guarantees over the obligations of the Company’s subsidiaries and joint 
ventures are measured at fair value. The fair value measurement is based on the premium received from the joint venture or the differential 
in the interest rate of the borrowing including and excluding the guarantee. Performance guarantees are treated as a contingent liability until 
such time as it becomes probable that payment will be required under its terms.  

Provisions are made for the Directors’ best estimate of known legal claims, investigations and legal actions relating to the Group which 
are considered more likely than not to result in an outflow of economic benefit. If the Directors consider that a claim, investigation or action 
relating to the Group is unlikely to succeed, no provision is made. If the Directors cannot make a reliable estimate of a potential, material 
obligation, no provision is made but details of the claim are disclosed. 

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had contingent assets of £4.5m (2020: £12.4m) in relation to claims against third parties for the 
reimbursement of costs on construction contracts. Under IAS 37 these amounts may only be recognised when the economic benefit arising 
from the claims is virtually certain. It is probable that these amounts will be recognised in future periods when the uncertainty over their 
recoverability has been removed. 

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had no contingent liabilities (2020: £nil). 

30 Financial instruments 

The following table summarises the Group’s financial instruments as at 30 June 2021: 

 2021 2020 

 

Loans and 
receivables at 

amortised 
cost, cash 

and cash 
equivalents 

£m 

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised 
cost 
£m 

Derivatives 
£m

Loans and 
receivables at 

amortised 
cost, cash  
and cash 

equivalents  
£m  

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised 
cost 
£m

Derivatives 
£m

Financial assets  
Trade and other receivables (less prepayments) 184.3 – – 245.4 – –
Cash and cash equivalents 391.2 – – 413.9 – –
Equity loans provided to joint ventures 115.9 – – 112.8 – –
Other financial assets – – 13.4 – – 30.0
Total 691.4 – 13.4 772.1 – 30.0
Financial liabilities  
Borrowings – (400.5) – – (751.4) –
Lease liabilities  – (163.8) – – (172.9) –
Trade and other payables1 – (988.4) – – (871.9) –
Other financial liabilities – – – – – –
Total – (1,552.7) – – (1,796.2) –
Net 691.4 (1,552.7) 13.4 772.1 (1,796.2) 30.0
1 Trade and other payables exclude other taxes and social security and deferred income. 

Capital risk management 

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to optimise the capital 
structure in order to minimise the cost of capital whilst maintaining a strong balance sheet to support business development and tender 
qualification. The Group’s capital management strategy is to use a blend of capital types with different risk, return and maturity profiles 
to support the operating divisions and deliver the Group’s capital management objectives. 

During the year, the Group has taken action to strengthen the balance sheet and reduce the level of debt. This is in line with the capital 
risk management strategy announced in 2019. The disposal of Kier Living and the new equity raise, both of which were completed in Q4, 
represent the final steps in the completion of the strategic review with new medium-term financial targets communicated. These medium-
term targets focus on volume growth, increased profitability and a positive cash generation. They also include an expected return to a 
sustainable dividend policy. 

The capital structure of the Group comprises: equity, consisting of share capital, share premium, retained earnings and other reserves 
as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity; and cash, cash equivalents and borrowings as disclosed in note 22 
and described further below. The Group forecasts and monitors short, medium and longer-term capital needs on a regular basis and 
adjusts its capital structure as required through the payment of dividends to shareholders, the issue of new share capital and the 
increase or repayment of borrowings. All investment decisions typically require a pre-tax annualised return of at least 15.0% to 
ensure such investments are value enhancing for shareholders. 

  

Kier Group plc Report and Accounts 2021 189



Financial statements 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

For the year ended 30 June 2021 

190 Kier Group plc Report and Accounts 2021  

30 Financial instruments continued 

Financial risk management 

Financial risk management is an integral part of the way the Group is managed. In the course of its business, the Group is exposed primarily 
to credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk. The overall aim of the Group’s financial risk management policies is to minimise any potential 
adverse effects on financial performance and net assets. 

The Group’s treasury team manages the principal financial risks within policies and operating limits approved by the Board. The treasury 
function is not a profit centre and does not enter into speculative transactions. Derivative financial instruments are used to hedge exposure 
to fluctuations in interest and exchange rates and some commodity prices. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk arises on financial instruments such as trade receivables, short-term bank deposits and interest rate and currency hedges. 

Policies and procedures exist to ensure that customers have an appropriate credit history. The Group’s most significant clients are public  
or regulated industry entities which generally have high credit ratings or are of a high credit quality due to the nature of the client. 

Short-term bank deposits and hedging transactions are executed only with highly credit-rated authorised counterparties based on ratings 
issued by the major ratings agencies. Counterparty exposure positions are monitored regularly so that credit exposures to any one 
counterparty are within acceptable limits. At the balance sheet date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. 

Trade and other receivables and contract assets included in the balance sheet are stated net of expected credit loss (ECL) provisions 
which have been calculated using a provision matrix grouping trade receivables and contract assets on the basis of their shared credit 
risk characteristics. 

An analysis of the provision held against trade receivables is set out below: 

 
2021  

£m 
2020

£m

Provision as at 1 July 4.2 1.1
Credited to the income statement (1.3) (0.3)
Utilised in the year (0.6) (0.3)
Charged to the income statement – 3.7
Provision as at 30 June 2.3 4.2

There were £21.5m (2020: £29.6m) of trade receivables that were overdue at the balance sheet date that have not been provided against, 
of which £7.7m (2020: £14.4m) had been received by the end of August 2021. There are no indications as at 30 June 2021 that the 
debtors will not meet their payment obligations in respect of the amount of trade receivables recognised in the balance sheet that are 
overdue and unprovided. The proportion of trade receivables at 30 June 2021 that were overdue for payment was 42% (2020: 35%). 
Credit terms vary across the Group; the average age of trade receivables was as follows: 

Infrastructure Services 8 days (2020: 4 days) 
Construction 10 days (2020: 16 days) 
Property 34 days (2020: 16 days) 

Overall, the Group considers that it is not exposed to significant credit risk. 

Equity loans to joint ventures of £115.9m (2020: £112.8m) have been compared to the future cash flows and net assets of the joint 
venture to ensure that they are still expected to be fully recoverable. 

Market risk 

Interest rate risk 

The Group has borrowing facilities to finance short-term working capital requirements and term loans to finance medium-term capital 
requirements, which carry interest at floating rates, at a margin over LIBOR. The Group’s borrowings, excluding the effect of derivatives, 
can be analysed as follows: 

 
2021 

£m 
2020

£m

Fixed rate 161.8 249.4
Variable rate 241.6 503.9
Cost of raising finance (2.9) (1.9)
 400.5 751.4

The Group’s variable rate borrowings are subject to a margin over SONIA. In addition, one of the Group’s joint ventures has entered into 
interest rate swaps in order to mitigate significant interest rate risk. 

Interest rate risk also arises on the Group’s borrowings where they are not at fixed interest rates. A 50 basis point increase/decrease in the 
interest rate would lead to a £1.3m increase (2020: £2.4m) / £1.3m decrease (2020: £2.4m) in the Group’s net finance cost. 
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Foreign currency risk 

The Group operates primarily within the UK such that its exposure to currency risk is not considered to be significant. Where significant 
foreign currency exposures are identified, these are hedged using forward foreign exchange contracts or swaps. 

Changes in foreign exchange rates affect the carrying amount of the liability relating to foreign currency denominated debt on the Group’s 
balance sheet. The utilisation of derivatives ensures that the movement is recognised in other comprehensive income rather than profit 
and loss. A 5% increase/decrease in the US dollar to sterling exchange rate combined with a 5% increase/decrease in the euro to sterling 
exchange rate would lead to a £4.7m decrease (2020: £6.1m)/£4.9m increase (2020: £6.4m) in the carrying amount of the liability on the 
Group’s balance sheet, with the movement recognised in other comprehensive income. 

Liquidity risk 

The Group’s policy on liquidity risk is to ensure the sufficient borrowing facilities are available to fund operations without the need to carry 
significant net debt over the medium term. The Group’s principal borrowing facilities are provided by a syndicate of relationship banks and 
established investors, and in the case of a number of the loan notes, in the form of unsecured committed borrowing facilities. The amount 
of committed borrowing facilities available to the Group is reviewed regularly and is designed to exceed forecast peak gross debt levels. 

Derivative financial instruments  

During 2013 the Group entered into three cross-currency swaps to hedge the currency risk on US dollar-denominated loan, nominal value 
US$28.0m. During 2014 the Group entered into four cross-currency swaps to hedge the currency risk on a US dollar-denominated loan, 
nominal value US$116.0m. During 2016 the Group entered into two cross-currency swaps to hedge the currency risk on a euro-denominated 
loan, nominal value €20.0m, and three interest rate swaps to hedge the interest rate risk on GBP-denominated loans, nominal value 
£65.5m. The Group has assessed the effectiveness of these swaps and concluded that they are 100% effective. Therefore, no amount 
in relation to hedge ineffectiveness has been charged or credited to the income statement in relation to any cross-currency or interest 
rate swap. 

The following table indicates the periods in which the cash flows associated with cash flow hedges are expected to occur and the fair value 
of the related hedging instruments: 

 Expected cash flows 

Continuing operations 
Fair value

£m 
Total

£m
0–1 years 

£m 
1–2 years

£m
2–5 years

£m

Cross-currency swaps: asset  
Gross settled inflows 109.5 19.1 26.3 64.1
Gross settled outflows (95.8) (16.7) (23.4) (55.7)
 13.4 13.7 2.4 2.9 8.4

In addition to the above, one of the Group’s property joint ventures has entered into an interest rate derivative as a means of hedging 
interest rate risk. The interest-bearing debtor and associated interest rate derivative with this joint venture has a term of less than two years 
remaining and is without recourse to the Group. At 30 June 2021, the aggregate amount outstanding on this interest-bearing debt against 
which an interest rate derivative is held is £15.0m (2020: £31.5m). The Group’s share of the total net fair value liability of this interest rate 
derivative at 30 June 2021 amounted to £0.3m (2020: £0.5m) which, together with the related deferred tax asset of £nil (2020: £nil), have 
met the criteria for hedge accounting. 

Financial assets 

Loans and receivables at amortised cost, cash and cash equivalents: 
2021

£m
2020

£m 

Cash and cash equivalents 391.2 413.9
Trade and other receivables (including £24.1m due after more than one year (2020: £32.9m)) –  
excluding prepayments 184.3 245.4
Equity loans to joint ventures 115.9 112.8
 691.4 772.1
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30 Financial instruments continued 

Financial liabilities – analysis of maturity dates 

At 30 June 2021, the Group had the following financial liabilities at amortised cost together with the maturity profile of their contractual 
cash flows: 

 Continuing operations 

30 June 2021 

Trade and
other 

payables1

£m 
Borrowings 

£m 

Lease 
liabilities 

£m  
Total

£m

Carrying value 988.4 400.5 163.8  1,552.7
    
Contractual cash flows    
Less than one year 948.5 35.3 33.1  1,016.9
One to two years 39.9 51.2 23.7  114.8
Two to three years – 9.5 18.0  27.5
Three to four years – 307.4 13.9  321.3
Four to five years – – 11.6  11.6
Over five years – – 113.9  113.9
 988.4 403.4 214.2  1,606.0
30 June 2020     
Carrying value 871.9 751.4 172.9  1,796.2
    
Contractual cash flows    
Less than one year 839.6 74.9 38.6  953.1
One to two years 32.3 44.9 24.8  102.0
Two to three years – 555.1 16.4  571.5
Three to four years – 4.5 13.4  17.9
Four to five years – 101.4 11.5  112.9
Over five years – – 122.9  122.9
 871.9 780.8 227.6  1,880.3
1 Trade and other payables exclude other taxes and social security and deferred income. 

There is no material difference between the carrying value and fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities.  

Fair value estimation 

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows: 

Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as 
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). The Group uses cross-currency and interest rate swaps for hedging. These derivatives are 
classified as level 2. The prices of derivative transactions have been derived from proprietary models used by the bank counterparties using 
mid-market mark to market valuations for trades at the close of business on 30 June 2021. 

Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs). 

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 30 June 2021: 

 
Level 1

£m
Level 2 

£m 
Level 3 

£m 
Total

£m

Assets   
Derivatives used for hedging – Cross-currency swaps – 13.4 – 13.4

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during the year ended 30 June 2021.  
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The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 30 June 2020: 

 
Level 1

£m
Level 2 

£m 
Level 3

£m
Total

£m

Assets/(liabilities)  
Derivatives used for hedging – Cross-currency swaps – 30.4 – 30.4
Derivatives used for hedging – Interest rate swaps – (0.4) – (0.4)

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during the year ended 30 June 2020. 

Borrowings and borrowing facilities 

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had the following unsecured committed facilities after the effect of derivatives:  

› Revolving credit facility of £535.0m (2020: £670.0m), at a margin over SONIA, due for renewal in January 2025, £241.6m drawn at 30 
June 2021 (2020: £503.9m); 

› Four loan notes, principal amounts of £45.0m, US$20.0m, £47.0m and US$100.1m, with fixed coupons of between 4.1% and 5.4%, 
repayable in three repayments, December 2022, November 2021 and January 2025, fully drawn at 30 June 2021, totalling £141.7m at 
hedged rates (2020: £152.6m); 

› Principal amount of €10.0m (2020: €20.0m), with fixed coupon of 2.3%, repayable in May 2023, fully drawn at 30 June 2021 totalling 
£7.9m at hedged rates (2020 : £15.7m); and 

› As at 30 June 2020, the Group had debt of £53.5m at a margin over LIBOR with a maturity date of May 2021. This was repaid during 
the year. 

In addition, the Group has unsecured overdraft facilities of £18.0m (2020: £20.0m), at a margin over base rate, repayable on demand, 
undrawn at 30 June 2021 and 2020. 

Included within borrowings are capitalised loan fees of £2.9m (2020: £1.9m). 

The committed facilities are subject to certain covenants linked to the Group’s financing structure, specifically regarding the ratios of debt to 
EBITDA and interest cover. The Group has complied with these covenants throughout the period.  

As part of the Group’s disposal of Kier Living and the successful equity raise, the Group agreed revised debt facilities with its external 
debt providers.  

These revised facilities included amendments to the existing covenant requirements. From 30 June 2021, the financial covenants were 
revised to:  

› Remove quarterly covenant testing requirements;  
› Remove the consolidated net worth covenant; 
› Remove the period end minimum liquidity covenant;  
› Amend the leverage ratio test levels to be set at 4.00:1 for the June 2021 testing date, 3.50:1 for the December 2021 testing date, 

3.00:1 for the June 2022, December 2022, June 2023 and December 2023 testing dates and 2.50:1 thereafter; and  
› Amend the interest coverage ratio test levels to be set at 3.00:1 for the June 2021 testing date, 3.50:1 for the December 2021 testing 

date and 4.00:1 thereafter. 

As part of the Group’s going concern review and review of the requirements of the viability statement, future forecasts were examined 
against these revised covenant requirements. Severe plausible downside scenarios were modelled to examine the likelihood of breach 
within the period of review. It has been concluded that after the application of mitigations which are in the control of the Directors to action, 
no plausible downside scenario would result in the Group breaching any of its revised covenants. In the most severe downside scenario, 
minimum headroom of 43% on the leverage ratio and 22% on the interest ratio is available throughout the period of review. At least 
£108m of available debt facilities are available in this most severe downside scenario. 

Please see note 1 for further detail regarding the sensitivities modelled in this assessment 

The Group repaid and reduced total available facilities by £189m (2020: £nil) in the year ended 30 June 2021. 
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31 Financial and capital commitment 

 
2021 

£m 
2020

£m

Commitments for capital expenditure 1.8 –
 1.8 –

32 Related parties 

Identity of related parties 

The Group has a related party relationship with its joint ventures, key management personnel and pension schemes in which its 
employees participate. 

Transactions with key management personnel 

The Group’s key management personnel are the Executive and Non-executive Directors as identified in the Directors’ remuneration report on 
pages 98 to 117. 

In addition to their salaries, the Group also provides non-cash benefits to Directors and contributes to their pension arrangements as 
disclosed on page 102. Key management personnel also participate in the Group’s share option programme (see note 28). 

Key management personnel compensation comprises: 

 
2021 

£m 
2020

£m

Emoluments as analysed in the Directors’ remuneration report 2.9 2.2
Employer’s national insurance contributions 0.4 0.3
Total short-term employment benefits 3.3 2.5
Share-based payment charge 0.6 1.8
  3.9 4.3

Transactions with pension schemes 

Details of transactions between the Group and pension schemes in which its employees participate are detailed in note 9. 
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Transactions with joint ventures  

 
2021

£m
2020

£m

Construction services and materials 163.8 237.1
Staff and associated costs 7.9 10.2
Management services 12.1 13.4
Interest on loans to joint ventures 1.2 0.8
Plant hire 1.4 1.4
 186.4 262.9

Equity loans due from joint ventures are analysed below: 

 
2021

£m
2020

£m

Solum Regeneration (Twickenham) LLP 16.2 14.5

Kier (Southampton) Investment Limited 12.2 10.0

Kier (Newcastle) Investment Ltd 11.1 10.1

Kier Trade City Holdco 1 LLP 10.1 17.6

Kier Richmond Holdings Limited 9.9 9.9

Solum Regeneration (Guildford) LLP 8.9 6.2

Watford Health Campus Partnership LLP 8.4 9.7

Solum Regeneration (Bishops) LLP 7.0 7.2

Kier Cornwall Street Holdings 1 LLP 6.5 6.5

Kier Cornwall Street Holdings 2 LLP 6.5 6.5

50 Bothwell Street Holdco 1 LLP 5.6 5.6

Kier Maidenhead Holdings 1 LLP 3.3 –

Winsford Holdings 1 LLP 2.4 2.4

Solum Regeneration (Kingswood) LLP 2.2 2.2

Solum Regeneration (Redhill) LLP 2.1 1.4

Solum Regeneration (Epsom) LP 1.5 1.4

Solum Regeneration (Maidstone) LLP 0.7 0.7

Solum Regeneration Holding 1 LLP 0.7 0.2

Solum Regeneration (Surbiton) LLP 0.4 0.3

Solum Regeneration Holding 2 LLP 0.2 0.2

Kier Cross Keys Holdco 1 LLP1 – 35.0

Kier Community Living Topco 1 LLP1 – 32.1

Easingwold Holdco 1 LLP1 – 4.7

Stokesley Holdco 1 LLP1 – 4.2

Driffield Holdco 1 LLP1 – 2.5

Solum Regeneration (Haywards) LLP – 0.1

Solum Regeneration (Walthamstow) LLP – 0.1

 115.9 191.3
1 Joint ventures disposed of as part of the sale of Kier Living during the year, see note 33. 
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32 Related parties continued 

Trading balances and other loans due from/(to) joint ventures are analysed below: 

 
2021 

£m 
2020

£m

Kier Cornwall Street LLP 0.8 –
Winsford Devco LLP 0.8 –
Kier (Southampton) Investment Limited 0.4 0.3
Dragon Lane LLP 0.3 0.1
Watford Health Campus Partnership LLP 0.3 –
Hackney Schools for the Future 2 Limited 0.2 0.6
Team Van Oord Limited 0.1 –
Kier Richmond Limited 0.1 –
Kier Maidenhead LLP (0.6) –
Lysander Student Operations Limited (0.6) –
Kier Trade City LLP (1.1) 0.1
Kier Community Living LLP1 – 12.7
Kier Cross Keys Dev LLP1 – 0.8
Stokesley Devco LLP1 – 0.6
Easingwold Devco LLP1 – 0.4
Driffield Devco LLP1 – 0.2
Black Rock Devco LLP1 – 0.1
 0.7 15.9
1 Joint ventures disposed of as part of the sale of Kier Living during the year, see note 33. 

33 Acquisitions and disposals  

The Group completed the disposal of Kier Living during the year. The disposal represents one of the final milestones in management’s 
strategy to simplify the Group and to create a strong, resilient and flexible balance sheet. 

 
2021

£m

Sale proceeds 110.0
Working capital adjustment1 10.8
Total consideration 120.8
 
Book value of net assets disposed of (116.7)
Sale costs  (9.7)
Liabilities recognised on disposal2 (6.5)
Loss on disposal (12.1)
1 The disposal was subject to a ‘locked box’ mechanism. The adjustment represents the movement in the Kier Living working capital since the ‘locked box’ date. 
2 As part of the disposal the Group retained some obligations to fulfil existing contracts. The Group recognised liabilities on disposal of Living which represent the costs of 

completing the outstanding work. In addition, a piece of land owned by Kier Limited was transferred to Kier Living on disposal, generating a Stamp Duty Land Tax liability. 

In FY20, the Group disposed of its interest in Kier Hammersmith Holdco Limited, Strawberry Percy LLP and South West Hub with sales 
proceeds totalling £14.1m and a profit of £0.6m.  
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34 Subsidiaries and other undertakings  

A full list of subsidiaries, branches, associated undertakings, and joint arrangements as at 30 June 2021 is detailed below. Unless stated 
otherwise, all undertakings are wholly owned and held indirectly by Kier Group plc. 

Subsidiaries 

Company name Registered office1 Share class(es) held % held by Group 

2020 Liverpool Limited  1 Ordinary  100% 

A C Chesters & Son Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

AK Student Living Limited 1 A Ordinary 100% 

  B Ordinary  100% 

Arena Central Developments LLP 1 – 100% 

Arena Central Management Limited 1 A Ordinary 100% 

   25%3 

Caribbean Construction Company Limited 2 Ordinary  100% 

Caxton Integrated Services Holdings Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

ClearBOX Limited 1 Ordinary  75% 

Dudley Coles Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

FDT (Holdings) Ltd 1 Ordinary  100% 

FDT Associates Ltd 1 Ordinary A 100% 

Gravesend Coldharbour Road Management Company Limited 1 Ordinary A 100% 

  Ordinary B 100% 

Heart of Wales Property Services Limited 3 Ordinary  50% 

J L Kier & Company (London) Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

J L Kier & Company Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

Kier (Catterick) Limited 1 A Ordinary 100% 

  B Ordinary 100% 

Kier (Kent) PSP Limited 1 A Ordinary 100% 

  B Ordinary 100% 

Kier (Malaysia) SDN. BHD. 4 Ordinary  100% 

Kier (NR) Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

Kier Asset Partnership Services Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

Kier Benefits Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

Kier Build Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

Kier Business Services Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

Kier Caribbean and Industrial Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

Kier CB Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

Kier Commercial Investments Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

Kier Commercial UKSC Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

Kier Construction Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

Kier Construction Limited 5 Ordinary  100% 

Kier Construction LLC9 6 Ordinary  49% 

Kier Construction SA 7 Ordinary 100% 

Kier Developments Limited 1 A Ordinary 100% 

  B Ordinary 100% 

  C Ordinary 100% 

Kier Dormant Holdings Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

Kier Dubai LLC9 8 Ordinary  49% 

Kier Education Investments Limited 1 B Ordinary 100% 

  M Ordinary 100% 

Kier Education Services Limited 1 B Ordinary 100% 

  M Ordinary 100% 

Kier Energy Solutions Limited 1 Ordinary 100% 

  A Ordinary 100% 
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34 Subsidiaries and other undertakings continued 

Subsidiaries continued  

Company name Registered office1 Share class(es) held % held by Group 

Kier Ewan Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Facilities Services Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Finance & Treasury Holdings Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Finance Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Fleet Services Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Group Trustees Limited2 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Harlow Limited 1 A Ordinary 100% 
  B Ordinary 100% 
Kier Highways Limited 1 A Ordinary 100% 
  B Ordinary 100% 
Kier Holdco 2 Limited 1 Ordinary 100% 
Kier Holdings Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

  
Irredeemable 
preference 100% 

Kier Infrastructure and Overseas Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Infrastructure and Overseas Limited – Hong Kong Branch 
Kier Infrastructure and Overseas Limited – Jamaica Branch 
Kier Infrastructure and Overseas Limited – Trinidad Branch 

Kier Infrastructure Pty Ltd 9 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Insurance Management Services Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Integrated Services (Estates) Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Integrated Services (Holdings) Limited 1 Ordinary 100% 
  Deferred 100% 
Kier Integrated Services (Regional) Limited (in liquidation) 1 Ordinary 100% 
Kier Integrated Services (Trustees) Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Integrated Services Group Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Integrated Services Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier International (Investments) Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier International Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier International Limited – India Branch 
Kier International Limited – Jamaica Branch 
Kier International Limited 10 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Islington Limited 1 Ordinary 100% 
  Islington 100% 
Kier Jamaica Development Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Limited2 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Management Consulting Limited 1 Ordinary 100% 
  A Ordinary 100% 
  B Ordinary 100% 
Kier MBS Limited 1 Ordinary 100% 
Kier Midlands Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Minerals Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Mining Investments Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier National Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier North Tyneside Limited5 1 B Ordinary 100% 
   80%3 
Kier Overseas (Four) Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Overseas (Nine) Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Overseas (Seventeen) Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Overseas (Twenty-Three) Limited 1 Ordinary  100%  
  

Kier Group plc Report and Accounts 2021198



Financial statem
ents

 

  Kier Group plc Report and Accounts 2021  199 

 

Subsidiaries continued  

Company name Registered office1 Share class(es) held % held by Group 

Kier Parkman Ewan Associates Limited 1 Ordinary A 100% 
Kier Parkman GB Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Parkman ServiGroup Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Plant Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Professional Services Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Project Investment Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Property Developments Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Property Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Property Management Company Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Rail Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Recycling CIC 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Services Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Sheffield LLP 1 – 80.1% 
Kier South East Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Southern Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Stoke Limited 1 A Ordinary 100% 
Kier Sydenham Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Thurrock Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Traffic Support Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier UKSC LLP 1 – 100% 
Kier Ventures Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier Ventures UKSC Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Kier York Street LLP 1 – 100% 
Kite (Jersey) Limited (in liquidation)2, 11 11 Ordinary 100% 
  Preference 100% 
Liferange Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
McNicholas Construction (Holdings) Limited 1 Ordinary 100% 
McNicholas Construction Services Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
MPHBS Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

MRBL Limited 1 Ordinary A 100% 

  Ordinary B 100% 

  Deferred B 100% 
Parkman Consultants Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Parkman Consultants Limited – Abu Dhabi Branch 
Parkman Holdings Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Parkman Kenya Limited 12 Ordinary  100% 
Parkman Nigeria Limited 13 Ordinary  100% 
Pure Buildings Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

Pure Recycling Warwick Limited 1 Ordinary A 100% 

  Ordinary B 100% 
Saudi Kier Construction Limited 14 Ordinary  100% 
T Cartledge Limited  1 Ordinary  100% 
T H Construction Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 

T J Brent Limited 1 Ordinary 100% 

  Ordinary B 100% 

  Ordinary C 100% 
Tempsford Insurance Company Limited2 15 Ordinary  100% 
The Impact Partnership (Rochdale Borough) Limited 1 Ordinary  80.1% 
Tor2 Limited 1 PSP Shares  100% 
   80.01%3 
  

Kier Group plc Report and Accounts 2021 199



Financial statements 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

For the year ended 30 June 2021 

200 Kier Group plc Report and Accounts 2021  

34 Subsidiaries and other undertakings continued 

Subsidiaries continued  

Company name Registered office1 Share class(es) held % held by Group 

TradeDirect Logistics Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Turriff Contractors Limited 16 Ordinary  100% 

Turriff Group Limited 16 Ordinary 100% 

  Ordinary A 100% 

  Ordinary B 100% 
Usherlink Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
W. & C. French (Construction) Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Wallis Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
Wallis Western Limited 1 Ordinary  100% 
William Moss Construction Limited (in liquidation) 17 Ordinary 100% 
William Moss Group Limited (The) 1 Ordinary  100% 
1 See list of registered office details and explanatory notes on page 203.  
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Joint ventures 

Company name 
Registered 

office1
Interest 

held   
Registered 

office1
Interest 

held

Property   
3 Sovereign Square Holdings 1 LLP 1 50%  Kingswood Devco LLP 1 50%
3 Sovereign Square Holdings 2 LLP 1 50%  Lysander Student Properties Investments Limited 1 75%
3 Sovereign Square LLP 1 50%  Lysander Student Properties Limited 1 75%
50 Bothwell Street Holdco 1 LLP 18 50%  Lysander Student Properties Operations Limited 1 75%
50 Bothwell Street Holdco 2 LLP 18 50%  Magnetic Limited 1 75%
50 Bothwell Street LLP 18 50%  Penda Limited 1 50%
Dragon Lane Holdings 1 LLP 1 50%  Premier Inn Kier Limited 1 50%
Dragon Lane Holdings 2 LLP 1 50%  Solum Regeneration (Bishops) LLP 1 50%
Dragon Lane LLP 1 50%  Solum Regeneration (Epsom) Limited Partnership 1 50%
Kent LEP 1 Limited 1 80%  Solum Regeneration (Guildford) LLP 1 50%
Kier (Newcastle) Investment Ltd 1 75%  Solum Regeneration (Haywards) LLP 1 50%
Kier (Newcastle) Operation Limited 1 75%  Solum Regeneration (Kingswood) LLP 1 50%
Kier (Southampton) Development Limited 1 75%  Solum Regeneration (Maidstone) LLP 1 50%
Kier (Southampton) Investment Limited 1 75%  Solum Regeneration (Redhill) LLP 1 50%
Kier (Southampton) Operations Limited 1 75%  Solum Regeneration (Surbiton) LLP 1 50%
Kier Cornwall Street Holdings 1 LLP 1 90%  Solum Regeneration (Twickenham) LLP 1 50%
Kier Cornwall Street Holdings 2 LLP 1 90%  Solum Regeneration (Walthamstow) LLP 1 50%
Kier Cornwall Street LLP 1 90%  Solum Regeneration Epsom (GP Subsidiary) Limited 1 50%
Kier Foley Street Holdco 1 LLP 1 90%  Solum Regeneration Epsom (GP) Limited 1 50%
Kier Foley Street Holdco 2 LLP 1 90%  Solum Regeneration Epsom (Residential) LLP 1 50%
Kier Foley Street LLP 1 90%  Solum Regeneration Holding 1 LLP 1 50%
Kier Maidenhead Holdings 1 LLP 1 90%  Solum Regeneration Holding 2 LLP 1 50%
Kier Maidenhead Holdings 2 LLP 1 90%  Transcend Property Limited 19 50%
Kier Maidenhead LLP 1 90%  Tri-Link 140 Holdings 1 LLP 1 50%
Kier Reading Holdco 1 LLP 1 90%  Tri-Link 140 Holdings 2 LLP 1 50%
Kier Reading Holdco 2 LLP 1 90%  Tri-Link 140 LLP 1 50%
Kier Reading LLP 1 90%  Watford Health Campus Limited 1 50%
Kier Richmond Holdings Limited 1 90%  Watford Health Campus Partnership LLP 1 50%
Kier Richmond Limited 1 90%  Watford Riverwell (Family Housing) LLP 1 50%
Kier Sydenham GP Holdco Limited 1 50%  Watford Riverwell Management Company Limited 21 50%
Kier Sydenham GP Limited 1 50%  Watford Woodlands LLP 1 50%
Kier Sydenham LP 1 50%  Winsford Devco LLP 1 50%
Kier Sydenham Nominee Limited 1 50%  Winsford Holdings 1 LLP 1 50%
Kier Trade City Holdco 1 LLP 1 90%  Winsford Holdings 2 LLP 1 50%
Kier Trade City Holdco 2 LLP 1 90%   
Kier Trade City LLP 1 90%   
Kier Warth Limited 1 50%   
Kingswood Devco Holdings 1 LLP 1 50%   
Kingswood Devco Holdings 2 LLP 1 50%   
   
Construction  Services
Kier Graham Defence Limited 1 50%  2020 Knowsley Limited 1 80.1%
  Hackney Schools for the Future Limited 1 80%
  Team Van Oord Limited 20 25%
   
1 See list of registered office details and explanatory notes on page 203.  
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34 Subsidiaries and other undertakings continued 

Joint operations 

Joint operation name Description  Trading address 

UK    

Crossrail Contracts 
300/410/435 

a joint arrangement between Kier Infrastructure and Overseas 
Limited, BAM Nuttall Limited and Ferrovial Agroman (UK) Limited 

 BAM Ferrovial Kier JV C435, The London 
School of Beauty’ 18-19 Long Lane, 
London, EC1A 9LP 

Deephams a joint arrangement between Kier Infrastructure and Overseas 
Limited, J Murphy & Sons Limited, and Aecom Limited 

 Deephams Sewage Treatment Wales, 
Pickett’s Lock Lane, Edmonton, N9 0BA 

Devonport a joint arrangement between Kier Infrastructure and Overseas 
Limited and BAM Nuttall Limited 

 St. James House, Knoll Road, Camberley, 
Surrey, GU15 3XW 

Hercules a joint arrangement between Kier Construction Limited, Kier 
Living Limited and Balfour Beatty 

 Hercules Site Offices, The Wessex 
Building, MOD Lyneham, Calne Road, 
Lyneham, Chippenham, SN15 4PZ 

Hinkley Framework a joint arrangement between Kier Infrastructure and Overseas 
Limited and BAM Nuttall Limited 

 J23 P&R HPC Postal Consolidation Centre,
Huntsworth Business Centre, North 
Petherton, Somerset, TA6 6TS 

HS2 a joint arrangement between Kier Infrastructure and Overseas 
Limited, Eiffage Génie Civil, Ferrovial Agroman (UK) Limited and 
BAM Nuttall Limited 

 5th Floor, Exchange House, Midsummer 
Boulevard, Milton Keynes, MK9 2EA 

KCD a joint arrangement between Kier Integrated Services Limited and 
Clancy Docwra Limited 

 Thames Water Offices, Clear Water Court, 
Vastern Rd, Reading, RG1 8DB 

Kier WSP a joint arrangement between Kier Integrated Services Limited and 
WSP UK Limited 

 Northamptonshire Highways, Highways 
Depot, Harborough Rd, Brixworth, 
Northants, NN6 9BX 

Luton People Mover a joint arrangement between Kier Infrastructure and Overseas 
Limited and VolkerFitzpatrick Limited  

 Hertford Road, Hoddesdon, EN11 9BX  

Mersey Gateway a joint arrangement between Kier Infrastructure and Overseas 
Limited, Samsung C&T ECUK Limited and FCC Construccion S.A. 

 Forward Point, Tan House Lane, Widnes,  
WA8 0SL 

RAF Lakenheath a joint arrangement between Kier Construction Limited and 
VolkerFitzpatrick Limited  

 Hertford Road, Hoddesdon, EN11 9BX  

Tarmac Kier JV a joint arrangement between Kier Highways Limited and Tarmac 
Trading Limited 

 2nd Floor, Optimum House, Clippers Quay 
Salford, M50 3XP 

International 
The following joint operations, in which the Group participation is between 30% and 65%, operate overseas in the territory indicated: 
MTRC Contract 824 a joint arrangement between Kier Infrastructure and Overseas 

Limited and Kaden Construction Limited 
 Tower B, 6/F, Manulife Financial Centre, 

223 Wai Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, 
Hong Kong 

MTRC Contract 901 a joint arrangement between Kier Infrastructure and Overseas 
Limited, Laing O’Rourke Hong Kong Limited and Kaden 
Construction Limited 

 Room 905, 9/F, King’s Road, North Point, 
Hong Kong 

Saadiyat Rotana Hotel  
and Resort Complex 

a joint arrangement between Kier Construction LLC and Ali and 
Sons Contracting Co LLC 

 P.O. Box 2153, Abu Dhabi 

Kier ACC a joint arrangement between Kier Dubai LLC and Arabian 
Construction Co.SAL 

 P.O. Box 24461, Dubai 
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Registered office addresses 

Number Address 

1 2nd Floor, Optimum House, Clippers Quay, Salford, M50 3XP, UK 

2 Harbour Head, Harbour View, Kingston 17, Jamaica 

3 Unit 31, Ddole Road Industrial Estate, Llandrindod Wells, Powys, LD1 6DF, UK 

4 9-5 & 7-5, Jalan 8/146, Bandar Tasik Selatan, Kuala Lumpur, 57000, Malaysia 

5 c/o Grant Thornton, Cnr Bank Street and West Independence Sq Street, Basseterre, Saint Kitts and Nevis 

6 Unit 869, PO Box 61967 Level 08, Al Gaith Tower, Hamdan Street, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates 

7 151 Angle Avenue, Jean Paul II et Impasse Duverger, Turgeau, Port-au-Prince, Haiti 

8 Unit 1501, P.O. Box 24461, Thuraya Tower, Plot No C-008-001, TECOM, Dubai, United Arab Emirates 

9 Suite 1, Level 30, 360 Colllins Street, Melbourne, VIC 3000, Australia 

10 6th Floor, Emperor Commercial Centre, 39 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong 

11 22 Grenville Street, St Helier, Jersey, JE4 8PX, UK 

12 5th Floor, Agip House, P.O. Box 41425, Nairobi, Kenya 

13 9, N/Azikiwe St., Lagos, Nigeria 

14 PO Box 667, 4th Floor, ATCO Building, King Khaled Road, Dammam-31421, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 

15 PO Box 33, Dorey Court, Admiral Park, St Peter Port, GY1 4AT, Guernsey 

16 Campsie House, Buchanan Business Park, Cumbernauld Road, Stepps, Glasgow, G33 6HZ, UK 

17 1 More London Place, London, SE1 2AF, UK 

18 Renoir House 135-137 New Bond Street, Mayfair, London, England, W1S 2TQ, UK 

19 1 Kingsway, London, WC2B 6AN, UK 

20 Bankside House, Henfield Road, Small Dole, Henfield, West Sussex, BN5 9XQ, UK 

21 11 Little Park Farm Road, Fareham, Hampshire, PO15 5SN, UK 

Explanatory notes 
1 The share capital of all entities is wholly owned and held indirectly by Kier Group plc unless indicated otherwise. 
2 Shares held directly by Kier Group plc. 
3 Total interest in entity held by the Group as there are other share class(es) held by a third party. 
4 In some jurisdictions in which the Group operates, share classes are not defined and in these instances, for the purposes of disclosure, these holdings have been 

classified as ordinary shares. 
5 The Group has entered into a partnership arrangement with North Tyneside Council whereby the Council has a participating ownership interest and receives a minority 

share of the profits of Kier North Tyneside Limited. 
6 Joint operations are contracted agreements to co-operate on a specific project which is an extension of the Group’s existing business. Joint ventures are ongoing 

businesses carrying on their own trade. 
7 Interests in the above joint ventures are held by subsidiary undertakings. 
8 The joint ventures where the Group has an interest in excess of 50% are still considered joint ventures as the Group has joint control. 
9 Accounted for as a subsidiary as control is achieved through an agreement between shareholders. 
10 Where companies are shown as being in liquidation, in all cases this is a members voluntary liquidation. 
11 Winding up completed on 6 August 2021. 

35 Post balance sheet event 

On 19 July 2021, there was a fire at the Group’s waste recycling facility based in Warwickshire. The facility building and plant, owned 
by the Group’s subsidiary, Pure Recycling Warwick Limited, had a net book value of £4.1m, with a further £2.0m in relation to the land. 
The building was insured and work is ongoing to assess the financial impact of the fire. 
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 Notes 
2021  

£m 
2020

£m

Non-current assets   
Investments 6 429.2 532.2
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 7 1,411.9 1,382.7
Other financial assets 9 11.4 30.0
Non-current assets  1,852.5 1,944.9
Current assets   
Debtors 7 3.1 2.0
Other financial assets 9 2.0 –
Current assets  5.1 2.0
Total assets  1,857.6 1,946.9
   
Current liabilities   
Bank overdraft  (214.1) (123.1)
Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 8 (54.8) (72.1)
Current liabilities  (268.9) (195.2)
Non-current liabilities   
Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year 8 (362.3) (689.8)
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings 8 (120.1) (117.1)
Provisions  (6.1) –
Non-current liabilities  (488.5) (806.9)
Total liabilities  (757.4) (1,002.1)
   
Net assets  1,100.2 944.8

   

Shareholders’ funds   
Called up share capital 10 4.5 1.6
Share premium account  684.3 684.3
Merger reserve  350.6 134.8
Capital redemption reserve  2.7 2.7
Profit and loss account  57.2 119.2
Cash flow hedge reserve  0.9  2.2
Total shareholders’ funds  1,100.2 944.8

The loss for the year was £68.7m (2020: £98.6m). 

The financial statements of Kier Group plc, company registration number 2708030, on pages 204 to 210 were approved by the Board of 
Directors on 15 September 2021 and were signed on its behalf by: 

 

ANDREW DAVIES SIMON KESTERTON 

Chief Executive Chief Financial Officer 
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Share 
capital

£m

Share
premium

£m

Merger
reserve

£m

Capital
redemption

reserve
£m

Profit  
and loss 
account 

£m 

Cash flow
hedge

reserve
£m

Total
equity

£m

At 1 July 2019 1.6 684.3 134.8 2.7 212.4 (0.7) 1,035.1
Loss for the year – – – – (98.6) – (98.6)
Other comprehensive income – – – – – 2.9 2.9
Share-based payments – – – – 5.4 – 5.4
At 30 June 2020 1.6 684.3 134.8 2.7 119.2 2.2 944.8
Loss for the year – – – – (68.7) – (68.7)
Other comprehensive expense – – – – – (1.3) (1.3)
Issue of own shares 2.9 – 215.8 – (0.3) – 218.4
Share-based payments – – – – 7.0 – 7.0
At 30 June 2021 4.5 684.3 350.6 2.7 57.2 0.9 1,100.2

Included in the profit and loss account is the balance on the share scheme reserve which comprises the investment in own shares of £0.1m 
(2020: nil) and a credit balance on the share scheme reserve of £11.7m (2020: £10.3m). 

Details of the shares held by the Kier Group 1999 Employee Benefit Trust and of the share-based payment scheme are included in note 28. 
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1 Accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies are summarised below. Other than 
where new accounting policies have been adopted (as noted below), 
they have been applied consistently throughout the year and the 
preceding year. 

Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ 
(FRS 101) and the Companies Act 2006. The financial statements 
have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 

Kier Group plc is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom 
under the Companies Act. The address of the registered office is 
given on page 212. 

The Company’s financial statements are included in the Kier Group 
plc consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 
2021. As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, 
the Company has not presented its own profit and loss account. 

None of the standards, interpretations or amendments effective for 
the first time from 1 July 2020 have a material effect on the 
Company’s financial statements. 

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure 
exemptions in preparing these financial statements, as permitted 
by FRS 101: 

› The requirement of paragraphs 45(b) and 46 to 52 of IFRS 2 
‘Share-Based Payments’ 

› The requirements of IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ 
› The requirements of paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13  

‘Fair Value Measurement’ 
› The requirement in paragraph 38 of IAS 1 ‘Presentation of 

Financial Statements’ to present comparative information 
in respect of paragraph 79(a)(iv) of IAS 1 

› The requirement of paragraphs 10(d), 10(f), 16, 38A, 38B, 38C, 
38D, 40A, 40B, 40C, 40D, 111 and 134 to 136 of IAS 1 
‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ 

› The requirements of IAS 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ 
› The requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 ‘Accounting 

Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’ 
› The requirement of paragraphs 17 and 18A of IAS 24 

‘Related Party Disclosures’ 
› The requirements in IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ to 

disclose related party transactions entered into between two or 
more members of a group 

› The requirements of paragraphs 134(d) to 134(f) and 135(c) to 
135(e) of IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’ 

These financial statements are separate financial statements.  

Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the Annual 
Report and Accounts of the Group as shown in notes 1 to 9. 

Going concern 

The Directors have made enquiries and have a reasonable 
expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue 
in existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they adopt 
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 
See also pages 136 to 137. 

Fixed asset investments 

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are included in the balance 
sheet at cost less any provision for impairment. 

Taxation 

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is 
recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is 
recognised in equity. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on taxable income for 
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect 
of previous years. 

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method, providing 
for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used 
for taxation purposes. The deferred tax provision is based on the 
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount 
of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it 
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realised. 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal 
or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and where it 
is probable that an outflow will be required to settle the obligation 
and the amount can be reliably estimated. 

Financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the 
Company’s balance sheet when the Company becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. The principal financial 
assets and liabilities of the Company are as follows: 

(a) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, 
including bank deposits with original maturities of three months or 
less, net of bank overdrafts where legal right of set-off exists. Bank 
overdrafts are included within financial liabilities in current liabilities 
in the balance sheet. 

(b) Bank and other borrowings 

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are recorded at the fair 
value of the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance 
charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption 
and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accruals basis in 
the income statement using the effective interest method and are 
added to the carrying value of the instrument to the extent that 
they are not settled in the period in which they arise. 
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(c) Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 

Amounts due from subsidiaries are initially recorded at their fair 
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, the loans are measured 
at amortised cost. In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company has 
undertaken an exercise of calculating the expected credit losses 
on the amounts due from subsidiaries. The Directors regard the 
relevant subsidiaries as having a relatively low probability of default 
on the loans and do not consider that there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since the loan was first recognised. By virtue 
of their participation in Group bank pooling arrangements, the 
subsidiaries had access to sufficient facilities to enable them to 
repay the loans, if demanded, at the reporting date. Only immaterial 
amounts of expected credit losses were calculated and, therefore, 
the Company has chosen not to adjust the value of the loans for 
any expected credit loss provisions. 

(d) Derivative financial instruments 

As permitted by IFRS 9, the Company has chosen to continue to 
apply the hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39. 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date that 
the contract is entered into and subsequently remeasured in future 
periods at their fair value. The method of recognising the resulting 
change in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated 
as a hedging instrument and whether the hedging relationship 
is effective. 

For cash flow hedges the effective part of the change in fair value 
of these derivatives is recognised directly in other comprehensive 
income. Any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the 
income statement. Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled to 
the income statement in the periods when the hedged items will 
affect profit or loss. The fair value of interest rate derivatives is 
the estimated amount that the Company would receive or pay 
to terminate the derivatives at the balance sheet date. 

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, the hedge 
accounting is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognised in equity remains there until the 
forecast transaction occurs. 

The Company enters into forward contracts in order to hedge 
against transactional foreign currency exposures. In cases where 
these derivative instruments are significant, hedge accounting is 
applied as described above. Where hedge accounting is not applied, 
changes in fair value of derivatives are recognised in the income 
statement. Fair values are based on quoted market prices at the 
balance sheet date. 

Share-based payments 

Share-based payments granted but not vested are valued at the fair 
value of the shares at the date of grant. This affects the Sharesave, 
Conditional Share Award Plan and Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) 
schemes. The fair value of these schemes at the date of award 
is calculated using the Black-Scholes model apart from the total 
shareholder return element of the LTIP which is based on a 
Stochastic model. Awards that are subject to a post vesting 
holding period are valued using the Finnerty model. 

The cost to the Company of awards to employees under the 
LTIP scheme is spread on a straight-line basis over the relevant 
performance period. The scheme awards to senior employees of 
the Company a number of shares which will vest after three years 
if particular criteria are met. The cost of the scheme is based on 
the fair value of the shares at the date the options are granted.  

Shares purchased and held in trust in connection with the 
Company’s share schemes are deducted from retained earnings. 
No gain or loss is recognised within the income statement on the 
market value of these shares compared with the original cost. 

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty 

In the application of the Company accounting policies which are 
described above, the Directors are required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates are based on historical experience and the factors 
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from 
those estimates.  

The estimates are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised. 

There are no critical judgements, apart from those involving 
estimates, that the Directors have made in the process of applying 
the Company’s accounting policies and that have a significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

Valuation of investments 

The Company tests annually whether its investments have suffered 
any impairment. The recoverable amounts of subsidiaries are 
determined based on value in use calculations or fair value less 
cost to sell, if held for sale. These calculations require the use 
of estimates. 

Considerable headroom exists when comparing the book value 
of the investments with their recoverable amounts. Therefore, 
the Directors have determined that the investment value is not 
particularly sensitive to changes in the assumptions used in the 
value in use calculations. Any reasonable adjustment to any of the 
assumptions would not result in an impairment of the investments. 

2 Loss for the year 

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the 
Company has elected not to present its own profit and loss account 
for the year. The loss for the year was £68.7m (2020: £98.6m). 

The auditors’ remuneration for audit services to the Company was 
£0.1m (2020: £0.1m).  

3 Information relating to Directors and employees 

Information relating to Directors’ emoluments, pension 
entitlements, share options and LTIP interests appears 
in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 98 to 117. 
The Company has no employees other than the Directors. 

4 Dividends 

No dividends have been paid by the Company (2020: £nil). See note 
11 to the consolidated financial statements. 
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5 Disposals 

The loss on disposal incurred by the Company was: 

 
2021

£m

Sale proceeds 110.0
Working capital adjustment1 10.8
Total consideration 120.8
 
Book value of investment disposed of (110.0)
Sale costs  (9.7)
Overdraft settled2 (72.7)
Liabilities recognised on disposal3 (6.5)
Kier Living accruals assumed  (1.8)
Loss on disposal (79.9)
1 The disposal was subject to a ‘locked box’ mechanism. The adjustment represents the movement in the Kier Living working capital since the ‘locked box’ date. 
2 A condition of the disposal was the settlement of the Kier Living overdraft prior to disposal.  
3 As part of the disposal the Company retained some obligations to fulfil existing contracts. The Company recognised liabilities on disposal of Living which represent the 

costs of completing the outstanding work. In addition, a piece of land owned by Kier Limited was transferred to Kier Living on disposal, generating a Stamp Duty Land 
Tax liability. 

6 Investments 

 
2021  

£m 
2020

£m

At 1 July  532.2 486.2
Capital contributions 7.0 169.2
Disposal (110.0) –
Impairment – (123.2)
At 30 June 429.2 532.2

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 30 June 2021 are provided in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Capital contributions of £7.0m were made during the year ended 30 June 2021 in relation to share-based payments on behalf of 
subsidiaries (2020: £5.4m).  

In FY20, the Company purchased additional shares in its subsidiary, Kier Living, on 11 January 2020 for £163.8m. The Directors assessed 
the recoverability of the investment in Kier Living and impaired the value by £123.2m. The disposal of Kier Living was completed during the 
year, see note 5.  

7 Debtors 

 
2021  

£m 
2020

£m

Amounts falling due within one year:  
Other debtors 0.1 –
Deferred tax 3.0 2.0
 3.1 2.0
  
Amounts falling due after more than one year:  
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings1 1,411.9 1,382.7
 1,411.9 1,382.7
1 The amounts due from subsidiary undertakings incur interest at 4.0% and are repayable between one and four years.  
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8 Creditors 

 
2021

£m
2020

£m

Amounts falling due within one year: 
Borrowings 38.2 61.4
Corporation tax 12.1 9.7
Other creditors 4.5 1.0
 54.8 72.1
 
Amounts falling due after more than one year: 
Borrowings 362.3 689.8
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings1 120.1 117.1
 482.4 806.9
1 The amounts due to subsidiary undertakings incur interest at 4.0% and are repayable after one year.  

Further details on borrowings are included in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements. 

9 Derivative financial instruments 

The Company has the following cross-currency swaps: 

› Two cross-currency swaps taken out in 2013 to hedge the currency risk on a US dollar-denominated loan, nominal value US$20.0m.  
› Three cross-currency swaps taken out in 2014 to hedge the currency risk on a US dollar-denominated loan, nominal value US$104.0m.  
› One cross-currency swap taken out in 2016 to hedge the currency risk on a euro-denominated loan, nominal value €10.0m 

In FY20, the Company had three interest rate swaps with a total value of £65.5m. All expired in May 2021. 

The Company has assessed the effectiveness of these swaps and concluded that they are 100% effective. Therefore, no amount in relation 
to hedge ineffectiveness has been charged or credited to the income statement in relation to any cross-currency swap. 

The following table indicates the periods in which the cash flows associated with cash flow hedges are expected to occur and the fair value 
of the related hedging instruments: 

 Fair value
£m

Total
£m

0–1 year 
£m 

1–2 years
£m

Expected 
cash flows 
2–5 years

£m

Cross-currency swaps: asset  
Gross settled inflows – 109.5 19.1 26.3 64.1
Gross settled outflows – (95.8) (16.7) (23.4) (55.7)
 13.4 13.7 2.4 2.9 8.4

Fair value estimation 

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows: 

Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as 
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). The Company uses cross-currency and interest rate swaps for hedging. These derivatives 
are classified as level 2. The prices of derivative transactions have been derived from proprietary models used by the bank counterparties 
using mid-market mark to market valuations for trades at the close of business on 30 June 2021. 

Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs). 

The following table presents the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 30 June 2021.  

 
Level 1

£m
Level 2 

£m 
Level 3

£m
Total

£m

Assets  
Derivatives used for hedging – Cross-currency swaps – 13.4 – 13.4
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9 Derivative financial instruments continued 

The following table presents the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 30 June 2020: 

 
Level 1

£m
Level 2 

£m 
Level 3 

£m 
Total

£m

Assets   
Derivatives used for hedging – Cross-currency swaps – 30.4 – 30.4
   
Liabilities   
Derivatives used for hedging – Interest rate swaps – (0.4) – (0.4)

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during the year. 

10 Called up share capital 

Details of the share capital of the Company are included in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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